THE ROLE OF ALTERED CALCIUM-HANDLING IN MECHANICALLY-INDUCED ARRHYTHMIAS DURING ACUTE REGIONAL ISCHEMIA

by

Peter A.R. Baumeister

Submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements

for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University

Halifax, Nova Scotia

May 2016

© Copyright by Peter A.R. Baumeister, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED	ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xi
CHAPTER 1: Introduction 1.1 Sudden Cardiac Death and Acute Regional Ischemia	1 1
1.2 Conditions for Arrhythmogenesis	3
1.2.I Abnormal Automaticity	3
1.2.II Triggered Activity - Afterdepolarizations	5
1.2.III Reentrant Activity	9
1.2.IV Conclusion	11
1.3 Phase IA Ischemia	
1.3.I Increased Extracellular Potassium	12
1.3.II Hypoxia/Anoxia	17
1.3.III Conclusion	21
1.4 Phase IB Ischemia	24
1.4.I Gap Junction Uncoupling	24
1.4.II Endocardial Discharge	27
1.4.III Catecholamine Release	29
1.4.IV Altered Mechanics	

	1.4.V Conclusion	.42
СН	APTER 2: Methods	.44
2	.1 Rabbit Isolated Heart Model	.44
2	.2 Reagents	.46
	2.2.I Krebs-Henseleit Solution	.46
	2.2.II Voltage Sensitive Dye: di-4-ANBDQPQ	.47
	2.2.III Calcium Indicator: Rhod-2 AM	.47
	2.2.IV Electro-mechanical Uncoupler: Blebbistatin	.48
	2.2.V Calcium Buffer: BAPTA AM	.48
	2.2.VI Ryanodine Receptor Stabilizers: JTV-519 and Dantrolene Sodium	.49
2	.3 Optical Mapping	.49
	2.3.I Mono-Parametric	.50
	2.3.II Dual-Parametric	.50
2	.4 Procedures	. 53
	2.4.I Acute Regional Ischemia	.55
	2.4.II Mechanically-Independent Alterations in Calcium Handling	.57
	2.4.III Mechanically-Dependent Alterations in Calcium Handling	.58
	2.4.IV Effect of Calcium Buffering on Arrhythmogenesis	.58
	2.4.V Effect of RyR Stabilization on Arrhythmogenesis	.59
2	.5 Data Analysis	. 59

2.5.I Non-Perfused Area Analysis	59
2.5.II Hemodynamic Analysis	61
2.5.III Arrhythmia Analysis	61
2.5.IV Optical Mapping Analysis	64
CHAPTER 3: Results	67
3.1 Mechanically-Independent Alterations in Calcium Handling	67
3.1.I Effect of Increasing Rhod-2 Volume on Fluorescence	67
3.1.II Ischemia-Induced Alterations in Intracellular Calcium Handling	69
3.1.III Effect of Electro-Mechanical Uncoupling on Arrhythmogenesis	80
3.2 Mechanically Dependent Alterations in Calcium Handling	82
3.3 Effect of Calcium Buffering on Arrhythmogenesis	84
3.3.I The Effect of BAPTA on Arrhythmogenesis	84
3.4 Effect of RyR Stabilization on Arrhythmogenesis	86
3.4.I Effect of RyR Stabilizers on Tissue Electrophysiology	86
3.4.II Effect of RyR Stabilization on Arrhythmogenesis	88
3.5 Phase Analysis of Previously Reported Arrhythmia Incidence during ARI	90
3.6 Non-Perfused Area and Hemodynamic Group Comparisons	92
CHAPTER 4: Discussion	98
4.1 Mechanically-independent, Ischemia-induced Changes in Calcium Handling	;98
4.2 Mechanical Effects on Calcium Handling	105

4.3	Confirmation of the Effects of Cytosolic Calcium Buffering on	Arrhythmia
	Incidence	109
4.4	The Effects of RyR Stabilization on the Incidence of Arrhythmias	112
CHAP	PTER 5: Conclusion and Future Directions	116
REFE	RENCES	119
APPE	NDIX	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Examples of Early and Delayed Afterdepolarizations7
Figure 1.2 Changes in Extracellular Potassium During Acute Regional Ischemia14
Figure 1.3 Changes in High Energy Substrates and pH During Acute Global Ischemia18
Figure 1.4 Changes in Action Potential Morphology During Ischemia23
Figure 1.5 Changes in Cell-Cell Coupling During Acute Regional Ischemia26
Figure 1.6 Changes in Effluent Catecholamine Concentration During Ischemia31
Figure 1.7 The Importance of Ventricular Load in Arrhythmogenesis during Acute
Regional Ischemia in Swine
Figure 1.8 Importance of Mechanics during Acute Regional Ischemia in Isolated Rabbit
Hearts
Figure 2.1 Schematic of Dual-Parametric Optical Mapping
Figure 2.2 Experimental Design
Figure 2.3 Acute Regional Ischemia in a Langendorff-Perfused Rabbit Isolated Heart56
Figure 2.4 Example Quantification of Non-Perfused Area (NPA)60
Figure 2.5 Example of Arrhythmia Classification63
Figure 2.6 Representative Ischemic Zone and Regions of Interest (ROIs)
Figure 3.1 Determination of Optimal Rhod-2 Volume
Figure 3.2 Qualitative Changes in Voltage and Calcium Transient Morphologies70
Figure 3.3 Alterations in the dF_V/dt_{max} and dF_{Ca}/dt_{max} during ARI71
Figure 3.4 Alterations APD ₅₀ and CaTD ₅₀ during ARI72
Figure 3.5 Alterations APD ₈₀ and CaTD ₈₀ during ARI73

Figure 3.7 Alterations CaTD – APD Difference
Figure 3.8 Alterations CaT Time Constant to Recovery77
Figure 3.9 Calcium Transient Amplitude and Action Potential Duration Alternans79
Figure 3.10 Incidence of Arrhythmias in Uncoupled Dual Imaging and Loaded during
ARI
Figure 3.11 Incidence of Arrhythmias During <i>Rhod-2</i> and <i>Loaded</i> during ARI83
Figure 3.12 Incidence of Arrhythmias During <i>BAPTA</i> and <i>Loaded</i> during ARI85
Figure 3.13 Effect of RyR Stabilizers JTV-519 and Dantrolene on Electrophysiology in
Isolated Uncoupled Hearts
Figure 3.14 Incidence of Arrhythmias During Dantrolene and Loaded during ARI89
Figure 3.15 Incidence of Arrhythmias during Altered Mechanics during ARI91
Figure 3.16 Group % Non-Perfusion (NPA) and % Reduction in Coronary Flow Upon
Ligation
Figure 3.17 Hemodynamic Changes in Response to Intervention
Figure 3.18 Left Ventricular Hemodynamics Prior to the Induction of ARI

ABSTRACT

Sudden Cardiac Death, a leading cause of death in Canada, commonly occurs as a result of arrhythmias occurring in the first hour of acute regional ischemia (ARI) after coronary artery occlusion. The mechanisms by which ARI leads to arrhythmias are unclear, with mechanically-induced alterations in electrical activity implicated as a contributing factor. The goal of this thesis was to investigate the role of altered calcium (Ca²⁺)-handling in mechanically-induced arrhythmias during ARI. ARI was induced via coronary artery ligation in isolated, mechanically-loaded, Langendorff-perfused rabbit hearts. Four studies were conducted, which investigated: i) ischemia-induced alterations in Ca²⁺ handling (in the absence of mechanical effects); ii) the role of Ca^{2+} as a driver of arrhythmias; and the effects of iii) cytosolic Ca²⁺ buffering, and iv) ryanodine receptor (RyR) stabilization, on arrhythmias. This involved optical mapping (single or dual parametric, of voltage and/or Ca²⁺) and pharmacological manipulation. It was found that shortening of Ca²⁺ transient duration (CaT) occurred more slowly than action potential duration (APD) during ARI, giving rise to a potential window of vulnerability for Ca²⁺-driven afterdepolarizations. In contrast, depression in the rate of cellular depolarization and of Ca²⁺ release, as well as the increase in the magnitude of APD and CaT alternans, displayed similar temporal changes. Ca²⁺-driven arrhythmias were not observed, however application of the Ca²⁺ dye resulted in a near elimination of arrhythmias, thought to be a result of Ca^{2+} buffering. This was confirmed by direct cytosolic Ca²⁺ buffering with BAPTA, which, along with RyR stabilization with the clinically-approved drug Dantrolene, also reduced the incidence of arrhythmias. These findings suggest that during ARI there is a necessary contribution of changes in Ca²⁺ handling to mechanically-dependent arrhythmias.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

(AP)	Action Potential	(APD)	Action Potential Duration
(ARI)	Acute Regional	(ATP)	Adenosine-Triphosphate
(BAPTA)	1,2-bis(o- aminophenoxy)ethane- N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid	(AM)	Acetoxymethyl
(CaT)	Calcium Transient	(CaT-ALT)	Calcium Transient Alternans
(CaTD)	Calcium Transient Duration	(CaMKII)	Calcium-Calmodulin Protein Kinase 2
(CX-43)	Connexin 43	(cAMP)	Cyclic-Adenosine Monophosphate
(CZ)	Central Ischemic Zone	(CV)	Conduction Velocity
(DADs)	Delayed Afterdepolarizations	(DAG)	Diacylglycerol
(dF_{Ca}/dt_{max})	Rate of Calcium Release	(dF_V/dt_{max})	Rate of Voltage Excitation
(DMSO)	Dimethyl-Sulfoxide	(DPI)	Diphenyleneiodonium
(EADs)	Early Afterdepolarizations	(ERP)	Effective Refractory Period
(ECC)	Excitation-Contraction Coupling	([K ⁺] ₀)	Extracellular Potassium
(Em)	Emission	(Ex)	Excitation
(Fps)	Frames Per Second	(I _f)	Funny Current
(G _s)	G-Stimulatory Protein	(HPLC)	High-Performance Liquid Chromatography
(H ⁺)	Hydrogen Ions	(HCN4)	Hyperpolarization Cyclic-Nucleotide Gated Channels
(IBZ)	Ischemic Border Zone	(KH)	Krebs-Henseleit
(I _{KATP})	ATP-Sensitive Potassium Current	(AVN)	Atrio-Ventricular Node
(I _{Na})	Inward Sodium Current	(K _{ir} 2.1)	Inwardly Rectifying Potassium Channel
(IP ₃)	Inositol 1,4,5- Trisphosphate	$([Ca^{2+}]_i)$	Intracellular Calcium
(I _{ti})	Transient Inward Current	(VF)	Ventricular Fibrillation
(LEDs)	Light Emitting Diodes	$(I_{Ca(L)})$	L-Type Calcium Channel
(LV)	Left Ventricle	(LVP)	Left Ventricular Pressure

(MEC)	Mechano-Electric Coupling	(MSC)	Mechano-Sensitive Channels
(Nav1.5)	Voltage Gated Sodium Channel	(λ)	Wavelength
(NHE)	Sodium-Hydrogen Exchanger	(Na ⁺ /K ⁺ -ATPase)	Sodium-Potassium ATPase Pump
(NO)	Nitric Oxide	(NOS)	Nitric Oxide Synthase
(NPA)	Non-Perfused Area	(NE)	Norepinephrine
(PCr)	Phosphocreatine	(PLB)	Phospholamban
(ΡΚCα)	Protein Kinase-C Alpha	(PJN)	Purkinje Network
(PRR)	Post-Repolarization Refractoriness	(E_k)	Potassium Equilibrium Potential
(PVEs)	Premature Ventricular Excitations	(PKA)	Protein Kinase-A
(ROS)	Reactive Oxygen Species	(ROIs)	Regions of Interest
(RyR)	Ryanodine Receptor	(SF)	Safety Factor
(SAC _{NS})	Stretch-Activated Cation-Nonspecific Ion Channels	(SCD)	Sudden Cardiac Death
(SAN)	Sino-Atrial Node	(NCX)	Sodium-Calcium Exchanger
(SR)	Sarcoplasmic Reticulum	(SERCA)	Sarcoplasmic-Reticulum ATPase
(V _m)	Membrane Potential	(NOX)	NADPH Oxidase
(VPBs)	Ventricular Premature Beats	(VT)	Ventricular Tachycardia
(a-AR)	Alpha-Adrenergic Receptors	(APD-ALT)	APD Alternans
(β-AR)	Beta-Adrenergic Receptors	$(I_{Cl(Ca)})$	Calcium Activated Chloride Channel

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first and foremost express my most sincere gratitude towards Dr. T. Alexander Quinn for his countless hours of mentorship. Your patience, wisdom, and support, not only in academia but in all aspects of life has given me the tools necessary to develop into a better-rounded individual. The contagious enthusiasm in which you foster discussion amongst students truly reflects your dedication and passion to process of scientific inquiry. It has been an honour to be accepted as a part of your research team.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to my lab partners, both past and present. Tarek Lawen (whom I had the pleasure of working alongside initially), Behzad Taeb, and Eilidh MacDonald you have my thanks for your assistance during experiments and the enthusiasm which you brought to the laboratory each day. I have been fortunate to not only have wonderful work relationships but amazing friendships with all of you.

Furthermore, I would like to thank several others who have been integral in the development of this work. Mr. Richard Livingston, for his assistance, guidance and encouragement throughout the past few years. I would also like to thank my committee Dr. Susan Howlett, Dr. Robert Rose, and my chair, Dr. Valerie Chappe for their insightful advice in guiding my experiments and development as a scientist. Also, my appreciation to Dr. John Sapp for taking time from his schedule to participate as a reader and examiner.

I would be remiss if I did not thank the staff of the Department of Physiology and Biophysics, of which without Jennifer Graves and Alice Smith I would have missed countless (important) details and deadlines.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, partner, and friends for their unbelievable support from afar. I could not have done this without your love and kindness.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Sudden Cardiac Death and Acute Regional Ischemia

The birth of the 20th century heralded the dawn of modern medicine as we know it. Medical advancements such as Alexander Flemming's discovery of penicillin facilitated the transition of mortality from infectious diseases to more burdensome chronic diseases. As epidemiological trends change over the decades, so too must the focus of basic science and clinical research to develop novel, safe and effective treatment strategies. Today, in the developed world, the mortality rate due to heart disease is akin to that of influenza/pneumonia or tuberculosis during the early 1900s.¹ In fact, as of 2013, one of every five Canadians was at risk of dying from cardiac related diseases.² A common and particularly elusive cause of mortality is that of *Sudden Cardiac Death* which, as its name may suggest, is defined as either a death occurring within the past 24 hours with no definitive causation, or immediately after (~1 hour) clinical indications.³

While Sudden Cardiac Death (SCD) may occur secondary to an array of pathologies,³ over half of these deaths are the result *ischemic heart disease*.⁴ Ischemia occurs in any tissue where the oxygen (O₂) demands exceed that of delivery, profoundly affecting its metabolic status.⁵ More specifically, ischemia occurs in the heart as result of coronary artery occlusion reducing blood flow to a region of the myocardium (*regional ischemia*). Acute regional ischemia (ARI) has an array of effects on cardiac tissue, both acute and chronic, which perturb the electrophysiology of the heart and can facilitate the genesis of abnormal electrical activity (*arrhythmias*). During ARI, SCD is frequently the sequelae of lethal sustained arrhythmias, such as ventricular fibrillation (VF), which reduce the efficacy

of the heart to pump blood, resulting in rapid syncope and, if not immediately rectified, death.

Despite the large incidence of SCD, investigation into the mechanisms by which lethal arrhythmias occur in humans during ARI has proven difficult. This is in part due to the high mortality rate of cardiac arrest patients (23.8%)⁶ before hospital admission, as well as confounding variables such as the size or presence of a preexisting infarction, injury from reperfusion⁷ and effects of medical interventions⁸. Fortunately, several mammalian models have been employed to examine the pathophysiological changes promoting arrhythmogenesis during myocardial ischemia.⁸ These models indicate that during ARI, non-sustained and sustained arrhythmias occur in two distinct phases. The first, known as Phase I, occurs within the first 0-60 minutes of ischemia and arrhythmias are attributable to reversible electrophysiological changes⁹. The second, known as Phase II, occurs following 90 minutes of ischemia and arrhythmias are the product of cell necrosis and infarction¹⁰. While both phases are clinically important, Phase I arrhythmias are of particular interest as ~50% of all SCD occur during this reversible period in the absence of tissue necrosis.⁹

Due to the dynamic nature of ischemia, arrhythmias during Phase I have been found to occur in a biphasic time course in a variety of species,^{11–13} resulting in further delineation. The first arrhythmic phase, known as Phase IA, occurs over the first ~0-10 minutes, while the second and more lethal^{5,11,12}, Phase IB, extends from ~20-60 minutes.⁵ While the aforementioned time frame of Phase IA and IB ARI-induced arrhythmias is commonly utilized, it is important to note that there exists some temporal variability in the incidence of sustained arrhythmias amongst different species and models.⁸

It is the purpose of this thesis to investigate a recently identified potential mechanism (mechanically-induced^{12,14}) of arrhythmias during ARI. It will begin by reviewing the specific conditions required for arrhythmogenesis (Section 1.2), followed by an examination of how ischemia-induced changes during Phase IA (Section 1.3) and Phase IB (Section 1.3) may contribute to these conditions. Understanding how ischemia-induced alterations contribute to arrhythmias during ARI is paramount to the understanding of SCD and the future development of efficacious treatments and therapies.

1.2 Conditions for Arrhythmogenesis

Maintaining the coordinated contraction of the heart's four chambers requires the flawless interaction of electric current generation, conduction, and signal transduction. However, disturbances of the myocardium's rhythmic electrical activity can be the product of a variety of pathologies, both genetic^{15–17} and acquired¹⁷. Should the necessary conditions be met, arrhythmias arising from either genetic or acquired diseases can degenerate into lethal sustained arrhythmias such as VF. As it is an objective of this thesis to discuss the mechanisms of ventricular arrhythmias during ARI, this Section will focus on the conditions necessary for arrhythmogenesis in *acquired pathologies*. Changes in tissue electrophysiology and structure can facilitate arrhythmias via: i) Abnormal Automaticity; ii) Triggered Activity (Afterdepolarizations); and iii) Reentry.

1.2.1 Abnormal Automaticity

As a myogenic organ, the heart is able to generate its own electrical activity through a concept known as automaticity.¹⁸ Cells located within the sino-atrial node (SAN), atrio-ventricular node (AVN), and Purkinje network (PJN) are capable of generating a sufficient

depolarizing current to overcome electrotonic-coupling.¹⁹ This concept is known as *diastolic depolarization* and is the product of unstable diastolic membrane potential (V_m) arising from two intertwined mechanisms known as the voltage (membrane) clock and the calcium clock.²⁰ The former is dependent on the non-selective conductance of sodium and potassium through hyperpolarization cyclic-nucleotide gated channels (HCN4), which provides substantial inward currents upon V_m hyperpolarization.^{20,21} The calcium clock on the other hand, contributes to depolarization *via* leak of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) causing depolarization through the electrogenic sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX).²⁰

Diastolic depolarization provides the current required to meet the activation threshold for the L-type calcium channel $(I_{Ca(L)}, -50mV)^{20}$ in the SAN and AVN, and activation threshold for the voltage gated sodium channel (Na_v1.5, -60mV) in the PJN.¹⁸ Despite their shared myogenic ability, there exists slight differences between these groups of cells. For example, the SAN and AVN are characterized by more positive maximum membrane potentials than the PJN or the rest of the myocardium (-50mV, -60mV and -80mV respectively).¹⁸ This is a result of regional differences in expression of the inwardly rectifying potassium channel (K_{ir}2.1), whose large conductance to potassium contributes strongly to the maximum membrane potential. As such, expression of K_{ir}2.1 is lowest in the SAN and highest in PJN and ventricular cardiomyocytes.²²

While SAN, AVN and PJN all possess automaticity, the phenomenon of pacemaking in the heart is hierarchical. This implies that overall heart rate is dependent upon the region of the heart which meets two conditions: i) the ability to generate a readily propagating action potential (AP) and ii) the generation of propagating action potentials at a higher frequency than all other subsidiary sites. During normal physiology the SAN is the dominant pacemaker, however during pathophysiology there can be a shift to lower levels of pacing (AVN and PJN), which depolarize at slower rates resulting in bradycardia.²³ These lower heart rates are potentially pro-arrhythmic, for reasons which will be explained in Section 1.2.III.²⁴ Conversely, changes in tissue electrophysiology may increase the rate of diastolic depolarization, inducing early activation of these pacemaker cells.

Finally, under certain circumstances cardiomyocytes outside of the conduction pathway may also possess abnormal automaticity. In the instance of disease, automaticity in non-pacemaker cardiomyocytes has been reported to result from heterogeneities in tissue electric potential.²⁵ This arises as depolarized resting membrane potentials (-70mV) can provide the source of a 'diastolic depolarizing' electrotonic current to coupled cells allowing abnormal excitation.^{19,23} For the purpose of this thesis, tissue excitation arising from a local current and independent of preceding propagating APs will be considered abnormal automaticity.

1.2.II Triggered Activity - Afterdepolarizations

While automaticity relies on a depolarizing source current for activation, cardiomyocytes existing external to the pacemaker and conduction system tend to rely upon a preceding wave of excitation to bring them to activation threshold. Therefore, under normal circumstances and in the absence of a diastolic depolarizing inward current, cardiomyocytes remain quiescent until stimulated. However, changes in the properties of a preceding excitation during disease can provide a sufficient trigger for additional excitation to occur. Afterdepolarizations are triggered arrhythmias which are defined by Antzelevitch

& Burashnikov as: "Depolarizations that attend or follow the cardiac action potential and depend on preceding transmembrane activity...".²⁵ These events can be divided into two sub-categories, early-afterdepolarizations and delayed-afterdepolarizations as illustrated in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 Examples of Early and Delayed Afterdepolarizations

Figure illustrates the different types of early afterdepolarizations (EADs) which arise from either prolonged action potential duration (APD) (A) and shortened APD (C) in addition to delayed afterdepolarizations (DADs) (B). Used with permission from: "Overview of Basic Mechanism of Cardiac Arrhythmia" by Antzelevitch and Burashnikov.²⁵

Early-afterdepolarizations (EADs) are depolarizations occurring before full repolarization of the cardiac action potential has occurred (phase 4). EADs may occur during either the plateau (phase 2 EADs) or repolarization (phase 3 EADs) portion of the cardiac action potential (Figure 1.1 A). Burashnikov & Antzelevitch define phase 2 and phase 3 EADs as after-depolarizations occurring above or below a V_m of -30 mV, respectively.²⁷ Phase 2 EADs have been shown to occur most commonly in instances of delayed repolarization and action potential duration (APD) lengthening. These changes may occur as a result of reduced outward currents (carried by potassium) or prolonged/enhanced sodium currents (late sodium current). This extended AP plateau allows adequate time for the reactivation of $I_{Ca(L)}$, which can provide a depolarizing influx of calcium.¹⁸ Opening of these channels during the AP plateau has been shown to provide an ample depolarizing current, subsequently prolonging the AP and delaying time to repolarization.^{28,29}

Depolarizations occurring during the repolarization phase (phase 3 EADs) instead have been shown to occur during either augmented or abbreviated APDs. In the instance of delayed repolarization, 'early' phase 3 EADs appear to occur independent of changes in cytosolic calcium, but as the result of electrotonic interactions between regions of varying APD.^{29,30} This is unique from the previously described abnormal automaticity (Section 1.2.I) as the current source for phase 3 EADs originates from tissue differences in phase 2 duration, whereas automaticity arises from regional differences in phase 4 electric potential. Contrary to prolonged APDs, 'late' phase 3 EADs may occur in regions of abbreviated APD, where the calcium transient (CaT) is extended beyond repolarization.³¹ This 'prolonged' CaT allows intracellular calcium ([Ca²⁺]_i) to remain elevated into phase 4, whereas under normal circumstances the process of Ca^{2+} extrusion and sequestration do not extend much beyond electrical diastole.³² Elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ can generate a sufficient transient inward current (I_{ti}) for EAD genesis through the electrogenic extrusion of one Ca^{2+} for three Na⁺ through the NCX.³¹

Once resting V_m is achieved, any triggered activity from this point onward is considered a delayed-after-depolarization (DAD). The driving current for this, referred to as the transient inward current (I_{ti}), has a few theorized identities, most of which are related to elevations in $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$.³³ Verkerk *et al.* show in isolated ventricular and Purkinje cardiomyocytes, DADs result from the activation of both the calcium activated chloride channel (I_{Cl(Ca)}) and the NCX.³⁴ Increased $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$ can occur as a result of a variety of pathologies or sudden changes in depolarizing frequency, both of which dramatically affect calcium handling.¹⁸

For the purpose of this thesis, all triggered depolarizations occurring as a direct consequence of changes in calcium handling will be referred to as either EADs or DADs. In the instance of depolarizations occurring by which calcium is not a mechanism, arrhythmias will be referred to as either EAD-like or DAD-like.

1.2.III Reentrant Activity

While Section 1.2.I and Section 1.2.II addressed unitary non-reentrant events, lethal arrhythmias occur as the result of reentrant activity.³⁵ This may occur when a wave of excitation is not extinguished, but re-excites previously activated tissue. This perpetuation of electrical activity may occur following anatomical and/or functional changes to the tissue's characteristics, thus providing the optimal "substrate" for continuous electrical

activity.³⁶ It is commonly accepted that in order for reentrant activity to occur, the propagating impulse must possess: i) unidirectional conduction block; and ii) an excitable gap.^{36,37} Should either of these tenets not be met, the propagating wave may interact with its own wavefront, refractory period, or another wave and consequently become extinguished.

Unidirectional conduction block may occur if a group of activated cells are coupled to regions of disparate excitability. The likelihood of a wave to either propagate or be blocked can be addressed considering the 'safety factor' (SF) for conduction, which reflects the ratio of current a cell is required to generate ("source") in order to excite the cells to which it is coupled ("sink").¹⁸ Should the SF be greater than 1, the source is likely to generate adequate current to excite the cells downstream, and as a result the wave will readily propagate in that direction. Anatomical obstructions, such as blood vessels, connective tissues, or variations in cell-cell junctions may favour conduction in one direction as electrical excitation must propagate around the inexcitable tissue.¹⁸ A practical example of this is the preferential conduction around pre-existing scar tissue *via* multiple paths of viable tissue described as "torturous pathways".³⁸ During this phenomena, reduced coupling of cells in one direction reduces the input current and may actually increase the SF downstream, promoting stronger conduction in one direction. Functionally, changes in tissue excitability and refractoriness may have profound effects on the size of the electrotonic sink. Should excitation occur in a region that remains refractory or is hyperpolarized, the source current may not be sufficient to overcome the sink and conduction will flow towards regions which are more easily activated.

Regardless of ability to excite tissue in a unidirectional manner, there must be separation between a propagating wavefront and its own refractory period or that of a preceding wave. As such, this 'excitable gap' is essential for the sustenance of an activation wave by preventing wavebreak from occurring.²³ Changes in the length of a propagating wave (λ) has a profound effect on the excitable gap, with shorter wavelengths (under normal circumstances) favoring earlier recovery from refractoriness and greater excitability than longer wavelengths.³⁷ As wavelength is the product of conduction velocity (CV) and the time to recovery of excitability (ERP); ($\lambda = CV \times ERP$), changes in either CV or ERP will proportionally effect the wavelength of a propagating wave and subsequently the excitable gap. Increasing fibrosis and reductions in gap junctions following scar tissue formation can provide an anatomical mechanism for CV slowing whereas changes in ion channel expression and ion concentrations may alter both CV and ERP.

Although this thesis will not make a distinction between reentrant waves, it would be unwise to neglect the fact that not all reentrant waves are created equal, nor possess similar shape or stability. As such, functional reentrant waves can occur from a variety of forms including: leading circle reentry, anisotropic reentry, figure-eight reentry, reflection, and spiral waves.²³

1.2.IV Conclusion

Changes in the natural electrical environment of the heart may occur with a variety of diseases, however pathologies that provide both an arrhythmic trigger and substrate are most worrisome. Sustained arrhythmias resulting from the interaction of abnormal automaticity, after-depolarizations and alterations in tissue substrate may provide the

perfect storm for SCD to occur. A variety of alterations in tissue properties can promote this abnormal electrical activity, such as those that occur during ARI. ARI's dynamic characteristics however, cause difficulties in the distinction of arrhythmic mechanisms. The final two Sections of this introduction will address the current literature regarding changes during Phase IA and IB of ARI and how these alterations promote arrhythmogenesis through abnormal automaticity, triggered activity, and reentry.

1.3 Phase IA Ischemia

Immediately upon the cessation of coronary blood supply, a dynamic process of electrophysiological and metabolic changes begins to occur in cardiac tissue. These alterations provide the conditions for both the genesis and sustenance of arrhythmias, however the constantly changing ischemic environment results in phase-dependent mechanisms. Current understanding is that Phase IA arrhythmias are the result of rapid changes in cellular electrophysiology causing ectopic triggers and changes to the substrate for reentry^{5,39} secondary to alterations in tissue metabolism and transmembrane ionic concentrations.⁴⁰ Specifically, the three principal metabolic/ionic changes that occur during Phase IA of ischemia are: i) elevated extracellular potassium ([K⁺]_o); ii) hypoxia; and iii) acidosis.³⁹

1.3.I Increased Extracellular Potassium

During ARI, $[K^+]_o$ undergoes three time-dependent alterations.^{41,42} Within the first ~10 minutes, there is an immediate increase in $[K^+]_o$ (from ~5 mM to ~14.7 mM)⁴³ resulting from extracellular volume loss (15%)⁴⁴ and activation of the ATP-sensitive potassium current (I_{KATP}) (an examination of the activation of I_{KATP} is provided in Section 1.3.II).⁵

Following ~10 minutes, a plateau in $[K^+]_0$ occurs as sodium-potassium ATPase pump (Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase) function is preserved *via* improved glycolytic capacity stimulated by endogenous catecholamine release.⁴⁵ Beyond ~20 minutes of ischemia, accumulation of hydrogen ions (H⁺) and production of lactate slows as available energy substrates are consumed, effectively inhibiting anaerobic metabolism. This precipitous plunge in intracellular ATP reduces the efficacy of the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, reducing potassium influx, and inducing a second increase in $[K^+]_0$ during Phase IB.⁴⁴ The changes in $[K^+]_0$ during ARI are shown in Figure 1.2. It can be seen that in the central ischemic zone (Figure 1.2 A) there is a rapid rise in $[K^+]_0$ from ~5.4 mM to ~10 mM, then after a brief plateau (10-20 minutes), a second rise occurs. It can also be seen that in the mid-ischemic zone there is a moderate, and slower accumulation of $[K^+]_0$.



Figure 1.2 Changes in Extracellular Potassium During Acute Regional Ischemia

(A) Changes in K⁺ activity (y₁-axis) measured using K⁺ -sensitive mini-electrodes and their corresponding K⁺ concentrations (y₂-axis) during 56 minutes of regional ischemia. Electrode sites are located in the central ischemic zone (CZ) (1,2), margin of ischemic zone (MZ_i) (3), and coronary vein (4). During ischemia there is a rapid increase in extracellular K⁺ followed by a plateau phase and a second increase around 20 minutes. Used with permission from: "Effect of Acute Coronary Artery Occlusion on Local Myocardial Extracellular K⁺ Activity in Swine" by Hill and Gettes.⁴² (B) Changes in resting membrane potential (y₁-axis) and extracellular K⁺ activity (y₂axis) during 15 minutes of global ischemia. Black circles represent extracellular K⁺ activity, black squares represent resting membrane potential. Number of samples shown above each data point \pm SEM. Used with permission from: "Resting Membrane Potential, Extracellular Potassium Activity, and Intracellular Sodium Activity During Acute Global Ischemia in Isolated Perfused Guinea Pig Hearts" by Kléber.⁴³

As one of the most important cations in the body, changes in trans-sarcolemmal potassium gradients can have profound effects on electrophysiology. In excitable tissue, such as neural or cardiac, potassium plays a significant role contributing to repolarization and resting V_m, through a variety of channels (*e.g.*, K_{ir}2.1 (I_{K1}), K_v11.1 (I_{Kr}), K_v7.1 (I_{Ks}), K_{ir}3.1 (I_{K(Ach)})).⁴⁶ As mentioned in Section 1.2.I, it is the inwardly rectifying potassium channel (K_{ir}2.1), whose conductance is larger than any other channel, which sets the resting V_m.⁴⁷ The relationship between potassium's electrochemical gradients and resting V_m is reflected by the similarity of the potassium equilibrium potential (E_k) with that of the resting V_m (-94 mV *vs.* -90 mV, respectively).⁴³ Thus, during the first ~10 minutes of ischemia, changes in [K⁺]_o from ~5 mM to ~10 mM dramatically shifts E_k, and V_m from ~-90mV to ~-60mV, as shown in Figure 1.2 B.^{43,44}

Increases in $[K^+]_o$ may contribute to ectopic excitation as elevations in resting V_m may initially cause a period of ectopy and "supernormal conduction".¹⁸ This enhanced excitability occurs in the first ~10 to 20 minutes of ischemia as resting V_m intrudes upon the activation threshold (~-60 mV) of Na_v1.5,¹⁸ causing early activation of the inward sodium current (I_{Na}). On the other hand, changes in Na_v1.5 availability during ARI can affect the substrate of the tissue by facilitating conduction block. It has been shown that a depolarization of resting V_m to values around -70 mV can inhibit approximately 50% of all sodium channels in the region.⁴⁸ This results from downward shift in the steady-state inactivation curve, reflecting a reduction in the probability of channel response to a stimulus. This gives rise to a phenomenon known as "post-repolarization refractoriness (PRR)" which extends the ERP of the tissue by slowing the recovery of the Na_v1.5 inactivation gate.³⁹ While the described changes occur in the central ischemic region, it is important to consider the junction of ischemic and non-ischemic tissue. In the region where healthy and ischemic tissue meet ('border-zone'), gradients in $[K^+]_o$ can exist. This may cause a gradient in elevations of resting V_m as the more depolarized ischemic region "pulls-up" the resting V_m of cells downstream in the border zone.^{49,50} Coronel *et al.* have shown that tissue within the range of -4 mm to +2 mm across the ischemic border requires lower diastolic stimulatory thresholds than that of tissue within the central ischemic zone due to this 'injury current',⁵¹ leading to heterogeneous regions of excitability and repolarization in the border-zone.¹⁸

1.3.II Hypoxia/Anoxia

The inadequate delivery of oxygen to cardiac tissue during ARI favours a change in the tissue's metabolic status from aerobic to anaerobic metabolism, as electron-accepting oxygen molecules become a limiting factor. Interestingly, during Phase IA of ARI intracellular adenosine-triphosphate (ATP_i) remains relatively stable, as it declines slowly in the first 10-15 minutes.^{52,53} This trend can be seen in Figure 1.3 A as a reduction of ~25% in ATP during the first 15 minutes. This ebbing maintenance of ATP_i is the result of additional energy systems, such as the short-lived phosphocreatine (Figure 1.3 B) and self-limiting anaerobic glycolysis system, in addition to reduced metabolic demands of the tissue as contraction is impaired.⁵²



Figure 1.3 Changes in High Energy Substrates and pH During Acute Global Ischemia

Figure illustrates changes in (A) adenosine triphosphate (ATP), (B) phosphocreatine (PCr), and; (C) pH using ³¹P.NMR techniques. Used with permission from "Quantification of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in Perfused Hearts" by Marban *et al.*⁵²

Along with declining levels of ATP (which reach ~50% by 20 minutes of ischemia), accumulating levels of its hydrolyzed form, ADP, have been shown to have profound effects on electrophysiology. Weiss et al. report that increasing (ADP)_i reduces the inhibitory effect of ATP on IKATP and thus magnifies IKATP activity.54 As mentioned in Section 1.3.I, activation of IKATP can produce a significant outward potassium current, hastening repolarization and shortening APD. In fact, by use of mathematical modelling, Shaw & Rudy demonstrated that anoxic-activation of IKATP is the most significant contributor to the AP shortening seen with ischemia (much more than any other ischemic mechanism).³⁹ During ARI, rapid shortening of APD is evident within the first 5 minutes, effects of which can be readily ameliorated using the IKATP specific blocker glibenclamide.⁵⁵ Should APD shortening occur in the absence of post-repolarization refractoriness (Section 1.3.I) or calcium transient (CaT) abbreviation, there may be an increased probability of phase 3 EADs to occur given sufficient current.³¹ However, an ischemia-induced change in APD in the context of arrhythmogenesis is more commonly viewed as an important contributor to increased dispersion of repolarization and the excitable gap required for reentry, resulting in unidirectional conduction block.⁵

Alterations in O_2 availability can also facilitate adverse alterations in ion channel kinetics. For example, hypoxia has been shown to increase the late (window) sodium current, giving rise to a persistent inward current.⁵⁶ This may contribute to increases in intracellular sodium frequently reported during ischemia.³⁹ Furthermore, hypoxia has been shown to impair the activation kinetics of $I_{Ca(L)}$ (in human-embryonic kidney cells).⁵⁷ This response was found in the absence of alterations to inactivation and deactivation kinetics

and has been attributed to the ability of the pore subunit to detect changes in oxygen tension.⁵⁸Acidosis

As mentioned above, during ischemia there is a rapid shift in metabolism towards anaerobic glycolysis.⁵⁹ Although this energy system is a quick, albeit inefficient, means by which ATP production can occur, H⁺ are rapidly generated as pyruvate is oxidized to lactate and NADH is reduced to NAD⁺.⁶⁰ As ischemia progresses, intracellular pH decreases linearly from its resting point of 7.4 to values as low as 6.4 within the first 10 minutes.^{61,62} Accumulation of H⁺ activates exchangers in a futile attempt to maintain homeostatic cellular pH (~7.4). Of these compensatory mechanisms, H⁺ is most effectively extruded through the sodium-hydrogen antiporter resulting in an influx of sodium.⁶³ As a result, additional sodium must then be extruded through the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, sodium pump, or NCX, resulting in a net increase in intracellular calcium.⁶³ Figure 1.3 C shows the rapid changes in pH during the first 20 minutes of ischemia, which reach a value of ~6.2 by 20 minutes.

Aside from the changes in ionic concentrations required to balance the declining pH during ARI, acidification of the intracellular milieu can have profound effects on the functionality of sarcolemmal, subsarcolemmal, and intercellular ion channels.³⁹ The sudden decline of pH within the first 10 minutes has been shown to reduce the conductance of I_{Na} by ~25%, leading to a substantial reduction in the maximal rate of depolarization.⁶⁴ Acidosis has also been shown to slightly alter I_{Na} steady-state activation and inactivation, facilitating a slight hyperpolarizing shift at a pH of 6.0.⁶⁵ Furthermore, conductance of $I_{Ca(L)}$ has been shown to be impaired by ~10-20% by reductions in pH.⁶⁶ Reductions in pH to values of 6.3, which may occur within the 10-15 minutes of ischemia, produce a ~70%

reduction in the maximal conductance of $I_{Ca(L)}$.⁶⁷ While the predominant inward current carrying channels are affected, outward-repolarizing currents are also altered by acidosis, with an inhibition of I_{K1} contributing to resting V_m depolarization.⁵ The combined effects of pH on these three key ion channels causes most notably a reduction in the slope of phase 0 depolarization, in addition to mild shortening of the phase 2 plateau, and moderate phase 4 V_m depolarization.

Electrophysiological effects of intracellular acidification can promote arrhythmogenesis by profoundly affecting the substrate required for reentry. Reduced rate of cellular depolarization (phase 0) by inhibition of I_{Na} can affect conduction velocity in tissue and, when combined with a shortened action potential, reduce excitation wavelength and increase the excitable gap for reentry. Furthermore, conduction slowing may promote wavebreak to occur. As mentioned, these pro-arrhythmic events are linked the excitable gap, however changes in tissue excitability resulting in post repolarization refractoriness may abolish the excitable gap, even despite shortened wavelengths.

Not only can acidosis affect electrophysiological parameters of the heart, but it has also been shown to have profound effects on contractility. For example, acidification has been shown to reduce the sensitivity of Troponin-C for calcium.⁶⁸ This, in turn, would reduce the affinity of actin for myosin and impede cross-bridge formation.

1.3.III Conclusion

The metabolic and electrophysiological changes occurring during the first phase of ischemia have been heavily investigated. In their totality, at the cellular level, the changes described above give rise to an elevated resting V_m , reduced upstroke velocity and reduced

APD (Figure 1.4). Sustained arrhythmias at this time are considered to be the result of changes in tissue excitability giving rise to abnormal automaticity and triggered activity, along with alterations in AP morphology providing the conditions for reentry. As a result of the heterogeneous changes in membrane excitability and refractoriness in both ischemic, and border-zone tissue, unidirectional conduction block and the excitable gap are enhanced and ventricular tachycardia is frequently reported.⁹ This class of arrhythmia, however, while troublesome is non-lethal, and thus does not generally result in SCD. The more deadly phase of ARI is generally considered to be Phase IB, which will be considered next.



Figure 1.4 Changes in Action Potential Morphology During Ischemia

During ischemia, increases in cytosolic potassium, acidosis, and anoxia lead to an elevation in the resting membrane potential (1.), reduced phase 1 upstroke (upstroke velocity) (2.), and action potential duration shortening (3.) respectively. Used with permission from: "Electrophysiologic effects of acute myocardial ischemia: a theoretical study of altered cell excitability and action potential duration" by Shaw and Rudy.³⁹

1.4 Phase IB Ischemia

As ischemia progresses through Phase IA, there is a continual reduction in the excitability of the tissue, secondary to a declining pH, increasing [K⁺]_o and reductions in ATP. As such, it may be of little surprise that a period of relative quiescence around 15-20 minutes is frequently reported.¹¹ The resurgence of not only triggered activity, but of sustained lethal arrhythmias during Phase IB provides an interesting quandary to the relatively few answers that alterations in metabolism and electrophysiology may provide. Currently, Phase IB arrhythmias are considered to be linked to either the individual contribution, or a combination of: i) gap junction uncoupling; ii) endocardial discharge; iii) catecholamine release; and iv) altered mechanics.

1.4.1 Gap Junction Uncoupling

As the first phase of arrhythmias during ARI have been reported to be the product of changes in tissue electrophysiology lending to both trigger and substrate, these mechanisms rely on steadfast connectivity of cells.⁶⁹ Intercellular coupling of ventricular cardiomyocytes through the medium-conductance hemi-channel connexin-43 (CX-43) is important for the rapid and homogeneous conduction of an action potential throughout the myocardium. However, during ARI, studies have shown that there is a rapid reduction in intercellular coupling and an enhancement in tissue resistance to conduction during Phase IB.¹³

During ARI, acidification, reductions in (ATP)_i, and increases in intracellular calcium have been shown to reduce CX-43 phosphorylation and subsequent conduction velocity.^{13,62,70,71} Furthermore, these key electrophysiological changes can interact and

complement each other as acidification increases sensitivity of gap junctions to calcium.¹³ Smith *et al.* report that during the first 10 minutes of ARI tissue resistivity, inversely proportional to cell-cell coupling, and thus an indicator of uncoupling, modestly increases to a plateau.⁷² Then, after a brief hiatus, there is a second substantial rise in tissue resistivity, corresponding to gap-junction uncoupling after ~20 minutes (Figure 1.5).^{13,69} Interestingly, this rise has been shown to occur around the same time as the second rise in [K⁺]_o, however it has been noted that increases in [K⁺]_o during this period are quite small.⁷² Additionally, changes in intracellular pH by this point during ischemia have plateaued and are unlikely to contribute to further electrophysiological distress.⁶⁹


Figure 1.5 Changes in Cell-Cell Coupling During Acute Regional Ischemia

During acute regional ischemia tissue impedance, reflected as resistivity, increases in a sigmoidal fashion. The two phases of acute ischemia have been outlined (Phase IA; blue, Phase IB; red). The latter Phase IB corresponds with a dramatic increase in tissue resistivity. Modified with permission from: "Late ventricular arrhythmias during acute regional ischemia in the isolated blood perfused pig heart: Role of electrical cellular coupling" by de Groot *et al.*⁷³

Importantly, the onset of the second increase in tissue resistivity corresponds with an increase in the incidence of VF in regionally ischemic hearts.⁷² De Groot and Coronel comment that uncoupling during Phase IB promotes conduction slowing and block, two ideal conditions for reentry.¹³ This concept is in agreement with Smith *et al.* who posit that during Phase IB it is the inhomogeneities imposed by uncoupling that promote fibrillation.⁷² Contrary to this, it has been reported that uncoupling may reduce the incidence of conduction block by reducing the sink (source-sink) requirements,⁷⁴ however this may be more important during Phase IA when moderate cell-cell uncoupling exists. Despite its contribution to the conditions for wave break and reentry, gap junction uncoupling during Phase IB is unlikely to provide the trigger for reentry.¹³ As such, this alteration during Phase IB may contribute to the arrhythmic *substrate*, however does not explain the mechanism behind the *triggering* event.

1.4.II Endocardial Discharge

Abnormal activity in the endocardial Purkinje cells has been theorized as a potential mechanism of triggered activity during Phase IB.^{75–77} As mentioned above, Purkinje cells possess key characteristics which may contribute to arrhythmogenesis during ARI, such as unstable diastolic membrane potentials and automaticity (Section 1.2.I). In experiments of isolated myocardial (papillary) tissue, the perfusion of solutions mimicking late ischemia has been shown to result in a transient increase in the rate of Purkinje fiber diastolic-depolarization.⁷⁸ Furthermore, Huelsing *et al.* show that the coupling of isolated Purkinje fibers to a depolarizing current, analogous to the ischemic injury current, produces an increase in the rate of spontaneous discharge.⁷⁹ This work was further extended to display the importance of electrotonic activation of I_{Ca(L)} as the main diastolic depolarizing current,

in addition to the necessity of increased coupling resistance to augment the SF for propagation.⁸⁰ While this accounts for automaticity, triggered activity has been shown to occur more readily in ventricular cells than in Purkinje cells, in part due to their higher (more positive) plateau (phase 2) potentials.⁸¹

Purkinje fibers have not only been implicated as a trigger of ARI arrhythmias, but their specialized conductive highway may provide an optimal route ('substrate') for reentry. Modelling of the junction between Purkinje fibers and ventricular cardiomyocytes has revealed that moderate cellular uncoupling during ischemia promotes unidirectional conduction block by increasing the SF in one direction and forming a reentrant circuit.⁸² Furthermore, Purkinje cells have been shown to require significantly less electrotonic input than that of myocardial cells, allowing excitation to occur more readily across a smaller volume of cells.⁸³ This would increase the likelihood of unidirectional conduction block and reentry to occur in the Purkinje network than in the myocardium. Janse et al. have shown that during ischemia, the presence of the endocardium is essential for more complex sustained arrhythmias (VF) to occur.84 This dependency of sustained arrhythmias on endocardial structures has been recapitulated by Zaglia et al. who show that stimulation of the endocardium during ischemia results in sustained arrhythmias more frequently than epicardial stimulation.⁸³ Both abnormal automaticity and reentry are finite and as ischemia progresses, acidosis, increased [K⁺]_o, and hypoxia facilitate the uncoupling of Purkinje cells and a reduction in reentry.85

Uniquely, these electrophysiological changes (akin to abnormal automaticity and reentry during Phase IA: Section 1.3) are more likely to occur during Phase IB. This may be due to the fact that changes during ischemia in the endocardium lag behind the mid- and

epicardium.⁷⁶ Indeed, Wilensky *et al.* report that within the first 12 minutes of ischemia, the most superficial 650 μ m of the endocardium possess a resting V_m 20mV lower (polarized), and a higher pH than deeper tissue.⁷⁶ This may be due to Purkinje fibers' greater capacity to store glycogen, endowing a greater glycolytic energy reserve, or simply their location adjacent to a cavity filled of oxygen and nutrient rich blood.^{75,77,86} Regardless, this indicates that ischemic changes during ARI are substantially delayed in the endocardium, thus providing a later phase of electrophysiological changes.

While abnormal endocardial activity may indeed be a mechanism for sustained Phase IB arrhythmias, it has been shown that during acute ischemia endocardial ablation does not reduce the incidence of ectopic excitation.⁸⁴ This would imply that there exists a trigger external to that of the endocardium for ventricular arrhythmias during Phase IB. Furthermore, abnormal automaticity in Purkinje fibers has been implicated as a mechanism for arrhythmias in surviving endocardial tissue post-myocardial infarction, well beyond the acute effects of ischemia.⁸⁷

1.4.III Catecholamine Release

During Phase IB, there is a significant increase in plasma norepinephrine (NE), its precursor dopamine, and epinephrine.⁸⁸ While all three increase above baseline values, the former shows the most substantial increase and will be addressed as a potential mechanism for Phase IB arrhythmias. Norepinephrine release during ARI has been shown to occur biphasically, arising from two different mechanisms.^{5,89} The initial release of catecholamines is comparatively small to that of the latter release, occurring as a result of sympathetic activation in response to pain or injury, facilitating a rapid exocytotic release

of NE from local postganglionic sympathetic nerve endings within the myocardium.⁸⁹ Following ~15 minutes of ARI, reductions in ATP and intracellular sodium accumulation facilitate a reversal of re-uptake carriers in the synapse, favoring massive non-exocytotic (endogenous) NE release.^{88,90} This is evident as extension of ischemia beyond 15 minutes sees a further increase in NE up to values 10-100 fold greater than the initial amount.⁸⁸ Figure 1.6 A illustrates the progressive increase in plasma catecholamine concentration during the first 60 min of ARI in an isolated Langendorff-perfused rat heart (shown by the values immediately prior to reperfusion). These findings are recapitulated by Lameris *et al. in vivo* (panels B-D) as an increase in intracellular catecholamines, most dramatically norepinephrine (B), occurs over 60 minutes of regional ischemia.



Figure 1.6 Changes in Effluent Catecholamine Concentration During Ischemia

Figure (A) illustrates the concentration of noradrenaline (norepinephrine) using highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) during 15 minutes of reperfusion immediately following 15, 30, or 60 minutes of global ischemia. Used with permission from: "Release of endogenous catecholamines in the ischemic myocardium of the rat. Part A: Locally mediated release" by Schomig *et al.*⁸⁸ Figure (B-D) illustrates the changes in norepinephrine, epinephrine, and dopamine using micro-dialysis HPLC techniques during 60 minutes of regional ischemia respectively. Black circles represent central ischemic zone, "X" represents the non ischemic zone, hatched bars represent changes in arterial concentration. Used with permission from: "Time Course and Mechanism of Myocardial Catecholamine Release During Transient Ischemia In Vivo" by Lameris *et al.*⁹¹

NE is a versatile peptide hormone, acting as an extracellular ligand to two different types of receptors in the heart: i) beta-adrenergic receptors (β -AR₁ specifically) and ii) the alpha-adrenergic receptors (α -AR₁ and α -AR₂), both of which increase membrane translocation during ischemia.^{92,93} NE binding to the extracellular domain of β-AR₁ facilitates an activation of a G-stimulatory protein (G_s) coupled receptor which initiates a cyclic-AMP (cAMP) intracellular signaling cascade.¹⁸ The cellular implications of β -AR₁ stimulation are widespread, however through the activation of protein kinase-A (PKA), β-AR₁ stimulation increases the activity of a host of channels.⁹⁴ For example, PKA phosphorylation can shift I_{Na} activation and inactivation kinetics (reducing open probability), increase the conductance and open duration of the I_{Ca(L)}, increase I_{Ks}, and reduce I_{K1} .⁵ In addition to transmembrane protein channels, stimulation of β -AR₁ can facilitate the phosphorylation of the sarcoplasmic-reticulum ATPase (SERCA) inhibitory protein, phospholamban (PLB), thus increasing SR calcium content.^{5,94} Furthermore, activation of β -AR₁ also profoundly effects the rate of diastolic depolarization in pacemaker cells (SAN, AVN, PJN), by cAMP amplification of the funny current (If).¹⁸

Alternatively, alpha-adrenergic receptors are G_q protein coupled receptors. The resultant effect of G_q stimulation by NE is the activation of Phospholipase-C, which subsequently hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate into inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG).⁹⁵ IP₃ can facilitate cytosolic calcium release by activating IP₃-receptors on the SR, while DAG activates Protein Kinase-C alpha (PKC α). PKC α has a variety of cellular effects, however in the heart it has been shown to phosphorylate Troponin-I, reducing its affinity for calcium in addition to activating protein-phosphatase-1, which dephosphorylates PLB.^{96,97} While activation of α -AR acts to reduce

inotropy (increase lusitropy) and negate the effects of β -AR activation, it is important to note that the relative expression of α -AR in comparison to β -AR is 1:9 respectively.⁹⁸

During ARI, lethal arrhythmias have been linked to increases in cAMP *in situ*,⁹⁹ and as such, the blockade of adrenergic receptors has been shown to reduce ventricular arrhythmias in several mammalian models of ischemia.^{100–102} This effect has been shown to ameliorated *via* the depletion of endogenous catecholamines in isolated hearts undergoing global low-flow and no-flow ischemia.¹⁰³ Recently, Doppalapudi *et al.* have shown that regional perfusion of isoproterenol (β -AR non-selective), in the absence of ischemia, is sufficient for the induction of sustained ventricular arrhythmias.¹⁰⁴ This work was advanced by Myles *et al.* who have shown that local NE injection is sufficient to cause arrhythmias, providing the necessary synchronization of calcium release to induce afterdepolarizations.¹⁰⁵ In the same study, the probability for DADs to occur was enhanced by mild cell-cell uncoupling, akin to that of which occurs during Phase IB. These findings may have important implications during Phase IB, where the second non-exocytotic release of catecholamines coincides with reduced cellular coupling, providing the necessary stimulus for triggered ectopy to occur.

Catecholamine release may also have implications on Purkinje fibers and increases of local cAMP may contribute to abnormal automaticity by augmentation of I_f.⁵ Research by Verkerk *et al.* showed that in the presence of NE, moderate uncoupling of Purkinje cells to a simulated ischemic region gives rise to afterdepolarizations.⁸¹

1.4.IV Altered Mechanics

During ARI, drastic changes in cardiac mechanics occur along with the changes in electrophysiology discussed in Section 1.3. These changes can occur rapidly, with differences in fractional shortening between healthy and ischemic tissues occurring as early as the first 70 seconds.¹⁰⁶ At a physiological level, alterations in contraction occur as metabolic changes occur, namely the reduction in cell pH, high-energy phosphate (ATP) availability, reduced SR calcium release,¹⁰⁷ and reduced affinity of myofilaments for calcium¹⁰⁸. By the 10th minute of global ischemia, contraction can be entirely inhibited and tissue stiffening begins to occur.¹⁰⁸ In regionally ischemic models, these reductions in contractility within the ischemic zone further contribute to mechanical dysfunction, exposing the border between the ischemic zone and healthy tissue to varying amounts of strain.^{109–112}

In addition to reducing the heart's efficacy to contract and generate pressure, mechanics may also play in important role in changes in cardiac electrics. The process by which electrical excitation of the heart is transduced into mechanical activity, known as excitation-contraction coupling (ECC), has been well documented over the decades.¹¹³ Less appreciated however, is a field of physiology referred to as 'Mechano-Electric Coupling (MEC)' which addresses how the mechanical environment alters electrical activity.¹¹⁴ In the early 1900s, the concept of MEC was taking form as Bainbridge displayed that by increasing venous pressure in a canine model, cardiac acceleration could be observed.¹¹⁵ Over the years, many mechanisms by which MEC is achieved have been elucidated, including a whole host of stretch-sensitive sarcolemmal channels and cell mediated effects.¹¹⁴

Alterations in mechanics can lead to variable changes in electrophysiology, providing both trigger and substrate for sustained arrhythmias to occur.¹¹⁶ Indeed the distension of the ventricular free-wall which occurs in a variety of pathological conditions has been implicated as a mechanism of SCD.¹¹⁷ Clinically this effect of mechanics on electrics has been related to regional abnormalities in wall motion enhancing the dispersion of repolarization and subsequent risk for ventricular arrhythmias.^{118,119} During ischemia in particular, stretch of ventricular tissue has been shown to enhance tissue repolarization patterns, potentially providing useful insight to arrhythmogenesis through MEC.¹²⁰ Coronel et al. was one of the first groups to experimentally investigate the mechanical contribution to ventricular arrhythmias during Phase IB ischemia.¹² It was discovered that in regionally ischemic swine hearts the absence of mechanical load significantly reduces the incidence of ventricular arrhythmias.¹² These findings are illustrated in Figure 1.7, which demonstrates that in comparison to in situ swine hearts undergoing ARI (A: top), the incidence of arrhythmias is dramatically reduced when hearts are instead isolated and do not pump blood (A: middle). However, the introduction of mechanical load by an intraventricular balloon in the left ventricle (LV) of the heart re-established the incidence of ventricular arrhythmias with ARI (A: bottom), implying that there is a contribution of mechanics to arrhythmias observed during ARI. During the same experiments in loaded hearts, Coronel et al. displayed that after a brief pause in pacing, potentiated beats facilitated an increase premature ventricular excitations (PVEs), indicating that strength of contraction correlates with arrhythmic inducibility.¹²





Regional Ischemia in Swine

Figure A illustrates the duration of ischemia the x-axis and incidence of arrhythmias (ventricular premature beats (VPBs), white; couplets, dotted; ventricular tachycardia (VT), grey; ventricular fibrillation (VF), black) on the y-axis. Different cohorts of animals had unique mechanical environments ie: normal *in situ* (top), isolated (middle), and isolated, working (bottom). Figure B displays the initiation of an ectopy near the ischemic border zone. Ischemic zone represented by dark grey shading and border zone via interrupted black line. Used with permission from "Origin of Ischemia-Induced Phase 1B Ventricular Arrhythmias in Pig Hearts" by Coronel *et al.*¹²

Furthermore, Coronel *et al.* found that 26% of arrhythmias originated at the zone between healthy and ischemic tissue, shown in Figure 1.7 B, a site known to be under significant stress as ischemic tissue stiffens during Phase IB.¹² By mathematically modelling rabbit hearts, incorporating both electrophysiological and mechanical changes, Jie *et al.* found that arrhythmias occurring during ARI were dependent upon the presence of ion channels that responded to mechanical strain.¹²¹ Most remarkably, the presence of mechanical alterations in the absence of electrophysiological changes was sufficient to substantially alter electrical activity.

Recently, the findings by Coronel *et al.* and Jie *et al.* have been recapitulated by our laboratory in a small animal model (Figure 1.8). Lawen *et al.* displayed in isolated rabbit hearts that the removal of mechanical load (Figure 1.8 B) or the inhibition of myocardial contraction (Figure 1.8 C) significantly reduced the incidence of ectopic triggers for ventricular arrhythmias during ARI.¹⁴



Figure 1.8 Importance of Mechanics during Acute Regional Ischemia in Isolated Rabbit Hearts

Figure (A) illustrates the average incidence of ventricular arrhythmias in isolated rabbit hearts loaded with left ventricular balloon. (B) Isolated contracting hearts in the absence of ventricular loading. (C) Isolated non-contracting hearts, pharmacologically excitationcontraction uncoupled. Black, premature ventricular excitation (PVE); grey, couplets; white, ventricular tachyarrhythmias (VT + VF). Used with permission from "The Contribution of Mechanical Effects to Ventricular Arrhythmias During Acute Regional Ischemia" by Lawen *et al.*¹⁴ While these findings confirm a mechanical contribution to the genesis of arrhythmias during ARI, the subcellular mechanisms by which mechanics is transduced into arrhythmias in this setting is unknown. MEC may play an important role in arrhythmogenesis during ARI through the acute activation of stretch-sensitive ion channels (stretch-activated and/or mechano-sensitive) and/or mechanically-sensitive calcium handling.

Stretch-activated cation-nonspecific (SAC_{NS}) ion channels open in response to tissue deformation and allow the conductance of cations.¹²² Like most channels, the direction of current flow from SAC_{NS} is dependent upon its reversal potential, which has been experimentally determined to be between 0 and -20mV.¹²³ As such, activation of SAC_{NS} during the plateau phase of the cardiac action potential (phase 2) can hasten repolarization, whereas stretch during late repolarization and diastole can cause depolarization.¹²³ In the context of mechanical dysfunction during ischemia, activation of SAC_{NS} in conjunction with already shortened APD could potentially provide sufficient inward current for afterdepolarization-like activity to occur. Additionally, activation of SAC_{NS} may affect regions of the heart in different phases of their cardiac action potentials, thus leading to increased dispersion repolarization, favoring conduction block and reentry.¹¹⁶ However, Barrabes et al. have shown that the local perfusion of gadolinium, a non-selective blocker of SAC_{NS}, produced no effect on the incidence of Phase IB arrhythmias in a swine model of ARI.¹²⁴ More recently, the same team have reported that the global perfusion of a SAC_{NS}specific blocker (a peptide isolated from the venom of the Grammostola spatulata tarantula, GsMTx-4), caused no significant reduction in ventricular arrhythmias.^{125,126} These findings indicate that mechanically-induced arrhythmias during ARI may not involve SAC_{NS}.

In addition to SAC_{NS}, other ion channels found in the heart demonstrate conductance alterations in response to stretch. As these channels' activation is independent of stretch, they will be referred to as mechano-sensitive channels (MSC). A particular channel of interest in the context of regional ischemia is Kir6.2 (I_{KATP}), which has been shown to increase conductance upon mechanical deformation.¹²⁷ As the reversal potential of this channel is similar to other potassium-selective channels (~-90 mV), its opening by stretch or reductions in ATP enhances repolarization currents. Thus, while it is unlikely to be involved in triggering arrhythmias, it may contribute to the substrate for reentry by increasing the excitable gap, enhancing dispersion of repolarization, and promoting unidirectional conduction block.¹²⁸

Altering the mechanical environment of cardiac tissue can also have significant arrhythmogenic effects on intracellular calcium handling. It has been shown that in isolated tissues undergoing rapid non-uniform stretch and relaxation there are large surges in cytosolic calcium.^{129,130} This effect is the result of increased loading of the myofilaments with calcium (due to a stretch-induced increase in the affinity of troponin-C for calcium^{131,132}), which is rapidly released during relaxation. Wakayama *et al.* have shown that in the context of increased calcium, rapid stretch and relaxation can increase the propensity of calcium waves to occur and propagate.¹³³ This effect has been shown to be independent of calcium conductance through SAC_{NS}, and if sufficient in amplitude, can depolarize the sarcolemma.^{134,135} In the context of ARI, these afterdepolarizations may occur with stretch of the ischemic border zone. Stretch can also affect the release of calcium from the SR. Iribe *et al.* have shown that axial stretch of cardiomyocytes leads to an immediate increase in calcium spark-frequency.¹³⁶ Interestingly, this occurred in the

absence of extracellular sodium or calcium and during application of SAC_{NS} blocker GSMTx-4, indicating that such an effect was not the result of cation influx through stretchactivated channels. Instead, it was proposed that there exists an anatomical coupling between cytoskeletal microtubules and RyR2 receptors, such that deformation of the cell affects the channel aperture.¹³⁶ However, more recent experiments have shown that this increase in calcium spark frequency is in fact the result of stretch-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) production,¹³⁷ and is potentiated by cyclic stretch (as would occur at the ischemic border zone with each heart beat.¹³⁸. Mechanically-dependent alterations in calcium handling may be of particular interest in the context of ischemia where cytosolic calcium overload and increased ROS production both occur.^{139,140}

1.4.V Conclusion

Despite indications of Purkinje activation and catecholamine release, research by Coronel *et al.* and Lawen *et al.* provides compelling evidence for the dependence of arrhythmias on cardiac mechanical-dysfunction during ARI.^{12,14} While MEC may be an important contributor to ARI arrhythmias, the subcellular mechanisms by which mechanical-dysfunction is translated into electrical-dysfunction in that setting remains unknown. Current literature indicates that the inhibition of stretch-activated ion channels during ARI may not be sufficient to ameliorate the incidence of arrhythmias.^{124,126} Furthermore, other mechano-sensitive channels are more likely to contribute to the substrate rather than the trigger. As such, mechanically-dependent alterations to calcium handling may be the "smoking gun" in the triggering of arrhythmias. This thesis will investigate the specific contribution of abnormal calcium handling during mechanicallydependent ARI arrhythmias. This thesis will investigate mechanisms of mechanically-induced arrhythmias during ARI in the isolated rabbit heart. The principal hypothesis is that there is a contribution of abnormal calcium handling to these arrhythmias. This hypothesis will be addressed by four specific aims:

Aim 1: Characterize mechanically-independent, ischemia-induced changes in calcium handling during ARI;

Aim 2: Investigate calcium's role as a driver of mechanically-induced arrhythmias during ARI;

Aim 3: Determine the effects of cytosolic calcium buffering on the incidence of these arrhythmias; and

Aim 4: Explore the potential of ryanodine receptor stabilization for reduction of these arrhythmias.

CHAPTER 2: METHODS

The methods Section of this thesis will first address the model of ARI used to investigate the specific contribution of altered calcium handling to mechanically-dependent arrhythmias (Section 2.1). Next the reagents used will be described (Section 2.2), followed by technical aspects regarding the use of optical mapping (Section 2.3). Then the protocols and procedures for each specific aim will be outlined (Section 2.4). Finally, the last Section will address the data analysis performed (Section 2.5).

2.1 Rabbit Isolated Heart Model

The rabbit isolated heart is one of the most commonly used models for cardiac electrophysiology research.¹⁴¹ Rabbit AP morphology is similar to that of humans, possessing a long calcium-dependent plateau phase (phase 2) (distinct from that of rodents)¹⁴², in addition to similarities in repolarization currents.¹⁴³ Furthermore, rabbit heart mass in relation to its electrophysiological wave characteristics has been theorized promote wave-patterns and vulnerability to arrhythmias similar to that in humans.¹⁴⁴ Rabbit hearts also share similarities to humans in intracellular calcium handling, namely during diastole ~70% of calcium is re-sequestered by the sarcoplasmic-reticulum ATPase (SERCA) and 30% is extruded by the sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX).¹⁴⁵ Anatomically speaking, the relative lack of collateral coronary artery circulation is advantageous for ischemia studies as it allows a more definitive demarcation of healthy and non-healthy regions.^{146,147}

Our experiments were performed in accordance with the ethical guidelines laid forth by the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Female New-Zealand White Rabbits (Charles River – Montreal, Canada) weighing 1.9-2.3 kg (~9-11 weeks of age)¹⁴⁸ were medically anesthetized *via* injection of pentobarbital (~140 mg/kg) (Cerva Sante Animale) and heparin (~2,000 units/kg) (#SLBL4709V, Sigma-Aldrich) into a branch of the marginal ear vein. Upon absence of pain withdrawal response to toe pinch and presence of pupillary dilation the anterior chest cavity inferior to the xiphoid process was rapidly opened. Hearts were exposed and swiftly excised from the chest cavity and placed in a receptacle containing Krebs-Henseleit (KH) and 0.1 mL heparin. The ascending aorta was located by blunt dissection and cut below the branch of the brachiocephalic artery and firmly secured to a Langendorff-apparatus with a 3-0 wax-coated silk suture.

The heart was perfused with warm (37 °C), oxygenated KH solution through two 11 µm diameter nylon net filters (#NY1102500, Millipore) arranged in parallel and into the ascending aorta in a retrograde fashion at a constant flow of ~20 mL/min (3-roller pump, Watson-Marlow). Effluent KH solution was recycled to the main circulation chamber through an additional nylon net filter, where it was re-perfused throughout all experiments unless otherwise stated. Flow rate was measured using a FLR1000 Series Flowmeter (Omega). Aortic perfusion pressure was measured using a lateral pressure transducer (#MLT0699, ADInstruments) located above the aorta.

Upon perfusion of the heart, superficial coronary artery vasculature was identified. A 3-0 surgical silk suture was placed around the ramus marginalis sinistra, with longitudinal location chosen to obtain a region of non-perfusion of ~40% ventricular mass with ligation, known to confer greatest arrhythmogenicity.^{149,150} To prevent build-up of perfusate within the LV with the presence of an intraventricular balloon, a drain was inserted into the apex through a left atrial incision and across the mitral orifice. Cardiac mechanical loading was

controlled by the insertion of a custom polyethylene balloon into the LV by the same route. The balloon was secured to the apex of the LV through the apical drain and mitral orifice *via* a surgical tie. The LV balloon was attached in series to a pressure transducer (#MLT0699, ADInstruments) and passively filled by an adjustable hydrostatic column. A modifiable snare was placed around the balloon-column tubing to adjust LV filling, such that diastolic pressure was ~5 mmHg. Hook electrodes were placed on the right atrial appendage and inferior-lateral right atrium for pacing the heart (at twice the voltage threshold). An image of the instrumented heart can be seen in Figure 2.3.

Hearts were placed in a controlled environment imaging chamber maintained at 37 °C and pH balanced to 7.4 with a carbon dioxide/nitrogen balanced gas mixture (5% CO₂, 95% N₂). Pseudo-ECG was recorded utilizing bath-conducting silver-chloride electrodes, with signals filtered using a 60 Hz notch filter. ECG, LV pressure (LVP), aortic perfusion pressure, aortic perfusion flow rate, chamber temperature, and heart rate were recorded and calculated using LabChart Pro (v8.0.7.) acquisition software.

2.2 Reagents

2.2.1 Krebs-Henseleit Solution

KH solution was prepared in advance at eight times concentration and diluted to one times on the day of experiment. All reagents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich unless otherwise stated. KH solution consisted of NaCl (120 mM), KCl (4.7 mM), NaH₂PO₄ (1.4 mM), MgCl₂ (1 mM), CaCl₂ (1.8 mM), Glucose (10 mM), and NaHCO₃ (24 mM). Solution was heated to 37 °C and oxygenated *via* medical grade oxygen/carbon dioxide balanced mixture (95% O₂, 5% CO₂). pH and osmolarity were ~7.4 and ~300 mOsm respectively.

2.2.II Voltage Sensitive Dye: di-4-ANBDQPQ

Epicardial electrical activity was imaged utilizing di-4-ANBDQPQ (di-4-PQ), a styryl based potentiometric fluorescent dye (27.4 mM stock in 100% EtOH; acquired from the University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT). di-4-PQ rapidly incorporates itself into the phospholipid bilayer of cells, exposing a photosensitive chromophore external to the cell.¹⁵¹ Alterations in the electrical field of the cell, as which occurs during depolarization, cause a conformational shift in the electron field distribution over the chromophore. These changes are reported as spectral shifts in the emitted fluorescence upon excitation. di-4-PQ can be excited between ~450 and 700 nm, resulting in emission >700 nm, with the percentage change in fluorescence varying with excitation wavelength (in the rabbit isolated heart ~470 nm results in maximal increase, ~640 nm results in maximal decrease, and there is no change in fluorescence with ~540 nm)¹⁵². di-4-PQ provides several benefits over its commonly used predecessor, di-4-ANNEPS, most notably its red-shifted excitation spectra, which allows imaging over a larger volume (depth) of tissue and greater temporal stability.¹⁵¹

2.2.III Calcium Indicator: Rhod-2 AM

Optical mapping of intracellular calcium was accomplished using rhodamine based calcium-indicator Rhod-2 AM (0.89 mM stock in dimethyl-sulfoxide, DMSO;#1209954, Thermofisher Scientific). Rhod-2 is a classified as a high affinity calcium indicator ($K_d = 570$ nM) which functions by increasing in fluorescence when bound to intra-cellular calcium.¹⁵³ Rhod-2 has been shown to be an optimal calcium indicator due to its longer excitation wavelength and 100-fold increase in fluorescence upon calcium binding.¹⁵⁴

Rhod-2 possesses a BAPTA-based component of its molecular structure, which allows it to capture available cytosolic calcium. The attached acetoxymethyl (AM) group allows its trans-membrane movement, and is cleaved by esterases once inside the cell, making it active and effectively locking it within the cell. To allow this esterase process to occur, we allowed thirty minutes following Rhod-2 loading. Importantly, this esterase period was always performed at physiological conditions (37 °C) to ensure optimal and rapid cleavage of the AM group.¹⁵⁵ Rhod-2 is most efficiently excited in the green wavelength of the light spectra (~557 nm) and maximal emission is slightly red shifted (~581 nm).¹⁵³

2.2.IV Electro-mechanical Uncoupler: Blebbistatin

When necessary, heart contraction was blocked by global perfusion of the excitation contraction uncoupler (±)blebbistatin (8 mM stock in DMSO #APN14190-1-1, Abcam). Blebbistatin is a myosin II inhibitor which impedes cross-bridge formation of actin-myosin complexes and thus halts contaction.¹⁵⁶ It has been shown that blebbistatin has minimal effects on electrophysiological properties, thus making it an effective tool to measure electrical changes in the absence of motion.¹⁵⁷

2.2.V Calcium Buffer: BAPTA AM

Buffering of intracellular calcium was accomplished with 1,2-bis(oaminophenoxy)ethane-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid (BAPTA) AM (10 mM stock in DMSO; #APN15002-1-1, Abcam). BAPTA functions by binding to free calcium, making use of four negatively charged carboxylic acid groups.

2.2. VI Ryanodine Receptor Stabilizers: JTV-519 and Dantrolene Sodium

JTV-519 has been previously reported to stabilize the RyR2 isoform specifically, reducing their open probability and calcium leak in heart failure models.¹⁵⁸ JTV-519 functions by securing the stabilizing protein FKBP 12.6 with the RyR2 channel.¹⁵⁹ During pilot experiments in contracting hearts, JTV-519 displayed adverse effects on physiology, namely promoting 2:1 block (n = 2), this finding warranted further investigation into its electrophysiological effects. In order to determine if it had adverse effects on electrophysiology, pilot experiments (n = 2) were performed with optical mapping in isolated non-contracting (by application of blebbistatin) rabbit hearts. JTV-519 was prepared as a 10 mM stock solution in DMSO (#112M4610V, Sigma). Following instrumentation, JTV-519 was diluted to 1 μ M and re-circulated for 20 minutes prior to ischemia. An alternative agent for RyR stabilization is dantrolene sodium, a supposedly RyR1-specific agent commonly used to treat malignant hyperthermia (#GR140326-8, Abcam).¹⁶³ Recently, there has been evidence that dantrolene may reduce the RyR2 spark frequency in isolated cardiomycytes.¹⁶⁴ Similar to JTV-519, pilot experiments (n = 2) were performed with optical mapping in isolated non-contracting (by application of blebbistatin) rabbit hearts to ensure no adverse effects on electrophysiology. As in previous studies, we utilized dantrolene at a dosage of 1 μ M, prepared as a stock of 10 mM dissolved in DMSO.^{164,165}

2.3 Optical Mapping

The surface of the LV was imaged during ARI while utilizing a variety of light emitting diodes (LEDs) and a high-resolution 5.5 megapixel sCMOS camera (Andor Zyla 5.5). Image area was 350 x 550 pixels, with a resolution of 167 µm/pixel. Depending upon the

research objective, either mono-parametric or dual-parametric optical mapping was performed.

2.3.1 Mono-Parametric

During mono-parametric optical mapping, epicardial electrical activity was measured. This was accomplished by utilizing the potentiometric voltage dye, di-4-PQ, as described in Section 2.2.II. Once loaded into the heart, di-4-PQ was excited (Ex) utilizing LEDs band filtered in the red wavelength of the visible spectra (Ex.2. 640 ± 10 nm; Figure 2.1). Emitted (Em) light was long-pass filtered (Em.2. > 670 nm) and collected utilizing our sCMOS camera, described above.

2.3.II Dual-Parametric

Dual-parametric optical mapping was utilized to quantify both epicardial voltage and intracellular calcium dynamics. Pseudo-simultaneous optical mapping was accomplished by alternating Rhod-2 AM and di-4-PQ excitation LEDs in a 1:1 ratio at a frequency of 520 frames per second (fps). Hardware for this capability was developed in collaboration with Dr. Illija Uzelac and Dr. Flavio Fenton (Department of Physics, Georgia Institute of Technology, GA). di-4-PQ and Rhod-2 AM were excited by red LEDs (Ex.2. 640 nm \pm 10 nm) and green LEDs (Ex.1. 550 \pm 10 nm), respectively, and emitted light was collected by a sCMOS camera through a multi-bandpass emission filter (Em.2. 800 \pm 100 nm; Em.1. 590 \pm 20 nm; Figure 2.1).

Important for this method is the fact that as di-4-PQ is a potentiometric voltage indicator, different excitation wavelengths correspond with different emission spectra. Pilot work was performed to ensure that while the excitation spectra of Rhod-2 AM excited di-

4-PQ, this fluorescence did not change with changes in voltage. This was done by utilizing a Rhod-2 AM excitation wavelength (Ex.1.) that did not report a spectral shift in Di-4-PQ upon tissue depolarization, known as the "isosbestic point".¹⁶⁶ Examination of the isosbestic point was performed in isolated non-contracting (blebbistatin) rabbit hearts measuring effects of Rhod-2 AM excitation wavelength (Ex.1. 540 ± 10 nm) in the presence of di-4-PQ, but absence of Rhod-2 AM.



Figure 2.1 Schematic of Dual-Parametric Optical Mapping

(A) Schematic of imaging set-up. Four LEDs excited (Ex) either Rhod-2 (Ex.1. = 550/20 nm) or di-4-PQ (Ex.2. = 640/20 nm) and emitted light (Em) was multi-bandpass filtered (Em.1. = 590/40 nm and Em.2. = 800/200 nm) and collected by a sCMOS camera. (B) Illustration highlighting the excitation and emission spectra for Rhod-2 and di-4-PQ. Boxes represent filtered excitation or emision spectra. (C) Example of alternation of frame acquisition and excitation LEDs.

2.4 Procedures

Figure 2.2. illustrates the experimental design utilized to address the main objectives of this thesis. The first part of this Section will address the protocol used to implement ARI in our animal model. This will provide the "back-bone" for all experiments. Once this has been addressed, the specific protocols used to address each of the specific aims will be described.



THE ROLE OF ALTERED CALCIUM-HANDLING IN MECHANICALLY-INDUCED ARRHYTHMIAS DURING ACUTE REGIONAL ISCHEMIA

Figure 2.2 Experimental Design

Each experiment utilized the same animal model (rabbit) and was preceded by Langendorff-perfusion and instrumentation. Addition of a variety of fluorescent and/or pharmacological agents was utilized to either investigate the role of, or modulate, altered calcium handling. Each of the objectives are outlined numerically in the order at which they are addressed. For ease of comparison, each group has been given the title shown in quotations.

2.4.1 Acute Regional Ischemia

Following Langendorff-perfusion, instrumentation, and addition of fluorescent dyes or pharmacological agents, the Langendorff-apparatus was switched from constant flow to constant pressure (80 mmHg, maintained by an elevated water-jacketed heated chamber). 'Pre-ligation control' optical mapping recordings were taken after a period of stabilization both in sinus rhythm and during atrial pacing (4 Hz, the mid-to-upper end of normal heart rate for rabbit species.^{148,167}). Immediately following control recordings, the snare containing the ligation suture was tightened and 60 minutes of ARI was initiated. Throughout the period of ischemia, pacing was continued at 4 Hz and either mono- or dualparametric optical mapping was performed every minute for a duration of 30 seconds $(\sim 15,000 \text{ frames})$. The intermittent recordings were necessary for dye photostability, LED cooling, and saving of data. During all experiments, the ECG in LabChart was monitored for arrhythmias. Following ischemia, 30 minutes of reperfusion was induced by releasing the coronary artery ligation. Immediately following each experiment, the coronary artery was re-ligated and red fluorescent microspheres (Fluoro-MaxTM 6 µm diameter, 1.25 mg/mL, Thermo Scientific) were injected through the aortic cannula. Red microspheres were then excited using green LEDs (540 \pm 10 nm) and emitted fluorescence was band filtered (620 ± 10 nm) and collected using our sCMOS camera, allowing identification of the perfused and non-perfused area (NPA) (Figure 2.3, right).



Figure 2.3 Acute Regional Ischemia in a Langendorff-Perfused Rabbit Isolated Heart

Hearts were perfused in retrograde fashion through an aortic cannula. Pacing electrodes were attached to the right atrium (RA) and LV loading was controlled *via* an intraventricular balloon (left). A ligation suture was placed around a branch of marginalis sinistra coronary artery. Area of non-perfusion was evaluated using fluorescent microspheres (right).

2.4.II Mechanically-Independent Alterations in Calcium Handling

In order to determine the underlying 'environment' of ischemia-induced changes in calcium handling in the absence of ischemia-induced mechanical alterations we measured changes in both voltage and calcium and their relation to each other in excitation-contraction uncoupled hearts (blebbistatin). This group of experiments will be referred to collectively as "*Dual-Imaging Uncoupled*" throughout this thesis. Dual-parametric optical mapping as described above was utilized for this method.

Pilot experiments ('*Rhod 2-(P)*', n = 2) were performed in isolated ECC-uncoupled rabbit hearts (10 μ M blebbistatin) to measure the change in fluorescence intensity with increasing amounts of Rhod-2 AM. In brief, this was accomplished by gradually increasing the volume of Rhod-2 injected through the aortic cannula followed by 30 minutes of incubation to allow the acetyl-methyl group to esterase.

Once the optimal amount of Rhod-2 AM was determined, we performed experiments with ARI in rabbit isolated hearts (n = 10). Hearts were isolated, perfused, and instrumented as described above (Section 2.1). Hearts were loaded with di-4-PQ voltage dye (20 µL of 27.3 mM stock injected into in the aortic cannula over 2 minutes), Rhod-2 AM (100 µL of 0.89 mM stock injected into in the aortic cannula over 1.5 minutes), and blebbistatin (10 µM in the perfusate), followed by a 30 minute rest period to allow for removal of the AM group from Rhod-2 and for blebbistatin to act. ARI was then induced as described above and dual optical mapping performed by alternating excitation of di-4-PQ and Rhod-2 AM.

2.4.III Mechanically-Dependent Alterations in Calcium Handling

The role of calcium as the driving-event for mechanically-dependent arrhythmias was investigated through the dual-optical mapping of voltage and calcium in a group of isolated contracting rabbit hearts during ARI (n = 10). This group of experiments will be referred to collectively as "*Rhod-2*" throughout this thesis. Similar to that described above, di-4-PQ and Rhod-2 AM were loaded into the heart through an injection port in the aorta prior to ischemia. However, to increase the calcium signal, a larger amount of Rhod-2 AM (310 µL of 0.89 mM stock) was loaded.

2.4.IV Effect of Calcium Buffering on Arrhythmogenesis

Buffering cytosolic calcium may prevent surges in cytosolic calcium and reduce the incidence of calcium-driven afterdepolarizations. This was investigated in isolated contracting rabbit hearts (described above) loaded with di-4-PQ for mono-parametric optical mapping of voltage and BAPTA AM (n = 10). This group of experiments will be referred to collectively as "*BAPTA*" throughout this thesis. The working concentration of BAPTA was determined in pilot experiments ('*BAPTA-(P)*'; n = 2) as the value at which contraction was affected to the same minimal degree as with Rhod-2. For experiments with ARI, BAPTA AM (0.1μ M) was re-circulated for 30 minutes, followed by an additional 30 minute period of BAPTA AM free perfusion. Following BAPTA AM incubation, ARI was induced as described above.

2.4.V Effect of RyR Stabilization on Arrhythmogenesis

Calcium leak from RyR may play an important role in calcium-dependent arrhythmias during ARI. To address the potential role of RyR leak we made use of RyR-stabilizer Dantrolene Sodium in isolated loaded contracting rabbit hearts (n = 10). This group of experiments will be referred to collectively as "*Dantrolene*" throughout this thesis. Hearts were isolated and instrumented as described above. di-4-PQ was incorporated into the hearts for mono-parametric optical mapping. 20 minutes prior to the initiation of ischemia, dantrolene (1 µM) was loaded into the main perfusion apparatus. Following incubation with dantrolene, hearts were subjected to 60 minutes of ARI (described above).

2.5 Data Analysis

2.5.1 Non-Perfused Area Analysis

Following fluorescent microsphere injection post ischemia, hearts were removed from the Langendorff-apparatus and ventricles were separated from the atria and frozen. 2 mm cross-sectional slices of the heart were made and transmural distribution of fluorescent microspheres were analyzed by excitation using green LEDs (542 ± 54 nm) and captured using a color CCD camera (The Imaging Source, Charlotte, NC). Non-perfused area was quantified using custom MatLab software to manually select total area and area of nonperfusion (Figure 2.4). Data is reported as a percentage of total ventricular mass. Hearts were excluded if NPA% was < 25%. Total Volume (cm*3): 4.20 Non-perfused Volume (cm*3): 1.73 Ischaemic Volume (cm*3): 0 Ischaemic Percentage (%): 41.2





Post-experimental quantification of NPA. 2 mm cross Sectional slices presented in apical-basal order beginning top left. Red fluorescent microspheres delineate region of perfusion.

2.5.II Hemodynamic Analysis

Hemodynamic changes in response to pharmacological interventions, Rhod-2 AM dye, and ARI were analyzed to report their effect on LV function. Data were selected from periods of pacing (4 Hz) to control for rate-dependent effects. Measurements included peak LVP, diastolic LVP, developed pressure (peak LVP – diastolic LVP), maximal rate of developed pressure (dP/dt_{max}), LVP decay constant (τ_{LVP}), and maximal rate of pressure decay (dP/dt_{min}), analyzed using custom Matlab routines. Time points included pre- and post-drug/indicator intervention, in addition to pre- and post-coronary artery ligation. Changes in rate of flow and perfusion pressure in response to coronary artery ligation were also recorded and averaged over 30 seconds. Any experiment that did not have a preligation flow rate of \geq 15 mL/min was excluded, as prior experience associated lower flow rates with adverse effects on hemodynamics.

2.5.III Arrhythmia Analysis

Arrhythmia analysis was performed by examination of LabChart ECG waveforms. Excitation occurring independent of pacing stimulation was deemed an arrhythmia. Arrhythmias were categorized using a classification system similar to Coronel *et al.*¹². Single ectopic excitations were denoted as 'premature ventricular excitations (PVEs)'. Two PVEs in immediate succession were classified as 'doublets'. Events of three or more PVEs in succession were classified as "tachyarrhythmias", including both ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation. In the instance of sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmias lasting in excess of 5 minutes, data was excluded from the group mean. Examples of each type of arrhythmia is presented in Figure 2.5. Arrhythmias were enumerated and binned into 5 minute periods,
and were grouped as Phase IA (0 – 20 minutes) or Phase IB (20 – 45 minutes). Arrhythmia incidence was compared to previously acquired data from loaded, contracting hearts¹⁴, with significance assessed across groups using one-way ANOVA and Tukey *post hoc* tests, using a threshold of p < 0.05.



Figure 2.5 Example of Arrhythmia Classification

(A) Premature Ventricular Excitation (PVE); (B) Doublet; (C) Tachyarrhythmia. Top - electrocardiogram (ECG), Bottom - left ventficular pressure (LVP). (*) Denotes atrial pacing spike, (#) denotes QRS complex.

2.5.IV Optical Mapping Analysis

Dual-parametric optical mapping was utilized to examine the mechanicallyindependent, ischemia-induced changes in voltage and calcium in the 'Dual-Imaging Uncoupled' experiments. Recordings immediately prior to ischemia ("Pre-Ligation Paced") and at 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 45, and 60 minutes of ischemia were analyzed. From these time periods, the first 2,500 frames of optical mapping data were selected, and voltage and calcium signals were split. The ischemic border zone was superimposed onto the optical mapping data using the post-experiment red fluorescent microspheres image. Images were spatially filtered using a 11 x 11 box filter. 11 regions of interest (ROIs) of 1 \times 1 mm (6 \times 6 pixels) were placed across the ischemic border zone (from healthy to ischemic tissue) (Figure 2.6). Average signals for each ROI were temporally filtered using a 60 Hz low-pass filter. AP and CaT signals were then analyzed and measurements of upstroke velocity (first derivative of change in fluorescence; dF_V/dt_{max} and dF_{Ca}/dt_{max} , respectively), duration (time from peak upstroke to 50% and 80% recovery; APD_{50} , CaTD₅₀, APD₈₀, CaTD₈₀), and the period over which calcium was elevated during electrical diastole (difference between CaTD and APD at 50 and 80% recovery, *i.e.*, CaTD₅₀ – APD₅₀, $CaTD_{80} - APD_{80}$) were averaged over 12 cardiac cycles. CaT decay time constant (τ_{Ca}) was calculated between 50% and 80% recovery. Calcium transient alternans (CaT-ALT) and action potential duration alternans (APD-ALT), characterized by alternation of high and low amplitude calcium release or long and short APD¹⁶⁸, was measured by taking the absolute value of % change between two successive beats¹⁶⁹. Over the 12 successive cardiac cycles analyzed, any value outside two standard deviations of the mean was eliminated and the average of the remaining measurements was recorded. The averages for

each experiment were combined to obtain a group mean for each distinct time and region of interest (ROI). Two-way ANOVA was used to assess variations *between* factors (time and ROI) and one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* tests was used to assess variations *within* factors (time or ROI), with a significance level of p < 0.05.

Analysis of dual-parametric optical mapping was utilized to examine arrhythmias occurring during *Rhod-2* experiments to determine if calcium-driven depolarizations were occurring. This was accomplished by utilizing custom Matlab software on captured arrhythmias and examining optical data from the arrhythmic event. Should focal epicardial excitation occur, the temporal relationship between calcium and voltage was examined to determine is calcium release had preceded membrane excitation.



Figure 2.6 Representative Ischemic Zone and Regions of Interest (ROIs)

Selected ROIs (left) and their corresponding averaged signals (right) at 20 minutes of ischemia. +5 (navy blue) = most healthy region, -5 (turquoise) = most ischemic region. Solid lines represent action potentials (APs), dashed lines represent calcium transients (CaTs).

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Mechanically-Independent Alterations in Calcium Handling

3.1.1 Effect of Increasing Rhod-2 Volume on Fluorescence

Measuring the effects of ischemia on morphology of the AP and CaT required the absence of motion artifact. As such, this group of experiments was performed in isolated uncoupled (blebbistatin) hearts. In two pilot experiments referred to as '*Rhod-2-(P)*', we examined the effect of increasing amounts of Rhod-2 on CaT fluorescence. Figure 3.1 A is representative data of CaT signals with increasing amounts of fluorescent indicator. Figure 3.1 B is a quantification of the change in diastolic and systolic fluorescence (primary y-axis; bottom and top of black bar respectively) and the corresponding increase in CaT amplitude (secondary y-axis). It was found that while diastolic fluorescence continually increased with increasing amount of Rhod-2, there was no discernable gain in signal amplitude beyond 100 μ L.



Figure 3.1 Determination of Optimal Rhod-2 Volume

Pilot experiment '*Rhod-2-(P)*' to determine the optimal amount of calcium indicator. (A) Representation of calcium transient (CaT) fluorescence at increasing bolus injections of Rhod-2 AM. Fluorescence is quantified (B) with CaT minimum (diastolic) and maximum (systolic) fluorescence levels indicated on the primary y-axis and amplitude on the secondary y-axis.

3.1.II Ischemia-Induced Alterations in Intracellular Calcium Handling

The ischemia-induced changes in the cytosolic calcium 'environment' and its relation to voltage was investigated by dual-parametric optical mapping of both voltage and calcium in mechanically uncoupled rabbit hearts ('*Dual-Imaging Uncoupled*'; n = 10). Figure 3.2 (A) and (B) show the qualitative changes in AP and CaT morphology during the first 30 minutes of ischemia in the ischemic region. These changes are quantified in Figures 3.3 -3.5.

The rate of depolarization (dF_V/dt_{max}) was significantly reduced by 5 minutes of ischemia within the ischemic region (Figure 3.3 A) compared to pre-ligation values (Figure 3.3 C). Compared to healthy tissue dF_V/dt_{max} was reduced at 15 minutes with slight recovery by 30 minutes (Phase IB) (Figure 3.3 E). The rate of change of calcium (dF_{Ca}/dt_{max}) followed similar dynamics, but showed a smaller overall change (Figure 3.3 B, D, and F). Changes in APD₅₀, APD₈₀, CaTD₅₀, and CaTD₈₀ had different time courses, and displayed temporal disparities. APD₅₀ was significantly shortened by 10 minutes within the ischemic region and ischemic border zone (Figure 3.4 A) compared to pre-ligation values (Figure 3.4 C). Compared to healthy tissue, APD₅₀ was reduced at 15 minutes and did not recover in Phase IB (Figure 3.4 E). Reduction of CaTD₅₀ (Figure 3.4 B), on the other hand, was delayed until 15 minutes of ischemia, recovered by 45 minutes, and showed a smaller overall change (Figure 3.4 D). Changes in APD₈₀ were similar to APD₅₀ (Figure 3.5 A, C, and E), but showed a slight recovery in Phase IB. CaTD₈₀ for the most part remained unaffected (Figure 3.5 B), only reaching significance by 45 minutes within the ischemic region (-4 mm) (Figure 3.5 D). There also appeared to be a trend towards reductions in CaTD₈₀ in Phase IB (Figure 3.5 F).



Figure 3.2 Qualitative Changes in Voltage and Calcium Transient Morphologies

Representation of changes in AP (A) and CaT (B) morphology over 30 minutes of ischemia at – 5 mm from ischemic border zone (IBZ).



Figure 3.3 Alterations in the dFv/dtmax and dFca/dtmax during ARI

Changes in voltage (left) and calcium (right) presented as: (A - B) 2-dimensional surfaceplots; (C - D) temporal changes at four distinct ROIs (Healthy Zone, 4 mm; IBZ, 0 mm; Mid-Ischemic Zone, -2 mm; Ischemic Zone, -4 mm), and; (E – F) spatial differences across the IBZ during Pre-ligation, Phase IA, and Phase IB. Data represented as means \pm SEM (n = 10). (*) For C - D denotes significance compared to 0 min; for E - F denotes significance compared to 5 mm (p < 0.05).



Figure 3.4 Alterations APD50 and CaTD50 during ARI

Changes in voltage (left) and calcium (right) presented as: (A - B) 2-dimensional surfaceplots; (C - D) temporal changes at four distinct ROIs (Healthy Zone, 4 mm; IBZ, 0 mm; Mid-Ischemic Zone, -2 mm; Ischemic Zone, -4 mm), and; (E – F) spatial differences across the IBZ during Pre-ligation, Phase IA, and Phase IB. Data represented as means \pm SEM (n = 10). (*) For C - D denotes significance compared to 0 min; for E - F denotes significance compared to 5 mm (p < 0.05).



Figure 3.5 Alterations APD80 and CaTD80 during ARI

Changes in voltage (left) and calcium (right) presented as: (A - B) 2-dimensional surfaceplots; (C - D) temporal changes at four distinct ROIs (Healthy Zone, 4 mm; IBZ, 0 mm; Mid-Ischemic Zone, -2 mm; Ischemic Zone, -4 mm), and; (E – F) spatial differences across the IBZ during Pre-ligation, Phase IA, and Phase IB. Data represented as means \pm SEM (n = 10). (*) For C - D denotes significance compared to 0 min; for E - F denotes significance compared to 5 mm (p < 0.05).

While the changes in both electrical activity and calcium handling may play important independent roles in the arrhythmogeniecity of the heart during ARI, intracellular calcium and voltage have been shown to be inexorably linked.¹⁷⁰ As such, their transient durations in relation to each other may also be important. Figure 3.6 displays representative APs and CaTs at 0, 5, 20, and 30 minutes of ischemia within the ischemic region. Changes are quantified in Figure 3.7. The difference between CaTD₅₀ and APD₅₀ (Figure 3.7 A) was significantly increased by 10 minutes in the ischemic region, and by 15 minutes at the ischemic border, plateauing after 30 minutes (Figure 3.7 C). The difference between CaTD₈₀ and APD₈₀ (Figure 3.7 B), on the other hand, was increased by 5 minutes, and returned to normal values by 45 min (Figure 3.7 D). Values of τ_{Ca} are shown in Figure 3.8. τ_{Ca} was increased by 10 minutes in the ischemic region, with slight recovery by 45 minutes (Figure 3.8 B).



Figure 3.6 Qualitative Temporal Changes in APD and CaTD

AP (blue) and CaT (red) morphology in the most ischemic region (-5 mm) giving rise to a vulnerable window for arrhythmias to occur. Changes at occurring at: (A) 0 minutes; (B) 5 minutes; (C) 20 minutes, and; (D) 30 minutes of ARI.



Figure 3.7 Alterations CaTD – APD Difference

Changes in voltage and calcium transient durations to 50% recovery (left) and 80% recovery (right) presented as: (A - B) 2-dimensional surface-plots; (C - D) temporal changes at four distinct ROIs (Healthy Zone, 4 mm; IBZ, 0 mm; Mid-Ischemic Zone, -2 mm; Ischemic Zone, -4 mm), and; (E – F) spatial differences across the IBZ during Preligation, Phase IA, and Phase IB. Data represented as means \pm SEM (n = 10). (*) For C - D denotes significance compared to 0 min; for E - F denotes significance compared to 5 mm (p < 0.05).



Figure 3.8 Alterations CaT Time Constant to Recovery

Changes in τ between 50% and 80% recovery presented as: (A) 2-dimensional surfaceplot; (B) temporal changes at four distinct ROIs (Healthy Zone, 4 mm; IBZ, 0 mm; Mid-Ischemic Zone, -2 mm; Ischemic Zone, -4 mm); (C) spatial differences across the IBZ during Pre-ligation, Phase IA, and Phase IB. Data represented as means \pm SEM (n = 10). (*) For C - D denotes significance compared to 0 min; for E - F denotes significance compared to 5 mm (p < 0.05). We also measured the prevalence of both CaT-ALT and APD-ALT, conditions characterized by the alternation of high and low amplitude calcium release or long and short APD, respectively.¹⁶⁸ CaT-ALT has been shown to frequently occur during ARI.^{171,172} Changes in amplitude greater than 10% or changes in duration greater than 4 milliseconds between two successive activations were considered CaT alternans and AP alternans, respectively.¹⁶⁹ Figure 3.9 illustrates the absolute difference in APD (left) and % change in CaT amplitude (right) and over successive beats. There is a trend of increasing APD-ALT in the ischemic region (Figure 3.9 A), which surpasses the 4 millisecond guideline (set forth by Pruvot *et al.*¹⁶⁹) and becomes significant at 45 minutes. (Figure 3.9 C). CaT-ALT on the other hand reached significance by 10 minutes in the ischemic region (Figure 3.9 B, D, and F).



Figure 3.9 Calcium Transient Amplitude and Action Potential Duration Alternans

Absolute difference in action potential duration (left) and absolute percent change of calcium transient amplitude (right) between two successive transients during ARI shown as: (A - B) 2-dimensional surface-plots; (C - D) temporal changes at four distinct ROIs (Healthy Zone, 4 mm; IBZ, 0 mm; Mid-Ischemic Zone, -2 mm; Ischemic Zone, -4 mm), and; (E - F) spatial differences across the IBZ during Pre-ligation, Phase IA, and Phase IB. Data represented as means \pm SEM (n = 10). (*) For C - D denotes significance compared to 0 min; for E - F denotes significance compared to 5 mm (p < 0.05).

3.1.III Effect of Electro-Mechanical Uncoupling on Arrhythmogenesis

In addition to measuring changes in voltage and calcium during regional ischemia, we also examined the effects of mechanical uncoupling on the incidence of arrhythmias. Previous data from our laboratory has shown that uncoupling with blebbistatin significantly reduces the incidence of arrhythmias during ARI compared to loaded, contracting hearts, an effect that was recapitulated in the current study (Figure 3.10). During these experiments no instances of sustained or non-sustained tachyarrhythmias were experienced.



Figure 3.10 Incidence of Arrhythmias in *Uncoupled Dual Imaging* and *Loaded* during ARI

Average incidence of arrhythmias during 60 minutes of acute regional ischemia in (A) *Uncoupled Dual Imaging*, and; (B) *Loaded*, groups. Premature Ventricular Excitation (PVE); Ventricular Tachyarrhythmias (VTs).

3.2 Mechanically Dependent Alterations in Calcium Handling

To assess the potential role of calcium in driving mechanically-dependent arrhythmias during ARI, we optically mapped both voltage and calcium in isolated contracting rabbit hearts - '*Rhod-2*' (n = 10). During these experiments we did not observe any ventricular ectopy being driven by calcium. However, there was a significant reduction in the incidence of PVEs during Phase IB when compared to data from loaded, contracting hearts ('*Loaded'*), suggesting that mechanically-dependent arrhythmias were abolished in this group (Figure 3.11 D). During these experiments, 5 of 10 hearts experienced non-sustained ventricular fibrillation. Furthermore, one experiment was excluded due to sustained ventricular fibrillation.



Figure 3.11 Incidence of Arrhythmias During Rhod-2 and Loaded during ARI

Average incidence of arrhythmias during 60 minutes of acute regional ischemia in (A) *Rhod-2*, and; (B) *Loaded*, groups. Incidence of arrhythmias per minute (min⁻¹) during (C) Phase IA (0 – 20 minutes), and; (D) Phase IB (20 – 45 minutes). Premature Ventricular Excitation (PVE); Ventricular Tachyarrhythmias (VTs). (*) Denotes significance from *Loaded*. (Two-Tailed Unpaired T-Test, p < 0.05).

3.3 Effect of Calcium Buffering on Arrhythmogenesis

3.3.1 The Effect of BAPTA on Arrhythmogenesis

The reduction in the incidence of arrhythmias in hearts loaded with the fluorescent indicator Rhod-2 may be the result of the indicator binding to cytosolic calcium, and thus acting as a buffer.¹⁵³ This may be seen as a reasonable conclusion as much of Rhod-2's molecular structure is based around a known calcium chelator (BAPTA). In order to support the idea that the change in the incidence of arrhythmias with loading of Rhod-2 was the result of calcium chelation, we performed experiments in hearts with BAPTA AM ('*BAPTA*'; n = 10). First, to determine the concentration of BAPTA that produced a similar degree of calcium buffering to Rhod-2, we performed a pilot study to compare the hemodynamic response with varying concentrations of BAPTA to that with Rhod-2 ('*BAPTA-(P*)'; n = 2) as calcium is the main signaling molecule for contraction, contractile force is related to the degree of calcium availability). It was found that concentrations as low as 0.1 μ M of BAPTA produced a reduction in developed pressure similar to that of Rhod-2.

Figure 3.12 shows that application of 0.1 μ M BAPTA AM resulted in a reduction in the incidence arrhythmias over 60 minutes of ARI compared to our control (*Loaded*) group. During Phase IA, there was a trend towards a reduction in the incidence of single and sustained arrhythmias when compared to *Loaded* (Figure 3.12 C). During Phase IB, BAPTA resulted in a significant reduction in the incidence of PVEs when compared to the *Loaded* group (Figure 3.12 D). In 2 of 10 experiments, non-sustained ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation were observed.



Figure 3.12 Incidence of Arrhythmias During BAPTA and Loaded during ARI

Average incidence of arrhythmias during 60 minutes of acute regional ischemia in (A) *BAPTA*, and; (B) *Loaded*, groups. Incidence of arrhythmias per minute (min⁻¹) during (C) Phase IA (0 – 20 minutes), and; (D) Phase IB (20 – 45 minutes). Premature Ventricular Excitation (PVE); Ventricular Tachyarrhythmias (VTs). (*) Denotes significance from *Loaded*. (Two-Tailed Unpaired T-Test, p < 0.05).

3.4 Effect of RyR Stabilization on Arrhythmogenesis

3.4.1 Effect of RyR Stabilizers on Tissue Electrophysiology

In consideration of side-effects experienced while utilizing JTV-519 in loaded contracting hearts (2:1 block), the effects of RyR2 (JTV-519) and RyR1 (dantrolene) stabilizers on tissue electrophysiology was investigated during pilot studies. The effects of JTV-519 (1 μ M) and dantrolene (1 μ M) on APD₈₀ and dF_V/dt_{max} were assessed in isolated non-contracting (blebbistatin) hearts (*'JTV-519-(P)'*, n = 2; *'Dantrolene-(P)'*, n = 4). Figure 3.14 illustrates the change in APD₈₀ and dF_V/dt_{max} after 30 minutes of perfusion with dantrolene or JTV-519. 1 μ M JTV-519 caused a significant reduction in dF_V/dt_{max} and a trend towards increased APD₈₀. After 30 minutes, the ability to pace at 4 Hz was lost in one heart, resulting in a 2:1 rhythm. In contrast, with dantrolene there was no change in APD₈₀, and dF_V/dt_{max} was reduced to a lesser extent than with JTV-519 (Figure 3.14 (black box)). Furthermore, during *'Dantrolene-(P)'* experiments there was no loss of pace capture. As such, dantrolene was selected as the pharmacological agent for stabilization of RyR channels in our principal experiments.



Figure 3.13 Effect of RyR Stabilizers JTV-519 and Dantrolene on Electrophysiology in

Isolated Uncoupled Hearts.

Change in maximal rate of change in fluorescence (dF_V/dt_{max}) and action potential duration to 80% repolarization (APD₈₀) in *Dantrolene-(P)* (black) and *JTV-519-(P)* (grey) experiments.

3.4.II Effect of RyR Stabilization on Arrhythmogenesis

The effect of RyR stabilization on the incidence of arrhythmias was examined in *Dantrolene* (n = 13). Data presented in Figure 3.14, shows the incidence of arrhythmias during 60 minutes of ARI in (A) *Dantrolene* and (B) *Loaded* hearts. During Phase IA there was no significant reduction in the incidence of single or sustained arrhythmias when compared to *Loaded* (Figure 3.14 C). During Phase IB however, Dantrolene, resulted in a significant reduction in the incidence of PVEs during Phase IB when compared to *Loaded* data (Figure 3.14 D). During dantrolene experiments, non-sustained ventricular tachycardia was experienced in 4 of 13 hearts, while non-sustained ventricular fibrillation.



Figure 3.14 Incidence of Arrhythmias During Dantrolene and Loaded during ARI

Average incidence of arrhythmias during 60 minutes of acute regional ischemia in (A) *Dantrolene*, and; (B) *Loaded*, groups. Incidence of arrhythmias per minute (min⁻¹) during (C) Phase IA (0 – 20 minutes), and; (D) Phase IB (20 – 45 minutes). Premature Ventricular Excitation (PVE); Ventricular Tachyarrhythmias (VTs). (*) Denotes significance from *Loaded*. (Two-Tailed Unpaired T-Test, p < 0.05).

3.5 Phase Analysis of Previously Reported Arrhythmia Incidence during ARI

The effect of calcium chelation and RyR stabilization on the incidence of arrhythmias revealed changes specific to Phase IB. We examined data previously collected by our laboratory examining the effects of mechanics on ARI arrhythmias,¹⁴ segregating it into Phase IA and IB. Reduced ventricular load (*Unloaded*) and pharmacological uncoupling (Blebbistatin - *Non-Contracting*) reduced the incidence of both Phase IA and Phase IB PVEs when compared to *Loaded* (Figure 3.15 A and B). In addition, reducing ventricular load or inhibiting mechanics resulted in a significant reduction in the incidence of doublets compared to *Loaded* during Phase IA (Figure 3.15 A). During *Loaded* experiments, non-sustained ventricular tachycardia was observed in 5 of 10 experiments, however there were no instances of non-sustained ventricular fibrillation.



Figure 3.15 Incidence of Arrhythmias during Altered Mechanics during ARI

Average incidence of arrhythmias in *Loaded*, *Unloaded*, and *Non-contracting* groups during ARI. Incidence of arrhythmias per minute (min⁻¹) during (A) Phase IA (0 – 20 minutes), and; (B) Phase IB (20 – 45 minutes). (*) Denotes significance from *Loaded*. (One-Way ANOVA, p < 0.05).

3.6 Non-Perfused Area and Hemodynamic Group Comparisons

The size of the ischemic zone is an important factor in arrhythmogenesis.¹⁵⁰ In order to affirm similar sizes of non-perfusion in all experimental models, the quantification of the region of non-perfusion induced by coronary artery ligation was assessed utilizing fluorescent microspheres (example shown in Figure 2.3.). Figure 3.16 presents the percentage area of non-perfusion and the related percentage reduction in coronary artery flow with artery ligation. One-way ANOVA showed no significant difference across the groups.





Upon Ligation

Data presented as mean \pm SEM.

Changes in LV function in response to loading of Rhod-2, BAPTA, and dantrolene were analyzed and are reported in Figure 3.17. All three agents resulted in a decrease in developed pressure and the maximum rate of pressure decay (dP/dt_{min}) compared to baseline. When compared to each other, dP/dt_{max} differed between dantrolene and BAPTA, developed pressure differed between dantrolene and BAPTA / Rhod-2, dP/dt_{min} differed between all groups, and there was no significant variation in τ_{LVP} .



Figure 3.17 Hemodynamic Changes in Response to Intervention

Changes in hemodynamics for each experimental group as a percent change from baseline (pre-intervention) values. Black boxes represent dP/dt_{max}; dark grey boxes represent developed pressure; light grey boxes represent dP/dt_{min}, and; white boxes represent τ_{LVP} . Data presented as mean \pm SEM. (n = 10 for *Rhod-2* and *BAPTA*; n = 13 for *Dantrolene*). (*) Denotes significance from baseline, ($\#_R$, $\#_B$, $\#_D$) denotes significance from Rhod-2, BAPTA, or Dantrolene, respectively. (One-Way ANOVA, p < 0.05).

In light of reductions in developed pressure with application of Rhod-2 and pharmacological agents, it was essential to ensure that contraction was not significantly reduced compared to our control group (*Loaded*). Assessment of developed and end diastolic pressure both with and without pacing immediately prior to induction of ARI is displayed in Figure 3.18 for all contracting groups. This shows that values for developed pressure were mostly similar across the groups, with *BAPTA* having lower values than *Rhod-2 / Dantrolene* without pacing and *Loaded* having lower values than *Rhod-2 / BAPTA* with pacing. The fact that *BAPTA* and *Rhod-2* hearts displayed a slightly higher developed pressure prior to the initiation of ARI than *Loaded* Supports the notion that difference in arrhythmia incidence were not due to direct effects on cardiac mechanical function. There was no difference in end diastolic pressure across the groups.





Changes in (A) developed pressure and (B) end diastolic pressure in each experimental group immediately prior to the induction of regional ischemia. Unfilled and filled boxes represent values during normal sinus rhythm and pacing (4 Hz) respectively. Data presented as mean \pm SEM. (*) Denotes significance between groups. (One-Way ANOVA, p < 0.05).
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Sudden Cardiac Death is a major cause of death in the developed world, including here in Canada. A major cause of SCD is the development of coronary artery stenosis, artery occlusion, and subsequent ischemia. During acute ischemic events sustained arrhythmias can reduce the heart's efficacy to pump blood and result in rapid syncope and death. Interestingly, arrhythmias may occur early during ischemia in the absence of cell-death and tissue necrosis. Arrhythmias arising within the first hour of ischemia occur biphasically, with the first and well documented Phase IA being attributed to changes in tissue electrophysiology. However, current literature does not fully address physiological changes occurring beyond 20 minutes of ischemia, during which the more lethal sustained arrhythmias such as VF predominantly occur. One of the suggested mechanisms for Phase IB arrhythmias is the feedback of changes in the mechanical function of the heart to its electrical activity, which has been supported by recent data from our laboratory, and may act through mechanically-induced alterations in intracellular calcium handling. As such, it was the main goal of this thesis to investigate the contribution of abnormal calcium handling to mechanically-dependent arrhythmias during ARI in the isolated rabbit heart.

4.1 Mechanically-independent, Ischemia-induced Changes in Calcium Handling

As the principal purpose of this thesis was to investigate the potential contribution of altered calcium handling to mechanically-induced arrhythmias during ARI, it was pertinent to first investigate mechanically-independent, ischemia-induced CaT changes in our model and how they relate to changes in the AP. This was accomplished by performing dual-parametric optical mapping of voltage and calcium in electromechanically uncoupled isolated hearts (*'Dual Imaging Uncoupled'*).

Our findings (Section 3.1) illustrate that during ARI, there are rapid changes in electrophysiology, in agreement with previous investigations. Most notably, we observed a swift depression in dF_V/dt_{max} , APD₈₀, and AP amplitude, similar to that shown by Janse *et al.*⁷⁷ The mechanisms of these changes have been addressed in detail in Section 1.2 and are mainly the result of alterations in extracellular potassium, acidification, and anoxia.³⁹ Here we have also shown a similar rapid decline in dF_{Ca}/dt_{max} and CaT amplitude within the first 5 minutes of ischemia. These findings recapitulate prior literature, which has shown that between 2 and 5 minutes of ischemia both CaT amplitude and rate of SR calcium release are significantly impaired.¹⁷³ The rapid effects of ischemia on the rate of calcium release may reflect a relative desensitization of the RyR channels to calcium-activation due to the accumulation of hydrogen ions.¹⁷⁴

As ischemia progressed into Phase IB, CaT amplitude continued to decrease, while dF_{Ca}/dt_{max} partly recovered. These changes have been shown by others to be accompanied by an increase in the diastolic level of calcium in the cytosol, which plateaus at around 3 - 4.5 times that of initial values between 10 and 30 minutes.^{67,175} The mechanism of increased cytosolic calcium is thought to be related to the activation of NCX in reverse-mode, to extrude accumulating intracellular sodium as reductions in intracellular pH activate the sodium-hydrogen exchanger (NHE) to maintain homeostasis.^{176,177} During Phase 1B, however, NHE is progressively inhibited by acidosis and its activity may be greatly reduced, partly accounting for the plateau in cytosolic calcium.⁶³ Interestingly, rises in diastolic fluorescence in similar magnitudes to that of prior literature were not observed in our study, however this may be explained as moderately acidic environments (pH < 6.6) reduce the affinity of Rhod-2 for calcium in a linear manner.¹⁷⁵ The recovery of dF_{Ca}/dt_{max}

during Phase IB may be attributed to endogenous catecholamine release⁸⁸ facilitating PKAdependent RyR phosphorylation and increased sensitization to calcium-induced calcium release¹⁷⁸. Furthermore, these catecholamines may increase conductance through $I_{Ca(L)}$, which has shown increased sensitivity to β -AR stimulation during hypoxia.^{179,180} This increased conductance would facilitate an increase in the coupling gain seen within the dyad. Increased ROS has also been shown to occur rapidly during ischemia in both isolated cells^{140,181} and intact hearts,¹⁸² which may amplify $I_{Ca(L)}$ current density¹⁸³ or RyR2 sensitivity,¹⁸⁴ *via* redox modification.^{185,186} As ischemic contracture begins to occur, ATP sparing may also allow partial recovery of both excitability and calcium release.

CaTD₅₀ displayed significant shortening within the first 10 minutes of ARI in our experiments (followed by partial recovery), while CaTD₈₀ was not reduced until 45 minutes. The lack of change in CaTD₈₀ may be explained by the increase in τ during ischemia, which by 10 minutes was two times greater within the ischemic region (Figure 3.8). This is in agreement with Venkataraman *et al.* who showed that after 15 minutes of regional ischemia in isolated murine hearts there is a dramatic increase in τ , while transient duration remains unaltered.¹⁸⁷ This change in τ may relate to the slowed extrusion of calcium by NCX, as it begins to function in reverse-mode, as well as impairment of SR calcium uptake by the sarcoplasmic-reticulum ATPase pump (SERCA2a). While expression of SERCA2a at 30 minutes of ischemia has been shown to be unchanged, reduced [ATP_i] and dephosphorylation of the inhibitory protein phospholamban (PLB) by calcineurin activated protein phosphatase-1 will result in impaired SERCA2a activity and reduced calcium re-sequesteration.¹⁸⁸ Chen *et al.* have shown that over 30 minutes of ischemia there is no significant change in the content of the SR, despite a slight trend

upwards, suggesting equivocal impairment to both release and reuptake mechanisms.⁶⁷ These findings are not unanimous, however, as it has been shown in isolated wedge preparations that low-flow and no-flow ischemia depresses CaTD to a similar extent as APD by 15 minutes.¹⁸⁹ Discrepancies may relate to differences between regionally and globally ischemic tissue, where in addition to increased heterogeneity there exists coupling of ischemic and healthy tissue. In addition, while *low flow* ischemia simulates some effects of ARI (hypoxia, acidosis), there remains the potential for the remaining perfusion to prevent extracellular buildup of ions and metabolites (such as potassium). The recovery seen in APD₅₀ and APD₈₀ may be the result of improved metabolic status as contraction is reduced. Additionally, catecholamine release may stimulate glycogenolysis and increase the availability of glucose for anaerobic catabolism and ATP production. Combined, these effects would alter the ADP:ATP ratio, potentially reducing the activity of I_{KATP} . Furthermore, increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ have been shown to reduce the activity of I_{KATP} in skeletal myocytes,¹⁹⁰ which may have interesting consequences in our model where calcium overload is commonly reported. The genesis of a persistent late-sodium current has been shown to occur during ischemia, potentially providing an additional means by which prolongation of the APD occurs.¹⁹¹

As voltage and calcium are coupled systems, temporally distinct changes may contribute to arrhythmogenicity. As such, we analysed the difference between CaTD and APD during ARI, which reflects the period during which intracellular calcium remains elevated after membrane repolarization, creating a 'vulnerable window' for calcium-driven after-depolarizations (due to inward currents through NCX).¹⁹² Figure 3.5 B illustrates that within the first 5 minutes of ischemia, changes in CaTD₈₀ - APD₈₀ were greater than in

 $CaTD_{50}$ - APD₅₀, due to the previously discussed temporal difference in changes of $CaTD_{50}$ and $CaTD_{80}$. This window of vulnerability continuously increased into Phase IB, with $CaTD_{50}$ - APD₅₀ and $CaTD_{80}$ - APD₈₀ becoming equal by 30 minutes. After 30 minutes of ischemia $CaTD_{50}$ - APD₅₀ remained high, however as $CaTD_{80}$ began to fall, $CaTD_{80}$ -APD₈₀ returned to pre-ischemic levels.

Recently, a vulnerable window for calcium-driven arrhythmias has been implicated with β -AR remodeling in heart failure¹⁹² and pharmacological APD abbreviation with I_{KATP} opener pinacidil³¹. In those studies, it was found that relatively greater shortening of the AP than the CaT set the *foundation* for afterdepolarizations to occur. However, despite this increased vulnerability, a sudden increase in cytosolic calcium (*via* β -AR stimulation or rapid-pacing) was required for arrhythmias to occur.^{31,192} Thus, the absence of ectopy during our '*Dual Imaging Uncoupled*' experiments may indicate that despite the environment for calcium-driven events, mechanical effects are needed to trigger arrhythmogenic surges of intracellular calcium (discussed below). The idea that mechanically-induced effects may act on top of an ischemia-induced arrhythmogenic background during ARI is supported by the observation that the increase and decrease in arrhythmia incidence in *Loaded* hearts, potentially accounting for the arrhythmias seen in that group during this period.

Alterations in calcium handling during ischemia have also been shown to give rise to beat-to-beat variations in the magnitude of calcium release, typically at shorter cycle lengths.¹⁹³ Known as calcium transient alternans (CaT-ALT), this typically occurs when upon excitation the preceding CaT has not completely recovered, resulting in a reduced SR

load and calcium release, followed by a compensatory increase. Greater alternation of calcium release amplitude may be arrhythmogenic if beats with augmented calcium release are sufficient to initiate calcium-driven afterdepolarizations. Furthermore, if accompanied by spatial dispersion of calcium release, CaT-ALT may result in increased heterogeneity of contraction, which could have important implications for mechanically induced arrhythmias.

Ischemia is also associated with beat-to-beat variations in APD (APD alternans, APD-ALT).¹⁹⁴ This cycle length-dependent alternation can be the result of the incomplete recovery of potassium currents or reduced sodium currents,¹⁹⁵ or alternatively may be linked to changes in sarcolemmal calcium fluxes.¹⁹⁶ Calcium modulates cellular electrophysiology through inhibition of $I_{Ca(L)}$ and activation of I_{NCX} in forward mode, and as such, preferential modification of those currents by a large amplitude CaT will facilitate asynchronous (APD shortening) or synchronous (APD lengthening) APD-ALT.¹⁶⁸

Using a method validated by Purvot *et al.*, we measured both CaT-ALT and APD-ALT by calculating the absolute percent change in amplitude (calcium) or action potential duration (voltage) between two successive transients.¹⁶⁹ Figure 3.9 shows that during ischemia there is a time-dependent increase in CaT-ALT and APD-ALT in the midischemic (-2) and central-ischemic (-4) zones. While our findings suggest that CaT-ALT and APD-ALT may be occurring, alternans has been shown by others to occur more rapidly and to a greater magnitude during ischemia (for instance, our values of CaT-ALT fall just shy of the cutoff for alternans laid out by Pruvot *et al.* (\geq 10%)¹⁶⁹).¹⁷² However, this may not be a surprise, as both CaT-ALT and APD-ALT are highly cycle-length dependent¹⁹⁶ and at no point during our experiments did the duration of the calcium transient approach, or exceed, that of the pacing cycle length of 250 milliseconds. Additionally, CaT-ALT may not have been observed on the epicardium, as there exists both transmural and apical-basal heterogeneity in calcium handling.^{197,198} Namely, subendocardial tissue expresses significantly less SERCA2a than the mid- or sub-epicardium, and has been shown to possess slower calcium uptake kinetics and earlier CaT-ALT during rapid-pacing.¹⁹⁷ The increase in APD-ALT, which appears to follow that of CaT-ALT, may imply that altered calcium release may be affecting the electrical activity. Interestingly, APD-ALT has been shown to be pressure development (load) dependent¹⁹⁹, which may explain why only modest alternations in APD were witnessed in our electromechanically uncoupled hearts. The most worrisome effect of CaT-ALT aside from triggered activity is its ability to facilitate APD-ALT, which can increase dispersion of refractoriness and conduction slowing across the heart, promoting block and reentry.²⁰⁰

Despite the potentially pro-arrhythmic ischemia-induced alterations in intracellular calcium handling, our data suggest that these are not enough for the initiation of ventricular arrhythmias. As we saw virtually no arrhythmias in our uncoupled hearts, yet a relatively high incidence in loaded, mechanically contracting hearts, it would appear that the triggering event is mechanically dependent. This further corroborates the findings of Coronel *et al.* and our own laboratory who stress the importance of cardiac mechanics in the genesis of arrhythmias.^{12,14} Thus, the findings of this objective suggest that while ischemia-induced changes in the calcium environment provide a background for arrhythmias, mechanical effects are necessary to provide the additional trigger for arrhythmias to occur.

4.2 Mechanical Effects on Calcium Handling

Following the investigation of the mechanically-independent, ischemia-induced changes in the calcium environment, we investigated the role of mechanical-effects in facilitating abnormal calcium handling in the context of ARI. Alterations in cardiac mechanics occur rapidly as ischemic tissue stops generating force (0 – 10 minutes) and begins to stiffen (10 – 20 minutes).¹⁰⁸ These changes expose tissue within the central ischemic region and border zone to systolic stretch, which may contribute to alterations in intracellular calcium handling.

Our specific aim was to investigate the role of calcium as a driver of mechanicallyinduced arrhythmias during ARI, using dual-parametric optical mapping in loaded, contracting hearts (*'Rhod-2'*). However, there was a significant reduction in PVEs compared to *Loaded* hearts in these experiments (Figure 3.11), which suggests that mechanically-induced arrhythmias were no longer present in these hearts. We believe this reduction in PVEs with the use of Rhod-2 is due to buffering of calcium by the calcium indicator. Rhod-2 functions by binding to cytosolic calcium to cause an increase in fluorescence, thus acting as a calcium sink. The prevention of calcium-driven events by buffering of calcium dyes has been demonstrated previously in sinoatrial node cells, where the use of Fluo-4 AM prevented calcium sparks from causing calcium waves²⁰¹ (an effect that was ameliorated by the use of lower concentrations of dye²⁰²).

Interestingly, by re-analyzing data previously collected by our laboratory, we showed that the reduction in PVEs and couplets with Rhod-2 application were restricted to Phase IB (Figure 3.11 C), while reductions in unloaded or non-contracting hearts occurred in both

phases (Figure 3.15). This suggests that mechanically-induced arrhythmias in Phase IA and IB occur by different mechanisms, with Phase IB arrhythmias being calcium-driven.

To examine if Rhod-2 was indeed buffering cytosolic calcium we retroactively investigated its effects on LV function. We found a slight reduction in developed pressure with application of the calcium indicator, suggesting that calcium availability may have become slightly impaired (Figure 3.17). In light of this finding, we wanted to ensure that the reduction in arrhythmias was not a mechanical effect, by an impaired ability to generate pressure. This appears not to be an issue, as developed pressure immediately prior to the induction of ARI in the *Rhod-2* group was in fact slightly *higher* than in the *Loaded* group (Figure 3.18). This suggests that the reduction in the incidence of Phase IB arrhythmias with Rhod-2 was not due to a reduction in mechanical activity, but rather was a result of the pharmacological properties of the dye.

We attempted to reduce the applied volume of Rhod-2 in our experiments to reduce the degree of calcium buffering, however this caused unacceptable reductions in signal quality, impairing our ability to detect the CaT upstroke. While this is a clear limitation of our technique, higher sensitivity cameras with an improved signal:noise ratio may help overcome this problem. Additionally, lower affinity calcium indicators could be used to reduce cytosolic buffering. This was not possible in our experiments, however, as the excitation/emission spectra of available lower affinity calcium dyes are not compatible with the single camera, isosbestic point technique of dual voltage-calcium imaging.

The few arrhythmias that did occur (and which we captured) in the Rhod-2 group did not show calcium-driven activity, however these may not have been mechanically-induced events (as they were presumably prevented by calcium buffering). Moreover, our ability to measure activity only at the epicardial surface may be a potential limitation. Current practices utilized to image both endocardial and epicardial surfaces make use of ventricular wedge¹⁸⁹ or cut-open LV preparations³¹, which are not practical for our use, as they severely compromise normal cardiac contraction. As mentioned above, the endocardium may be of particular interest for calcium-driven arrhythmias, as its lower expression of SERCA2a and attenuated CaT recovery may enhance arrhythmogenicity compared to the epicardium.¹⁹⁷ In fact, slow calcium recovery in the endocardium has been implicated in spontaneous calcium releases and triggered activity in the context of pacing-induced calcium overload in isolated wedge perparations.²⁰³ As a result, calcium-driven ectopic activation may in fact occur within the endocardium, but once propagated to the epicardium, will be voltage-driven (and at best appear only as a shortening in the delay between voltage and calcium signals ^{32,204,205}).

The mechanism by which stretch may lead to surges in calcium sufficient for excitation is multi-factorial. Iribe *et al.* have shown that axial stretch of isolated cardiomyocytes results in an increase in calcium sparks, attributed to an anatomical coupling of cytoskeletal myofilaments and RyR channels.¹³⁶ Since, it has been proposed that this stretch-induced increase in SR calcium release occurs instead through the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as hydroxyl radicals or hydrogen peroxide.¹³⁷ ROS may be generated endogenously by ongoing mitochondrial oxidation, sarcolemmal nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases (NOX),¹⁸⁴ and the uncoupling of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes, such that they promote the synthesis of ROS instead of nitric oxide (NO)²⁰⁶. ROS have been shown to alter the oxidative status of RyR and lead to enhanced calcium-sensitivity and leak.¹⁸⁴ Pacing induced tachycardia has been shown to enhance NOX activity and ROS-dependent RyR *S*-glutathionylation, increasing the open probability during systole.²⁰⁷ These findings have been extended by Prosser *et al.*, who demonstrated that both static and sustained cyclic stretch increases ROS production and subsequent spark frequency in isolated rat cardiomyocytes,^{137,138} an effect that was inhibited by the use of both NOX non-specific (diphenyleneiodonium) and NOX2 specific antagonists (Gp91ds-tat). Additionally, stretch has been shown to act through NOS pathways. Petroff *et al.* have shown that sustained stretch increases calcium spark frequency through eNOS-dependent NO *S*-nitrosylation of the RyR channel.²⁰⁸ Furthermore, it has been indicated that nNOS activation may be a mediator of spark frequency in the context of increased afterload.²⁰⁹

Another way in which stretch can lead to transient increases in intracellular calcium come from work by Ter Keurs *et al.*, which revealed in isolated rat trabeculae that non-uniform contraction and relaxation can lead to calcium wave formation.¹³² This finding was attributed to a stretch dependent increase in calcium-myofilament loading, which upon relaxation is suddenly released. Interestingly, this effect has also been linked to ROS production and RyR sensitization, increasing the likelihood for calcium sparks and waves to occur.^{138,210}

The above describe surges in calcium, if sufficient in amplitude, may contribute to afterdepolarizations though the transient inward current (I_{ti}) carried by I_{NCX} (predominantly), the calcium-activated chloride channel ($I_{Ca(Cl)}$), and calcium-activated nonselective current (I_{Ca}).²¹¹

In a different vein, as ischemia transitions into Phase IB there is a massive endogenous (i.e., independent of extra-cardiac neural stimulation) release of catecholamines (especially NE).⁸⁹ NE released at this time may play a significant role in the induction of sustained

arrhythmias by heterogeneously shortening ERP, providing a substrate for reentry,¹⁰⁴ and it has been shown that depletion of endogenous NE stores reduces ischemia-induced arrhythmias.¹⁰³ There is also evidence that localised increases in NE can induce calciumdriven afterdepolarizations.¹⁰⁵ This may be enhanced by mechanical effects during ARI, as Moreau et al. have shown that increasing preload in an isolated working heart during ARI proportionally increases NE release.²¹² This finding could have important implications for mechanically-dependent arrhythmias during ARI where mechanical dysfunction may trigger localized NE release.

4.3 Confirmation of the Effects of Cytosolic Calcium Buffering on Arrhythmia Incidence

During our *Rhod-2* experiments a significant reduction in the incidence of PVEs during Phase IB was observed. This was attributed to the buffering of cytosolic calcium by Rhod-2, which prevented calcium-driven ectopy from occurring. In order to substantiate this claim we investigated the effects of a well-documented calcium buffer on the incidence of arrhythmias in mechanically loaded isolated hearts (*'BAPTA'*). The chelating agent BAPTA AM was selected as it shares a molecular backbone with Rhod-2, conferring similarities in its ability to associate with available calcium ions.

Some of the early uses of BAPTA in cardiac research were by Billman *et al.* who during the early 1990s investigated the effects of calcium buffering on sustained arrhythmias.²¹³ In their studies, BAPTA was reported to ameliorate calcium overload following an ischemic stress-test in a canine model and subsequently reduce the incidence of VF.²¹³ More recently, Tang *et al.* have shown in a model of calcium overload (pacing-induced) and APD abbreviation (with pinacidil), that pretreatment with BAPTA reduces the incidence of late phase 3 EADs.³¹ This effect was attributed to a reduction in the amplitude of calcium release following rapid pacing and reduced calcium-dependent AP modulation. Furthermore, Wu *et al.* show that ischemic augmentation of CaTD is ameliorated by BAPTA, reducing the period over which the calcium transient intrudes into electrical diastole, contributing to a reduction in endocardial late phase 3 EADs.²¹⁴ In these examples, BAPTA reduced the incidence of triggered afterdepolarizations by reducing the calcium available for the activation of the I_{ti}.

While BAPTA appears to be able to confer a significant anti-arrhythmic effect, it has also been shown to significantly reduce cardiac hemodynamics. Calcium chelation reduces the calcium available to bind Troponin-C and activate cross-bridge formation. In fact, in their studies reporting that pre-treatment with BAPTA reduces the incidence of VF, Billman et al. also report that 1 mg/kg of BAPTA significantly attenuates the rate of developed pressure prior to ischemia in addition to reducing systolic and diastolic pressures immediately following coronary artery occlusion in vivo.²¹³ To date, several studies have utilized BAPTA in ex vivo hearts at concentrations of 20 µM to ameliorate calcium handling dysfunction,^{31,214} however due to its efficiency and rapidity at chelating cytosolic calcium, concentrations as low as 2.2 µM have been shown to reduce developed pressure (60%).²¹⁵ As such, a fine line of what constitutes 'optimal' calcium buffering exists, with improved calcium dysfunction and reduced contractile function on opposing sides. We titrated BAPTA to a concentration that had a similar effect on hemodynamics as that of Rhod-2. During pilot experiments ('BAPTA-(P)', n = 2) we titrated [BAPTA] based on developed pressure. It was found that 0.1 µM of BAPTA corresponded to ~10% reduction in developed pressure, similar to that seen during our *Rhod-2* experiments.

Our investigation into the effects of low dosage BAPTA in mechanically loaded hearts ('*BAPTA*'), revealed a significant reduction in the incidence Phase IA couplets and, similar to that of our *Rhod-2* experiments, Phase IB PVEs (Figure 3.12). This finding is intriguing considering the dosage of BAPTA was 1:200th of that previously used by researchers to suppress calcium driven events.^{31,214} Importantly, with this in mind, the amount of BAPTA utilized in our experiments may not have significantly buffered the increase in diastolic calcium that occurs during ischemia, nor would it have been expected to abbreviate the CaTD, thus reducing the CaTD - APD vulnerable window. Should regular calcium handling have been significantly altered then substantial effects on developed pressure would have been expected. Pre-treatment with BAPTA in our experiments caused only a small reduction in developed pressure (~7 %) in comparison to that of Rhod-2 (~15 %). This would suggest that there was less calcium buffering in our *BAPTA vs. Rhod-2* experiments.

Our findings regarding the effects of BAPTA support the idea that mechanicallydependent arrhythmias occurring during Phase IB are linked to calcium handling dysfunction. We believe that BAPTA and Rhod-2 may have played a role in buffering sudden increases in cytosolic calcium, which may occur during non-uniform contraction or relaxation. Interestingly, despite the rapid changes in calcium-handling occurring during ischemia, BAPTA and Rhod-2 significantly affected PVEs during Phase IB only. From this we can posit that while changes in cardiac mechanics contribute to both Phase IA and Phase IB arrhythmias,^{12,14} the former may be linked to mechanisms independent of calciumdriven afterdepolarizations. As ischemia progresses, mechanically-induced calcium release occurs with an increasing efficacy to depolarize surrounding tissue. As mentioned in Section 1.4, cell-cell uncoupling begins to occur during Phase IB as the accumulation of calcium and reduction in ATP facilitate CX43 closure.^{13,69} These changes in tissue connectivity, namely increased tissue resistance and reduced source-sink interactions, may augment the propensity for calcium-driven events to evolve into propagating activations. Indeed, Myles *et al.* have shown that mild uncoupling of tissue increases the area of tissue experiencing shortened voltage – calcium activation delays post-NE injection, suggesting greater calcium release synchronization.²⁰⁵

4.4 The Effects of RyR Stabilization on the Incidence of Arrhythmias

While the utilization of BAPTA provided useful insight into whether increases in cytosolic calcium contribute to ventricular arrhythmias, calcium is located in a variety of cellular and subcellular organelles. As a high affinity calcium chelator, BAPTA rapidly and non-discriminately binds to available cytosolic calcium. Therefore, using this method we were unable to determine the origin of these mechanically-dependent cytosolic calcium surges.

As mentioned previously, rapid and non-uniform relaxation causes a large release of calcium from the myofilaments. In order to investigate the contribution of calcium-myofilament offloading, we would need a method for attenuating calcium release from Troponin-C. This effect would be difficult to attain without altering excitation contraction coupling of the myocardium. As such, we decided a more prudent approach would be to ameliorate stretch-induced SR RyR leak (sparks), which has been shown to occur in isolated cardiomyocytes through cytoskeletal, NOS, or NOX dependent pathways.^{136,138,208} In pilot experiments (results not shown), we tested the use of diphenyleneiodonium (DPI), which has been used in cell experiments to block NADPH-oxidase (NOX) ROS

production.¹⁴⁰ Interestingly, even at a low dosage (3 μ M), DPI significantly and progressively reduced developed pressure (n = 2). This suggests that either ROS production is essential for force generation or DPI is a non-specific agent to NOX. It has been shown in macrophages that DPI may antagonize nitric oxide synthase (NOS) activity,²¹⁶ that of which appears to be important for fractional shortening in isolated cardiomyocytes²⁰⁹. As contraction is essential to our experiments, it was decided to avoid agents, either NOS or NOX antagonists, which may reduce the contractility of the heart and instead target the RyR channel and its accessory proteins.

The RyR2 channel, the isoform found most abundantly in the heart, is regulated by many accessory proteins including cytosolic calmodulin, FK506-binding protein (FKBP) 12.6, PKA, and protein phosphatases, as well as luminal triadin, junction, and calsequestrin.¹¹³ FKBP 12.6 is of particular interest as it regulates the open probability of the RyR2 channel. As such, phosphorylation of FKBP 12.6 by PKA or dephosphorylation by phosphatase activity augment or attenuate RyR2 release, respectively.²¹⁷

The first pharmacological agent utilized in our studies was 1,4-benzothiazepine derivative, JTV-519 (also known as K201), which has been shown to increase the association of FKBP 12.6 with RyR2²¹⁸ and ameliorate spontaneous calcium release^{219,220}. During pilot experiments (n = 2) we investigated the effects of this agent on electrophysiological parameters and a reduction in excitability (dF_V/dt_{max}) and 2:1 atrioventricular block was quickly discovered (Section 3.4). This finding recapitulated prior literature regarding the significant off-target effects of JTV-519, namely antagonism of I_{Kr} ,¹⁶⁰ I_{Na} ,¹⁶¹ and activation of mitochondrial I_{KATP} .¹⁶² Furthermore, similar to our findings, JTV-519 was shown by Ito *et al.* to cause 2:1 atrioventricular block.¹⁶²

Since the late 1970s, a therapeutic known as 'dantrolene sodium' (commonly used to treat malignant hyperthermia, a condition caused by the delayed closure of RyR1 channels in response to general anesthetics)²²¹ was noted for its potential to act as an anti-arrhythmic. This observation came as the infusion of dantrolene was shown to reduce arrhythmias, a common sequelae of malignant hyperthermia.²²² Despite its proposed skeletal muscle specificity, early cardiac electrophysiological studies of dantrolene have found prolonged refractory periods,²²² extended APD,^{223,224} and reduced AP plateau and peak calcium release (similar to that of verapamil)²²⁵. This was theorized to be a potential anti-arrhythmic agent by creating wave break and reducing the frequency of sustained arrhythmias.²²⁶ Recently, dantrolene sodium is experiencing a renaissance of sorts, gaining recognition as an agent to improve the stability of the RyR2 channel. Dantrolene is thought to achieve this by preventing subunit "domain unzipping"¹⁶⁵ and has been shown to reduce calcium sparks in cardiomyocytes isolated from failing hearts^{164,165} and in the context of catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia^{163,227}. Furthermore, there is evidence supporting the use of dantrolene in vivo to improve survival outcomes post VF.²²⁸ These results are attributed to reduced diastolic SR calcium release and improved CaT-ALT threshold, ameliorating both afterdepolarizations and heterogeneity of repolarization. However, dantrolene is not without its side-effects and at high concentrations (10 μ M) has been shown to prolong APD and slow conduction velocity.²²⁶ In pilot experiments ('Dantrolene-(P)') we investigated the effects of a commonly used low dose of dantrolene $(1 \mu M)^{164,229}$ on cardiac electrophysiology (n = 4). While there were no apparent effects on APD, there was a slight reduction in the Phase 0 upstroke velocity after 30 minutes (Figure 3.12). This may imply that there is a slight reduction in the availability of I_{Na}, however there is nonconclusive evidence as to whether or not dantrolene alters the AP upstroke.^{224,225}

Our investigation into the effects of dantrolene in loaded regionally ischemic hearts ('Dantrolene') revealed a significant reduction in the incidence of PVEs during Phase IB (Figure 3.14). This finding was similar to that of calcium buffering addressed in the last section and suggests that mechanically-dependent arrhythmias during Phase IB are the result of aberrant SR RyR2 channel openings, which have been shown to contribute to intracellular calcium overload during ischemia.²³⁰ Should these openings be the result of cytoskeletal-RyR2 anatomical coupling as suggested by Iribe *et al.*, it is unlikely that the pharmacological stabilization of RyR2 subunits would have been effective. It may in fact be more conceivable that post-translational modifications to the RyR2 channel are responsible for the increased open probability. These modifications may be the result of NO or ROS production and subsequent RyR2 S-nitrosylation^{231,232} or Sglutathionylation²⁰⁷. NOX activation may play a more dominant role during ischemia as its cytosolic and nuclear expression has been shown to increase in an *in vitro* model of ischemia (via metabolic inhibition).²³³ Furthermore, NOX expression has also been found to be increased in human hearts following acute myocardial infarction.²³⁴ This implies that ischemia-induced ROS production, in addition to mechanically-induced ROS production resulting from non-uniform contraction, may be sufficient in augmenting the open probability of RyR2 during late ischemia. If calcium sparks initiate calcium waves and afterdepolarizations, they may be the source of calcium driven events. As mentioned above, this mechanical-effect on SR leak may be arrhythmogenic during the latter Phase IB, as cell-cell uncoupling reduces source-sink interactions. Furthermore, altered cardiac mechanics at the ischemic border zone may in fact provide a means for synchronization of calcium release from the RyR2 channels.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This thesis sought to investigate the mechanisms of mechanically-induced arrhythmias during ARI in the isolated rabbit heart. It was hypothesized that there is a contribution of abnormal calcium handling to these arrhythmias.

We have shown that during ARI, profound alterations to intracellular calcium handling occur in the absence of cardiac mechanics. These changes, namely: i) genesis of a vulnerable window for calcium-driven afterdepolarizations (CaTD - APD); ii) impaired calcium release and removal, and; ii) CaT-ALT and APD-ALT, occur with increasing magnitude into Phase IB and may promote an optimal environment for calcium driven events to occur. Despite these profound changes, the presence of cardiac mechanical activity was shown to be essential for the genesis of arrhythmias. Dual-parametric optical mapping of voltage and calcium in mechanically-coupled hearts did not reveal calcium driven events in the face of significantly reduced PVEs, which was attributed to the buffering of calcium by Rhod-2, and validated using BAPTA. Calcium buffering experiments revealed that calcium-dependent ectopy occurred specifically during Phase IB, with buffering potentially playing a role in attenuating sudden calcium surges, and preventing afterdepolarizations. Through the stabilization of the RyR2 using dantrolene, we were able to attenuate the incidence of Phase IB arrhythmias. Thus, overall our results suggest that mechanically-induced arrhythmias during Phase IB, are linked to alterations in calcium handling. Alterations in mechanics, namely non-uniform contraction and relaxation at the ischemic border may synchronize cytosolic calcium release from RyR2 channels and, in light of cell-cell uncoupling, overcome source-sink interactions to facilitate triggered activity.

The investigation of the importance of mechanics in the genesis of arrhythmias during ARI has more-or-less taken a 'top-down' approach in the hierarchy of Systems Biology.²³⁵ Kaplinsky *et al.* first illustrated the biphasic response of arrhythmias in an *in vivo* canine model of coronary artery occlusion.¹¹ This finding, in conjunction with literature indicating that stretch of cardiac tissue alters electrophysiology, led Coronel *et al.* to the discovery of the importance of ventricular load both *in vivo* and *ex vivo*.¹² Research from our laboratory has since complemented this work in an *ex vivo* small animal model,¹⁴ illustrating the importance of altered calcium handling. However, to continue this reductionist approach we must move from organ to tissue and tissue to cell to better define the effects of mechanics during ischemia on intracellular calcium handling. Future work should focus on an in-depth examination of the changes in calcium handling occurring at the cellular level during simulated ischemia and in the context of cyclic stretch. Single cell studies will allow us to test whether altered mechanics (cyclic stretch) during simulated ischemia is facilitating RyR calcium leak and afterdepolarizations to occur.

Ultimately, our findings may provide useful insight for the development of novel treatments for ARI arrhythmias. As Phase IB arrhythmias are documented to be more lethal than Phase IA, with a greater occurrence of VF, we hope that our findings on the importance of abnormal calcium handling will open the doors to a more targeted approach for treating SCD. As a clinically approved pharmaceutical, dantrolene may be an interesting agent for the treatment of ARI arrhythmias. However, current literature has shown increasing dosages of dantrolene can have substantial, potentially pro-arrhythmic off-target effects. Further investigation is required to affirm the optimal and safe dosage of dantrolene in humans. It is our hope that the continuation of basic science research in this field will

contribute to translational research in medicine to improve the quality of life of people around the world.

REFERENCES

- 1. Jones DS, Podolsky SH, Greene JA. The Burden of Disease and the Changing Task of Medicine. *N Engl J Med.* 2012;366:2333–2338.
- Statistics Canada. CANSIM [Internet]. Table 102-0561 Lead. causes death, Total Popul. by age Gr. sex, Canada, Annu. 2011 [cited 2015 Nov 17];Available from: http://www5.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a05?lang=eng&id=1020561
- 3. Deo R, Albert CM. Epidemiology and Genetics of Sudden Cardiac Death. *Circulation*. 2012;125:620–637.
- Statistics Canada. CANSIM [Internet]. Table 102-0552 Can. Vital Stat. Birth Death Databases. 2008 [cited 2015 Nov 17];Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/84f0209x/84f0209x2008000-eng.pdf
- 5. Carmeliet E. Cardiac Ionic Currents and Acute Ischemia: From Channels to Arrhythmias. *Physiol Rev.* 1999;79:917–1017.
- Sasson C, Rogers MA., Dahl J, Kellermann A. Predictors of Survival From Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2010;3:63–81.
- 7. Mehta D, Curwin J, Gomes JA, Fuster V. Sudden Death in Coronary Artery Disease: Acute Ischemia Versus Myocardial Substrate. *Circulation*. 1997;96:3215–3223.
- Curtis MJ. Characterisation, Utilisation and Clinical Relevance of Isolated Perfused Heart Models of Ischaemia-Induced Ventricular Fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1998;39:194–215.
- 9. Di Diego JM, Antzelevitch C. Ischemic Ventricular Arrhythmias: Experimental Models and their Clinical Relevance. *Hear Rhythm.* 2011;8:1963–1968.
- Clements-Jewery H, Hearse DJ, Curtis MJ. Phase 2 Ventricular Arrhythmias in Acute Myocardial Infarction: A Neglected Target for Therapeutic Antiarrhythmic Drug Development and for Safety Pharmacology Evaluation. Br J Pharmacol. 2005;145:551–564.

- 11. Kaplinsky E, Ogawa S, Balke CW, Dreifus LS. Two Periods of Early Ventricular Arrhythmia in the Canine Acute Myocardial Infarction Model. *Circulation*. 1979;60:397–403.
- 12. Coronel R, Wilms-Schopman FJG, Degroot JR. Origin of Ischemia-Induced Phase 1b Ventricular Arrhythmias in Pig Hearts. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2002;39:166–176.
- 13. de Groot JR, Coronel R. Acute Ischemia-Induced Gap Junctional Uncoupling and Arrhythmogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2004;62:323–34.
- 14. Lawen T. The Contribution of Mechanical Effects to Ventricular Arrhythmias During Acute Regional Ischemia. 2015;
- 15. Nader A, Massumi A, Cheng J, Razavi M. Inherited Arrhythmic Disorders: Long QT and Brugada Syndromes. *Tex Hear Inst J*. 2007;34:67–75.
- 16. Lehnart SE, Ackerman MJ, Benson DW, Brugada R, Clancy CE, Donahue JK, George AL, Grant AO, Groft SC, January CT, Lathrop DA, Lederer WJ, Makielski JC, Mohler PJ, Moss A, Nerbonne JM, Olson TM, Przywara DA, Towbin JA, Wang LH, Marks AR. Inherited Arrhythmias: A National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute and Office of Rare Diseases Workshop Consensus Report about the Diagnosis, Phenotyping, Molecular Mechanisms, and Therapeutic Approaches for Primary Cardiomyopathies of Gene Mutations Affe. *Circulation*. 2007;116:2325–2345.
- 17. Shah M, Akar FG, Tomaselli GF. Molecular Basis of Arrhythmias. *Circulation*. 2005;112:2517–2529.
- 18. Carmeliet E, Vereecke J. Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiology. 1st ed. New York: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 2002.
- 19. Mangoni ME, Nargeot J. Genesis and Regulation of the Heart Automaticity. *Physiol Rev.* 2008;88:919–982.
- 20. Lakatta EG, Maltsev VA, Vinogradova TM. A Coupled SYSTEM of Intracellular Ca2+ Clocks and Surface Membrane Voltage Clocks Controls the Timekeeping Mechanism of the Heart's Pacemaker. *Circ Res.* 2010;106:659–673.
- 21. Grant AO. Cardiac Ion Channels. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2009;2:185–194.

- 22. Dhamoon AS, Jalife J. The Inward Rectifier Current (IK1) Controls Cardiac Excitability and is Involved in Arrhythmogenesis. *Hear Rhythm*. 2005;2:316–324.
- 23. Gaztañaga L, Marchlinski FE, Betensky BP. Mechanisms of Cardiac Arrhythmias. *Rev Española Cardiol*. 2012;65:174–185.
- 24. Scherlag BJ, Kabell G, Harrison L, Lazzara R. Mechanisms of Bradycardia-induced Ventricular Arrhythmias in Myocardial Ischemia and Infarction. *Circulation*. 1982;65:1429–1434.
- 25. Antzelevitch C, Burashnikov A. Overview of Basic Mechanism of Cardiac Arrhythmia. *Card Electrophysiol Clin.* 2011;3:23–45.
- 26. Ducceschi V, Di Micco G, Sarubbi B, Russo B, Santangelo L, Iacono A. Electrophysiology, Pacing, and Arrhythmia Ionic Mechanisms of Ischemia-Related Ventricular Arrhythmias. *Clincal Cardiol*. 1996;19:325–331.
- 27. Burashnikov A, Antzelevitch C. Late-phase 3 EAD. A Unique Mechanism Contributing to Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. 2006;29:290–295.
- Yamada M, Ohta K, Niwa A, Tsujino N, Nakada T, Hirose M. Contribution of L-Type Ca2+ Channels to Early Afterdepolarizations Induced by IKr and IKs Channel Suppression in Guinea Pig Ventricular Myocytes. *J Membr Biol.* 2008;222:151–166.
- 29. Maruyama M, Lin SF, Xie Y, Chua SK, Joung B, Han S, Shinohara T, Shen MJ, Qu Z, Weiss JN, Chen PS. Genesis of Phase 3 Early Afterdepolarizations and Triggered Activity in Acquired Long-QT Syndrome. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2011;4:103–111.
- 30. Chen P-S, Ogawa M, Maruyama M, Chua S-K, Chang P-C, Rubart-von der Lohe M, Chen Z, Ai T, Lin S-F. Imaging Arrhythmogenic Calcium Signaling in Intact Hearts. *Pediatr Cardiol*. 2012;33:968–74.
- Tang L, Joung B, Ogawa M, Chen P-S, Lin S-F. Intracellular Calcium Dynamics, Shortened Action Potential Duration, and Late-Phase 3 Early Afterdepolarization in Langendorff-Perfused Rabbit Ventricles. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2012;23:1364–1371.

- 32. Choi BR, Salama G. Simultaneous maps of optical action potentials and calcium transients in guinea-pig hearts: mechanisms underlying concordant alternans. *J Physiol.* 2000;529 Pt 1:171–188.
- 33. Wit AL, Rosen MR. Afterdepolarizations and Triggered Activity: Distinction from Automaticity as an Arrhythmogenic Mechanism. In: Fozzard HA, Haber E, Jennings RB, Katz AM, Morgan HE, editors. The Heart and Cardiovascular System. New York: Raven Press; 1992. p. 2113–2153.
- 34. Verkerk AO, Veldkamp MW, Bouman LN, van Ginneken AG. Calcium-Activated Cl(-) Current Contributes to Delayed Afterdepolarizations in Single Purkinje and Ventricular Myocytes. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2639–2644.
- 35. Samie FH, Jalife J. Mechanisms Underlying Ventricular Tachycardia and its Transition to Ventricular Fibrillation in the Structurally Normal Heart. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2001;50:242–250.
- 36. Antzelevitch C. Basic Mechanisms of Reentrant Arrhythmias. *Curr Opin Cardiol.* 2001;16:1–7.
- 37. Comtois P, Kneller J, Nattel S. Of Circles and Spirals: Bridging the Gap Between the Leading Circle and Spiral Wave Concepts of Cardiac Reentry. *Europace*. 2005;7:10–20.
- 38. Rutherford SL, Trew ML, Sands GB, Legrice IJ, Smaill BH. High-Resolution 3-Dimensional Reconstruction of the Infarct Border Zone: Impact of Structural Remodeling on Electrical Activation. *Circ Res.* 2012;111:301–311.
- 39. Shaw RM, Rudy Y. Electrophysiologic Effects of Aacute Myocardial Ischemia: a Theoretical Study of Altered Cell Excitability and Action Potential Duration. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1997;35:256–272.
- 40. Ghuran AV, Camm AJ. Ischaemic Heart Disease Presenting as Arrhythmias. *Br Med Bull*. 2001;59:193–210.
- 41. Kléber A. Extracellular Potassium Accumulation in Acute Myocardial Ischemia. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1984;16:389–394.
- 42. Hill JL, Gettes LS. Effect of acute coronary artery occlusion on local myocardial

extracellular K+ activity in swine. *Circulation* [Internet]. 1980;61:768–78. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7357719

- 43. Kléber A. Resting membrane potential, extracellular potassium activity, and intracellular sodium activity during acute global ischemia in isolated perfused guinea pig hearts. *Circ Res.* 1983;52:442–450.
- 44. Wilde AAM, Aksnes G. Myocardial Potassium Loss and Cell Depolarisation in Ischaemia and Hypoxia. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1995;29:1–15.
- 45. Wilde AAM, Peters RJG, Janse MJ. Catecholamine Release and Potassium Accumulation in the Isolated Globally Ischemic Rabbit Heart. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1988;20:887–96.
- 46. Tamargo J, Tamargo J, Caballero R, Caballero R, Gómez R, Gómez R, Valenzuela C, Valenzuela C, Delpón E, Delpón E. Pharmacology of Cardiac Potassium Channels. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2004;62:9–33.
- 47. Miake J, Marban E, Nuss HB. Functional Role of Inward Rectifier Current in Heart Probed by Kir2.1 Overexpression and Dominant-Negative Suppression. *J Clin Invest*. 2003;111:1529–1536.
- 48. Burton FL, Cobbe SM. Dispersion of Ventricular Repolarization and Refractory Period. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2001;50:10–23.
- 49. Coronel R, Fiolet JW, Wilms-Schopman FJ, Schaapherder AF, Johnson TA, Gettes LS, Janse MJ. Distribution of Extracellular Potassium and its Relation to Electrophysiologic Changes During Acute Myocardial Ischemia in the Isolated Perfused Porcine Heart. *Circulation*. 1988;77:1125–1138.
- 50. Coronel R, Wilms-Schopman FJ, Opthof T, van Capelle FJ, Janse MJ. Injury Current and Gradients of Diastolic Stimulation Threshold, TQ Potential, and Extracellular Potassium Concentration during Acute Regional Ischemia in the Isolated Perfused Pig Heart. *Circ Res.* 1991;68:1241–1249.
- 51. Coronel R, Wilms-Schopman FJ, Opthof T, van Capelle FJ, Janse MJ. Injury current and gradients of diastolic stimulation threshold, TQ potential, and extracellular potassium concentration during acute regional ischemia in the isolated perfused pig heart. *Circ Res.* 1991;68:1241–1249.

- 52. Marban E, Kitakaze M, Koretsune Y, Yue DT, Chacko VP, Pike MM. Quantification of [Ca2+]i in Perfused Hearts: Critical Evaluation of the 5F-BAPTA and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Method as Applied to the Study of Ischemia and Reperfusion. *Circ Res.* 1990;66:1255–1267.
- 53. Kusuoka H, Porterfield JK, Weisman HF, Weisfeldt ML, Marban E. Pathophysiology and Pathogenesis of Stunned Myocardium. Depressed Ca2+ Activation of Contraction as a Consequence of Reperfusion-Induced Cellular Calcium Overload in Ferret Hearts. *J Clin Invest*. 1987;79:950–61.
- 54. Weiss JN, Venkatesh N, Lamp ST. ATP-Sensitive K+ Channels and Cellular K+ Loss in Hypoxic and Ischaemic Mammalian Ventricle. *J Physiol*. 1992;447:649– 673.
- 55. Lascano EC, Negroni JA, del Valle HF. Ischemic Shortening of Action Potential Duration as a Result of KATP Channel Opening Attenuates Myocardial Stunning by Reducing Calcium Influx. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2002;236:53–61.
- 56. Ju YK, Saint DA, Gage PW. Hypoxia increases persistent sodium current in rat ventricular myocytes. *J Physiol* [Internet]. 1996;497 (Pt 2:337–347. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt =Citation&list_uids=8961179
- 57. Fearon IM, Palmer AC V, Balmforth AJ, Ball SG, Mikala G, Schwartz A, Peers C. Hypoxia inhibits the recombinant �_1C_ subunit of the human cardiac L-type Ca_2+_ channel. *J Physiol*. 1997;500:551–556.
- 58. Fearon IM, Varadi G, Koch S, Isaacsohn I, Ball SG, Peers C. Splice variants reveal the region involved in oxygen sensing by recombinant human L-type Ca(2+) channels. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:537–539.
- 59. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury: a Neglected Therapeutic Target. *J Clin Invest*. 2013;123:92–100.
- 60. Depre C, Vanoverschelde JL, Taegtmeyer H. Glucose for the Heart. *Circulation*. 1999;99:578–588.
- 61. Neely JR, Grotyohann LW. Role of Glycolytic Products in Damage to Ischemic Myocardium. Dissociation of Adenosine Triphosphate Levels and Recovery of Function of Reperfused Ischemic Hearts. *Circ Res.* 1984;55:816–824.

- 62. Yan GX, Kléber AG. Changes in Extracellular and Intracellular pH in Ischemic Rabbit Papillary Muscle. *Circ Res.* 1992;71:460–470.
- 63. Allen DG, Xiao X. Role of the Cardiac Na+/ H+ Exchanger during Ischemia and Reperfusion. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2003;57:934–941.
- 64. Kagiyama Y, Hill JL, Gettes LS. Interaction of Acidosis and Increased Extracellular Potassium on Action Potential Characteristics and Conduction in Guinea Pig Ventricular Muscle. *Circ Res.* 1982;51:614–623.
- 65. Jones DK, Peters CH, Tolhurst SA, Claydon TW, Ruben PC. Extracellular proton modulation of the cardiac voltage-gated sodium channel, NaV1.5. *Biophys J* [Internet]. 2011;101:2147–2156. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2011.08.056
- 66. Kaibara M, Kameyama M. Inhibition of the Calcium Channel By Intracellular Protons in Single Ventricular Myocytes of the Guinea-Pig. *J Physiol*. 1988;403:621–640.
- 67. Chen W, Steenbergen C, Levy LA, Vance J, London RE, Murphy E. Measurement of free Ca2+ in sarcoplasmic reticulum in perfused rabbit heart loaded with 1,2bis(2-amino-5,6-difluorophenoxy)ethane-N,N,N',N',-tetraacetic acid by 19F NMR. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271:7398–7403.
- 68. Orchard C, Kentish J. Effects of Changes of pH on the Contractile Function of Cardiac Muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 1990;258:C967–C981.
- 69. Cascio WE, Yang H, Muller-Borer BJ, Johnson TA. Ischemia-Induced Arrhythmia: The Role of Connexins, Gap Junctions, and Attendant Changes in Impulse Propagation. *J Electrocardiol*. 2005;38:55–59.
- Beardslee MA, Lerner DL, Tadros PN, Laing JG, Beyer EC, Yamada KA, Kléber AG, Schuessler RB, Saffitz JE. Dephosphorylation and Intracellular Redistribution of Ventricular Connexin43 During Electrical Uncoupling Induced by Ischemia. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:656–662.
- 71. Papp R, Gönczi M, Kovacs M, Seprenyi G, Vegh A. Gap Junctional Uncoupling Plays a Trigger Role in the Antiarrhythmic Effect of Ischaemic Preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2007;74:396–405.

- 72. Smith W, Fleet W, Johnson T, Engle C, Cascio W. The Ib Phase of Ventricular Arrhythmias in Ischemic In Situ Porcine Heart Is Related to Changes in Cell-to-Cell Electrical Coupling. *Circulation*. 1995;92:3051–3060.
- 73. de Groot JR, Wilms-Schopman FJG, Opthof T, Remme CA, Coronel R. Late Ventricular Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia in the Isolated Blood Perfused Pig Heart: Role of Electrical Cellular Coupling. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2001;50:362–372.
- 74. Rohr S, Kucera JP, Fast VG. Paradoxical Improvement of Impulse Conduction in Cardiac Tissue by Partial Cellular Uncoupling. *Science (80-)*. 1997;275:841–844.
- 75. Arnar DO, Bullinga JR, Martins JB. Role of the Purkinje System in Spontaneous Ventricular Tachycardia During Acute Ischemia in a Canine Model. *Circulation*. 1997;96:2421–2429.
- 76. Wilensky RL, Tranum-Jensen J, Coronel R, Wilde AA, Fiolet JW, Janse MJ. The Subendocardial Border Zone During Acute Ischemia of the Rabbit Heart: An Electrophysiologic, Metabolic, and Morphologic Correlative Study. *Circulation*. 1986;74:1137–1146.
- 77. Janse MJ, Wit AL. Electrophysiological Mechanisms of Ventricular Arrhythmias Resulting from Myocardial Ischemia and Infarction. *Physiol Rev.* 1989;69:1049– 1169.
- 78. Ferrier GR, Moffat MP, Lukas A. Possible Mechanisms of Ventricular Arrhythmias Elicited by Ischemia Followed by Reperfusion: Studies on Isolated Canine Ventricular Tissues. *Circ Res.* 1985;56:184–94.
- 79. Huelsing DJ, Spitzer KW, Pollard AE. Electrotonic Suppression of Early Afterdepolarizations in Isolated Rabbit Purkinje Myocytes. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2000;279:H250–H259.
- 80. Huelsing DJ, Spitzer KW, Pollard AE. S pontaneous activity induced in rabbit Purkinje myocytes during coupling to a depolarized model cell. 2003;59:620–627.
- 81. Verkerk AO, Veldkamp MW, Coronel R, Wilders R, Van Ginneken ACG. Effects of Cell-to-Cell Uncoupling and Catecholamines on Purkinje and Ventricular Action Potentials: Implications for Phase-1b Arrhythmias. *Cardiovasc Res*. 2001;51:30–40.

- 82. Ramirez E, Saiz J, Romero L, Ferrero JM, Trenor B. In Silico Ischaemia-Induced Reentry at the Purkinje-Ventricle Interface. *Europace*. 2014;16:444–451.
- Zaglia T, Pianca N, Borile G, Da Broi F, Richter C, Campione M, Lehnart SE, Luther S, Corrado D, Miquerol L, Mongillo M. Optogenetic Determination of the Myocardial Requirements for Extrasystoles by Cell Type-Specific Targeting of Channel Rhodopsin-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2015;112:E4495–E4504.
- 84. Janse MJ, Kleber AG, Capucci A, Coronel R, Wilms-Schopman FJG. Electrophysiological Basis for Arrhythmias Caused by Acute Ischemia. Role of the Subendocardium. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1986;18:339–355.
- 85. Gilmour RF, Evans JJ, Zipes DP. Purkinje-Muscle Coupling and Endocardial Response to Hyperkalemia, Hypoxia, and Acidosis. *Am J Physiol*. 1984;247:H303–H311.
- 86. Ideker RE, Kong W, Pogwizd S. Purkinje Fibers and Arrhythmias. *Pacing Clnical Electrophysiol*. 2009;32:283–285.
- 87. Friedman PL, Stewart JR, Fenoglio JJ, Wit AL. Survival of Subendocardial Purkinje Fibers after Extensive Myocardial Infarction in Dogs: in vitro and in vivo Correlations. *Circ Res.* 1973;33:597–611.
- 88. Schomig A, Dart AM, Dietz R, Mayer E, Kubler W. Release of Endogenous Catecholamines in the Ischemic Myocardium of the Rat. Part A: Locally Mediated Release. *Circ Res.* 1984;55:689–701.
- 89. Schomig A, Haass M, Richardt G. Catecholamine Release and Arrhythmias in Acute Myocardial Ischaemia. *Eur Hear J*. 1991;12 Suppl F:38–47.
- 90. Overgaard CB, Dzavik V. Inotropes and Vasopressors: Review of Physiology and Clinical Use in Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation*. 2008;118:1047–1056.
- 91. Lameris TW, de Zeeuw S, Alberts G, Boomsma F, Duncker DJ, Verdouw PD, Veld AJ, van Den Meiracker AH. Time Course and Mechanism of Myocardial Catecholamine Release during Transient Ischemia in vivo. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2645–2650.
- 92. Mukherjee A, Wong TM, Buja LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Willerson JT. Beta Adrenergic

and Muscarinic Receptors in Canine Myocardium. Effects of Ischemia. *J Clin Invest*. 1979;64:1423–1428.

- 93. Corr PB, Shayman JA, Kramer JB, Kipnis RJ. Increased Alpha-Adrenergic Receptors in Ischemic Cat Myocardium. A Potential Mediator of Electrophysiological Derangements. *J Clin Invest*. 1981;67:1232–1236.
- 94. Kang M, Chung KY, Walker JW. G-protein Coupled Receptor Signaling in Myocardium: Not for the Faint of Heart. *Physiology (Bethesda)*. 2007;22:174–184.
- 95. Garcia-Sainz J, Vazquez-Prado J, del Carmen Medina L. A1 -Adrenoceptors: function and phosphorylation. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2000;389:1–12.
- 96. Belmonte SL, Blaxall BC. PKC-ing is believing: Targeting protein kinase C in heart failure. *Circ Res.* 2011;109:1320–1322.
- 97. Liu Q, Chen X, Macdonnell SM, Kranias EG, Lorenz JN, Leitges M, Houser SR, Molkentin JD. Protein kinase C(alpha), but Not PKC(beta) or PKC(gamma), regulates contractility and heart failure susceptibility: implications for Ruboxistaurin as a novel therapeutic approach. *Circ Res.* 2009;105:194–200.
- 98. O'Connell TDO, Jensen BC, Baker AJ, Simpson PC. Cardiac Alpha 1 -Adrenergic Receptors : Novel Aspects of Expression, Signaling Mechanisms, Physiologic Function, and Clinical Importance. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2014;66:308–333.
- 99. Podzuweit T, Els D., McCarthy J. Cyclic AMP mediated arrhythmias induced in the ischaemic pig heart. *Basic Res Cardiol*. 1981;76:443–448.
- 100. Linz D, Wirth K, Ukena C, Mahfoud F, Pöss J, Linz B, Böhm M, Neuberger HR. Renal denervation suppresses ventricular arrhythmias during acute ventricular ischemia in pigs. *Hear Rhythm*. 2013;10:1525–1530.
- Bolli R, Fisher D, Taylor A, Young J, Miller R. Effect of α-adrenergic blockade on arrhythmias induced byacute myocardial ischemia and reperfusion in the dog. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1984;16:1101–1117.
- 102. Kinoshita K, Hearse DJ, Braimbridge M V, Manning AS. Ischemia- and Reperfusion-Induced Arrhythmias in Conscious Rats. Jpn Circ J. 1988;52:1384– 1394.

- 103. Penny WJ. The deleterious effects of myocardial catecholamines on cellular electrophsiology and arrhythmias during ischaemia and reperfusion. *Eur Hear J*. 1984;960–973.
- 104. Doppalapudi H, Jin Q, Dosdall DJ, Qin H, Walcott GP, Killingsworth CR, Smith WM, Ideker RE, Huang J. Intracoronary infusion of catecholamines causes focal arrhythmias in pigs. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2008;19:963–970.
- Myles RC, Wang L, Kang C, Bers DM, Ripplinger CM. Local Beta-adrenergic stimulation overcomes source-sink mismatch to generate focal arrhythmia. *Circ Res.* 2012;110:1454–1464.
- 106. Rodriguez F, Langer F, Harrington KB, Cheng A, Daughters GT, Criscione JC, Ingels NB, Miller DC. Alterations in transmural strains adjacent to ischemic myocardium during acute midcircumflex occlusion. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;129:791–803.
- 107. Seki S, Horikoshi K, Takeda H, Izumi T, Nagata A, Okumura H, Taniguchi M, Mochizuki S. Effects of sustained low-flow ischemia and reperfusion on Ca2+ transients and contractility in perfused rat hearts. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2001;216:111– 119.
- 108. Lee JA, Allen DG. Mechanisms of acute ischemic contractile failure of the heart: Role of intracellular calcium. *J Clin Invest*. 1991;88:361–367.
- 109. Van Leuven SL, Waldman LK, McCulloch a D, Covell JW. Gradients of epicardial strain across the perfusion boundary during acute myocardial ischemia. *Am J Physiol*. 1994;267:H2348–62.
- 110. Moore CC, McVeigh ER, Zerhouni EA. Noninvasive Measurement of Three-Dimensional Myocardial Deformation with Tagged Magnetic Resonance Imaging During Graded Local Ischemia Christopher. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 1999;1:207–222.
- 111. Langer F, Rodriguez F, Cheng A, Ortiz S, Harrington KB, Zasio MK, Daughters GT, Criscione JC, Ingels NB, Miller DC. Alterations in Lateral Left Ventricular Wall Transmural Strains During Acute Circumflex and Anterior Descending Coronary Occlusion. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2007;84:51–60.
- 112. Delhaas T, Arts T, Prinzen FW, Reneman RS. Regional electrical activation and

mechanical function in the partially ischemic left ventricle of dogs. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 1996;271:H2411–H2420.

- 113. Bers DM. Cardiac excitation-contraction coupling. *Nature* [Internet]. 2002;415:198–205. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/415198a
- 114. Quinn TA, Kohl P, Ravens U. Cardiac mechano-electric coupling research: Fifty years of progress and scientific innovation. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol*. 2014;115:71–75.
- 115. Bainbridge FA. The influence of venous filling upon the rate of the heart. *J Physiol*. 1915;50:65–84.
- 116. Quinn TA. The importance of non-uniformities in mechano-electric coupling for ventricular arrhythmias. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*. 2014;39:25–35.
- 117. Taggart P, Sutton PMI. Cardiac mechano-electric feedback in man: Clinical relevance. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 1999;71:139–154.
- 118. Opthof T, Sutton P, Coronel R, Wright S, Kallis P, Taggart P. The Association of Abnormal Ventricular Wall Motion and Increased Dispersion of Repolarization in Humans is Independent of the Presence of Myocardial Infarction. *Front Physiol.* 2012;3:235.
- 119. Siogas K, Pappas S, Graekas G, Goudevenos J, Liapi G, Sideris D a. Segmental wall motion abnormalities alter vulnerability to ventricular ectopic beats associated with acute increases in aortic pressure in patients with underlying coronary artery disease. *Heart.* 1998;79:268–73.
- 120. Horner SM, Lab MJ, Murphy CF, Dick DJ, Zhou B, Harrison FG. Mechanically induced changes in action potential duration and left ventricular segment length in acute regional ischaemia in the in situ porcine heart. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1994;28:528–534.
- 121. Jie X, Gurev V, Trayanova N. Mechanisms of mechanically induced spontaneous arrhythmias in acute regional ischemia. *Circ Res.* 2010;106:185–192.
- 122. Kohl P, Sachs F. Mechanoelectric feedback in cardiac cells. *Phil Trans R Soc Lond* A. 2001;359:1173–1185.

- 123. Kohl P, Nesbitt AD, Cooper PJ, Lei M. Sudden cardiac death by Commotio cordis : role of mechano electric feedback. *N Engl J Med*. 2001;50:280–289.
- 124. Barrabés JA, Garcia-Dorado D, Agulló L, Rodríguez-Sinovas A, Padilla F, Trobo L, Soler-Soler J. Intracoronary infusion of Gd3+ into ischemic region does not suppress phase Ib ventricular arrhythmias after coronary occlusion in swine. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2006;290:H2344–H2350.
- 125. Bowman C, Gottlieb P, Suchyna T, Murphy Y, Sachs F. Mechanosensitive Ion Channels and the Peptide Inhibitor GsMTx-4: History, Properties, Mechanisms and Pharmacology Charles. *Toxicon*. 2007;49:249–270.
- 126. Barrabés JA, Inserte J, Agullo L, Rodriguez-Sinovas A, Alburquerque-Bejar JJ, Garcia-Dorado D. Effects of the Selective Stretch-Activated Channel Blocker GsMtx4 on Stretch-Induced Changes in Refractoriness in Isolated Rat Hearts and on Ventricular Premature Beats and Arrhythmias after Coronary Occlusion in Swine. *PLoS One.* 2015;10:e0125753.
- 127. Van Wagoner DR. Mechanosensitive gating of atrial ATP-sensitive potassium channels. *Circ Res.* 1993;72:973–983.
- 128. Coronel R, Wilms-Schopman FJG, Opthof T, Janse MJ. Dispersion of Repolarization and Arrhythmogenesis. *Hear Rhythm*. 2009;6:537–543.
- 129. Wakayama Y, Miura M, Sugai Y, Kagaya Y, Watanabe JUN, Keurs HEDJTER, Shirato K, Watanabe J, Henk EDJ. Stretch and quick release of rat cardiac trabeculae accelerates Ca 22 waves and triggered propagated contractions. *Analysis*. 2001;2133–2142.
- Housmans P, Lee NK, Blinks JR. Active Shortening Retards the Decline of the Intracellular Calcium Transient in Mammalian Heart Muscle. Science (80-). 1983;221:159–161.
- 131. Allen DG, Kentish JC. The Cellular Basis of the Length-Tension in Cardiac Muscle Relation. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1985;17:821–840.
- 132. ter Keurs HEDJ, Wakayama Y, Sugai Y, Price G, Kagaya Y, Boyden PA, Miura M, Stuyvers BD. Role of Sarcomere Mechanics and Ca2+ Overload in Ca2+ Waves and Arrhythmias in Rat Cardiac Muscle. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 2006;1080:248–267.

- 133. Wakayama Y, Miura M, Sugai Y, Kagaya Y, Watanabe JUN, Keurs HEDJTER, Shirato K, Watanabe J, Henk EDJ. Stretch and quick release of rat cardiac trabeculae accelerates Ca 2+ waves and triggered propagated contractions. *Analysis*. 2001;2133–2142.
- 134. Miura M, Wakayama Y, Endoh H, Nakano M, Sugai Y, Hirose M, Ter Keurs HE, Shimokawa H. Spatial non-uniformity of excitation-contraction coupling can enhance arrhythmogenic-delayed afterdepolarizations in rat cardiac muscle. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2008;80:55–61.
- 135. Daniels MC, Fedida D, Lamont C, ter Keurs HE. Role of the sarcolemma in triggered propagated contractions in rat cardiac trabeculae. *Circ Res.* 1991;68:1408–21.
- 136. Iribe G, Ward CW, Camelliti P, Bollensdorff C, Mason F, Burton R a B, Garny A, Morphew MK, Hoenger A, Lederer WJ, Kohl P. Axial stretch of rat single ventricular cardiomyocytes causes an acute and transient increase in Ca2+ spark rate. *Circ Res.* 2009;104:787–795.
- 137. Prosser BL, Ward C, Lederer W. X-ROS Signaling: Rapid Mechano-Chemo Transduction in Heart. *Science (80-)*. 2011;333:1440–1446.
- 138. Prosser BL, Ward CW, Lederer WJ. X-ROS signalling is enhanced and graded by cyclic cardiomyocyte stretch. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2013;98:307–14.
- 139. Clusin WT. Calcium and Cardiac Arrhythmias: DADs, EADs, and Alternans. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* 2003;40:337–375.
- Becker LB, vanden Hoek TL, Shao ZH, Li CQ, Schumacker PT. Generation of superoxide in cardiomyocytes during ischemia before reperfusion. *Am J Physiol*. 1999;277:H2240–6.
- 141. Janse MJ, Opthof T, Kleber AG. Animal Models of Cardiac Arrhythmias. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1998;39:165–177.
- 142. Pogwizd SM, Bers DM. Rabbit models of heart disease. *Drug Discov Today Dis Model*. 2008;5:185–193.
- 143. Kaese S, Frommeyer G, Verheule S, Van Loon G, Gehrmann J, Breithardt G, Eckardt L. The ECG in cardiovascular-relevant animal models of electrophysiology.

Herzschrittmachertherapie und Elektrophysiologie. 2013;24:84–91.

- 144. Panfilov A V. Is heart size a factor in ventricular fibrillation? Or how close are rabbit and human hearts? *Hear Rhythm*. 2006;3:862–864.
- 145. Hasenfuss G. Animal models of human cardiovascular disease, heart failure and hypertrophy. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1998;39:60–76.
- 146. Ng GA, Cobbe SM, Smith GL. Non-uniform prolongation of intracellular Ca2+ transients recorded from the epicardial surface of isolated hearts from rabbits with heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1998;37:489–502.
- 147. Harken AH, Simson MB, Haselgrove J, Wetstein L, Harden WR, Barlow CH. Early ischemia after complete coronary ligation in the rabbit, dog, pig, and monkey. *Am J Physiol*. 1981;241:H202–H210.
- 148. Charles River Research Models. Model Information Sheet: New Zealand White Rabbits. 2013;
- 149. Podesser B, Wollenek G, Seitelberger R, Siegel H, Wolner E, Firbas W, Tschabitscher M. Epicardial branches of the coronary arteries and their distribution in the rabbit heart: The rabbit heart as a model of regional ischemia. *Anat Rec.* 1997;247:521–527.
- 150. Ridley PD, Yacoub MH, Curtis MJ. A modified model of global ischaemia: application to the study of syncytial mechanisms of arrhythmogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1991;26:309–315.
- 151. Loew LM. Potentiometric dyes: Imaging electrical activity of cell membranes. *Pure Appl Chem.* 1996;68:1405–1409.
- 152. Matiukas A, Mitrea BG, Qin M, Pertsov AM, Shvedko AG, Warren MD, Zaitsev A V., Wuskell JP, Wei M-D, Watras J, Loew LM. Near-infrared voltage-sensitive fluorescent dyes optimized for optical mapping in blood-perfused myocardium. *Hear Rhythm*. 2007;4:1441–1451.
- 153. Paredes RM, Etzler JC, Watts LT, Zheng W, Lechleiter JD. Chemical calcium indicators. *Methods*. 2008;46:143–51.
- 154. Del Nido PJ, Glynn P, Buenaventura P, Salama G, Koretsky AP. Fluorescence measurement of calcium transients in perfused rabbit heart using rhod 2. *Am J Physiol*. 1998;274:H728–H741.
- 155. Trollinger DR, Cascio WE, Lemasters JJ. Selective loading of Rhod 2 into mitochondria shows mitochondrial Ca2+ transients during the contractile cycle in adult rabbit cardiac myocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1997;236:738–42.
- 156. Swift LM, Asfour H, Posnack NG, Arutunyan A, Kay MW, Sarvazyan N. Properties of blebbistatin for cardiac optical mapping and other imaging applications. *Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol*. 2012;464:503–512.
- 157. Fedorov V V., Lozinsky IT, Sosunov EA, Anyukhovsky EP, Rosen MR, Balke CW, Efimov IR. Application of blebbistatin as an excitation-contraction uncoupler for electrophysiologic study of rat and rabbit hearts. *Hear Rhythm*. 2007;4:619–626.
- 158. Kohno M, Yano M, Kobayashi S, Doi M, Oda T, Tokuhisa T, Okuda S, Ohkusa T, Kohno M, Matsuzaki M. A new cardioprotective agent, JTV519, improves defective channel gating of ryanodine receptor in heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2003;284:H1035–42.
- 159. Yano M, Kobayashi S, Kohno M, Doi M, Tokuhisa T, Okuda S, Suetsugu M, Hisaoka T, Obayashi M, Ohkusa T, Kohno M, Matsuzaki M. FKBP12.6-Mediated Stabilization of Calcium-Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) as a Novel Therapeutic Strategy Against Heart Failure. *Circulation*. 2003;107:477–484.
- 160. Nakaya H, Furusawa Y, Ogura T, Tamagawa M, Uemura H. Inhibitory effects of JTV-519, a novel cardioprotective drug, on potassium currents and experimental atrial fibrillation in guinea-pig hearts. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2000;131:1363–1372.
- 161. Blayney LM, Lai FA. Ryanodine receptor-mediated arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2009;123:151–177.
- 162. Ito K, Shigematsu S, Sato T, Abe T, Li Y, Arita M. JTV-519, a novel cardioprotective agent, improves the contractile recovery after ischaemiareperfusion in coronary perfused guinea-pig ventricular muscles. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2000;130:767–76.
- 163. Kobayashi S, Yano M, Uchinoumi H, Suetomi T, Susa T, Ono M, Xu X, Tateishi H, Oda T, Okuda S, Doi M, Yamamoto T, Matsuzaki M. Dantrolene, a therapeutic agent

for malignant hyperthermia, inhibits catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in a RyR2(R2474S/+) knock-in mouse model. *Circ J.* 2010;74:2579–2584.

- 164. Maxwell JT, Domeier TL, Blatter L a. Dantrolene prevents arrhythmogenic Ca2+ release in heart failure. *AJP Hear Circ Physiol*. 2012;302:H953–H963.
- 165. Kobayashi S, Yano M, Suetomi T, Ono M, Tateishi H, Mochizuki M, Xu X, Uchinoumi H, Okuda S, Yamamoto T, Koseki N, Kyushiki H, Ikemoto N, Matsuzaki M. Dantrolene, a therapeutic agent for malignant hyperthermia, markedly improves the function of failing cardiomyocytes by stabilizing interdomain interactions within the ryanodine receptor. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53:1993–2005.
- 166. Lee P, Bollensdorff C, Quinn TA, Wuskell JP, Loew LM, Kohl P. Single-sensor system for spatially resolved, continuous, and multiparametric optical mapping of cardiac tissue. *Hear Rhythm*. 2011;8:1482–1491.
- 167. Dominguez R. The Systolic Blood Pressure of the Normal Rabbit Measured by a Slightly Modified van Leersum Method. *J Exp Med.* 1927;46:443–461.
- 168. Weiss JN, Nivala M, Garfinkel A, Qu Z. Alternans and arrhythmias : From cell to heart. *Circ Res.* 2011;108:98–112.
- Pruvot EJ, Katra RP, Rosenbaum DS, Laurita KR. Role of Calcium Cycling Versus Restitution in the Mechanism of Repolarization Alternans. *Circ Res.* 2004;94:1083– 1090.
- 170. Laurita KR, Rosenbaum DS. Mechanisms and potential therapeutic targets for ventricular arrhythmias associated with impaired cardiac calcium cycling. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2008;44:31–43.
- 171. Wu Y, Clusin WT. Calcium transient alternans in blood-perfused ischemic hearts: observations with fluorescent indicator fura red. *Am J Physiol*. 1997;273:H2161–9.
- 172. Qian YW, Clusin WT, Lin SF, Han J, Sung RJ. Spatial heterogeneity of calcium transient alternans during the early phase of myocardial ischemia in the blood-perfused rabbit heart. *Circulation*. 2001;104:2082–2087.
- 173. Miklós Z, Ivanics T, Roemen THM, van der Vusse GJ, Dézsi L, Szekeres M,

Kemecsei P, Tóth A, Kollai M, Ligeti L. Time related changes in calcium handling in the isolated ischemic and reperfused rat heart. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2003;250:115–24.

- 174. Xu L, Mann G, Meissner G. Regulation of Cardiac Ca2+ Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) by Ca2+, H+, Mg2+, and Adenine Nucleotides Under Normal and Simulated Ischemic Conditions. *Circ Res.* 1996;79:1100–1109.
- 175. Stamm C, Friehs I, Choi Y-H, Zurakowski D, McGowan F., del Nido PJ. Cytosolic calcium in the ischemic rabbit heart: assessment by pH- and temperature-adjusted rhod-2 spectrofluorometry. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2003;59:695–704.
- 176. Imahashi K, Pott C, Goldhaber JI, Steenbergen C, Philipson KD, Murphy E. Cardiac-specific ablation of the Na+-Ca2+ exchanger confers protection against ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Circ Res.* 2005;97:916–921.
- 177. Murphy E, Perlman M, London RE, Steenbergen C. Amiloride delays the ischemiainduced rise in cytosolic free calcium. *Circ Res.* 1991;68:1250–1258.
- 178. Shan J, Kushnir A, Betzenhauser MJ, Reiken S, Li J, Lehnart SE, Lindegger N, Mongillo M, Mohler PJ, Marks AR. Phosphorylation of the ryanodine receptor mediates the cardiac fight or flight response in mice. *J Clin Invest*. 2010;120:4388– 4398.
- 179. Hool LC. Hypoxia alters the sensitivity of the L-type Ca(2+) channel to alphaadrenergic receptor stimulation in the presence of beta-adrenergic receptor stimulation. *Circ Res* [Internet]. 2001;88:1036–1043. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11375273
- 180. Hool LC. Current to ^{**} -Adrenergic Receptor Stimulation via a C2 Region Containing Protein Kinase C Isoform. 2000;1164–1171.
- 181. Vanden Hoek TL, Li C, Shao Z, Schumacker PT, Becker LB. Significant levels of oxidants are generated by isolated cardiomyocytes during ischemia prior to reperfusion. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1997;29:2571–2583.
- 182. Kevin LG, Camara AKS, Riess ML, Novalija E, Stowe DF. Ischemic preconditioning alters real-time measure of O2 radicals in intact hearts with ischemia and reperfusion. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol* [Internet]. 2003;284:H566–H574.

Available

from:

http://ajpheart.physiology.org/content/284/2/H566\nhttp://ajpheart.physiology.org/ content/284/2/H566.long\nhttp://ajpheart.physiology.org/content/ajpheart/284/2/H 566.full.pdf\nhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414448

- 183. Hool LC. Evidence for the regulation of L-type Ca2+ channels in the heart by reactive oxygen species: Mechanism for mediating pathology. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*. 2008;35:229–234.
- 184. Köhler AC, Sag CM, Maier LS. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology Reactive oxygen species and excitation – contraction coupling in the context of cardiac pathology. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2014;73:92–102.
- 185. Tang H, Viola HM, Filipovska A, Hool LC. Ca v1.2 calcium channel is glutathionylated during oxidative stress in guinea pig and ischemic human heart. *Free Radic Biol Med* [Internet]. 2011;51:1501–1511. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.07.005
- 186. Muralidharan P, Cserne Szappanos H, Ingley E, Hool L. Evidence for redox sensing by a human cardiac calcium channel. *Sci Rep* [Internet]. 2016;6:19067. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26750869
- 187. Venkataraman R, Holcomb MR, Harder R, Knollmann BC, Baudenbacher F. Ratiometric imaging of calcium during ischemia-reperfusion injury in isolated mouse hearts using Fura-2. *Biomed Eng Online*. 2012;11:39.
- 188. Shintani-Ishida K, Yoshida K ichi. Ischemia induces phospholamban dephosphorylation via activation of calcineurin, PKC-(alpha), and protein phosphatase 1, thereby inducing calcium overload in reperfusion. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* 2011;1812:743–751.
- 189. Ueyama T, Zipes DP, Lopshire JC, Wu J. Brief endocardial surge of Ca(2+) transient but monotonic suppression of action potential occurs during acute ischemia in canine ventricular tissue. *Heart Rhythm.* 2013;10:1201–8.
- 190. Hehl S, Moser C, Weik R, Neumcke B. Internal Ca2+ ions inactivate and modify ATP-sensitive potassium channels in adult mouse skeletal muscle. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1994;1190:257–263.
- 191. Noble D, Noble PJ. Late sodium current in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular

disease: consequences of sodium-calcium overload. *Heart* [Internet]. 2006;92 Suppl 4:iv1–iv5. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1861316&tool=pmcent rez&rendertype=abstract

- 192. Lang D, Holzem K, Kang C, Xiao M, Hwang HJ, Ewald GA, Yamada KA, Efimov IR. Arrhythmogenic Remodeling of β2 Versus β1 Adrenergic Signaling in the Human Failing Heart. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol*. 2015;8:409–419.
- 193. Lakireddy V, Baweja P, Syed A, Bub G, Boutjdir M, El-Sherif N. Contrasting effects of ischemia on the kinetics of membrane voltage and intracellular calcium transient underlie electrical alternans. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2005;288:H400–H407.
- 194. Nearing BD, Verrier RL. Progressive increases in complexity of T-wave oscillations herald ischemia-induced ventricular fibrillation. *Circ Res.* 2002;91:727–732.
- 195. Pastore JM, Girouard SD, Laurita KR, Akar FG, Rosenbaum DS. Mechanism linking T-wave alternans to the genesis of cardiac fibrillation. *Circulation*. 1999;99:1385–1394.
- 196. Chudin E, Goldhaber J, Garfinkel A, Weiss J, Kogan B. Intracellular Ca(2+) dynamics and the stability of ventricular tachycardia. *Biophys J*. 1999;77:2930–2941.
- 197. Laurita KR, Katra R, Wible B, Xiaoping W, Koo MH. Transmural Heterogeneity of Calcium Handling in Canine. *Circ Res.* 2003;92:668–675.
- 198. Katra RP, Pruvot EJ, Laurita KR. Intracellular calcium handling heterogeneities in intact guinea pig hearts. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2004;286:H648–56.
- 199. Kurz RW, Mohabir R, Ren XL, Franz MR. Ischaemia induced alternans of action potential duration in the intact-heart: dependence on coronary flow, preload and cycle length. *Eur Heart J.* 1993;14:1410–20.
- Walker ML, Rosenbaum DS. Repolarization alternans: Implications for the mechanism and prevention of sudden cardiac death. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2003;57:599– 614.

- 201. Groenke S, Larson ED, Alber S, Zhang R, Lamp ST, Ren X, Nakano H, Jordan MC, Karagueuzian HS, Roos KP, Nakano A, Proenza C, Philipson KD, Goldhaber JI. Complete atrial-specific knockout of sodium-calcium exchange eliminates sinoatrial node pacemaker activity. *PLoS One.* 2013;8.
- Kapoor N, Tran A, Kang J, Zhang R, Philipson KD, Goldhaber JI. Regulation of calcium clock-mediated pacemaking by inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors in mouse sinoatrial nodal cells. *J Physiol.* 2015;593:2649–2663.
- 203. Katra RP, Laurita KR. Cellular mechanism of calcium-mediated triggered activity in the heart. *Circ Res.* 2005;96:535–542.
- 204. Choi B-R, Burton F, Salama G. Cytosolic Ca2+ triggers early afterdepolarizations and Torsade de Pointes in rabbit hearts with type 2 long QT syndrome. *J Physiol*. 2002;543:615–631.
- 205. Myles RCC, Wang L, Kang C, Bers DMM, Ripplinger CMM. Local B-adrenergic stimulation overcomes source-sink mismatch to generate focal arrhythmia. *Circ Res*. 2012;110:1454–1464.
- Simon JN, Duglan D, Casadei B, Carnicer R. Nitric oxide synthase regulation of cardiac excitation-contraction coupling in health and disease. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2014;73:80–91.
- 207. Sánchez G, Pedrozo Z, Domenech RJ, Hidalgo C, Donoso P. Tachycardia increases NADPH oxidase activity and RyR2 S-glutathionylation in ventricular muscle. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2005;39:982–991.
- 208. Petroff MG, Kim SH, Pepe S, Dessy C, Marbán E, Balligand JL, Sollott SJ. Endogenous nitric oxide mechanisms mediate the stretch dependence of Ca2+ release in cardiomyocytes. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2001;3:867–873.
- 209. Jian Z, Han H, Zhang T, Puglisi J, Izu LT, Shaw JA, Onofiok E, Erickson JR, Chen Y-J, Horvath B, Shimkunas R, Xiao W, Li Y, Pan T, Chan J, Banyasz T, Tardiff JC, Chiamvimonvat N, Bers DM, Lam KS, Chen-Izu Y. Mechanochemotransduction During Cardiomyocyte Contraction Is Mediated by Localized Nitric Oxide Signaling. *Sci Signal*. 2014;7:ra27–ra27.
- 210. Miura M, Murai N, Hattori T, Nagano T, Stuyvers BD, Shindoh C. Role of reactive oxygen species and Ca2+ dissociation from the myofilaments in determination of

Ca2+ wave propagation in rat cardiac muscle. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2013;56:97–105.

- 211. Sugai Y, Miura M, Hirose M, Wakayama Y, Endoh H, Nishio T, Watanabe J, ter Henk E. D. J. K, Shirato K, Shimokawa H. Contribution of Na+/Ca2+ Exchange Current to the Formation of Delayed Afterdepolarizations in Intact Rat Ventricular Muscle. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*. 2009;53:517–522.
- 212. Moreau D, Rochette L, Didier J., Opie L., Bralet J. Effects of Increased Heart Work on Release of Norepinephrine and Ventricular Arrhythmias Following Reperfusion in Isolated Rat Heart. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*. 1990;15:927–932.
- 213. Billman GE, McIlroy B, Johnson JD. Elevated cardiac myocardial calcium and its role in sudden cardiac death. *FASEB J.* 1991;5:2586–2592.
- 214. Wu T-J, Lin S-F, Hsieh Y-C, Lin T-C, Lin J-C, Ting C-T. Pretreatment of BAPTA-AM Suppresses the Genesis of Repetitive Endocardial Focal Discharges and Pacing-Induced Ventricular Arrhythmia During Global Ischemia. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2011;22:1154–1162.
- 215. Grandis DJ, del Nido PJ, Koretsky AP. Functional and energetic effects of the inotropic agents EMD-57033 and BAPTA on the isolated rat heart. *Am J Physiol*. 1995;269:C472–9.
- 216. Stuehr DJ, Fasehun O a, Kwon NS, Gross SS, Gonzalez J a, Levi R, Nathan CF. Inhibition of macrophage and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase by diphenyleneiodonium and its analogs. *FASEB J*. 1991;5:98–103.
- 217. Marx SO, Reiken S, Hisamatsu Y, Jayaraman T, Burkhoff D, Rosemblit N, Marks AR. PKA phosphorylation dissociates FKBP12.6 from the calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor): defective regulation in failing hearts. *Cell*. 2000;101:365–76.
- 218. Kaneko N, Matsuda R, Hata Y, Shimamoto K. Pharmacological characteristics and clinical applications of K201. *Curr Clin Pharmacol*. 2009;4:126–131.
- 219. Kim JJ, Němec J, Li Q, Salama G. Synchronous Systolic Subcellular Ca 2+ -Elevations Underlie Ventricular Arrhythmia in Drug-Induced Long QT Type 2. *Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol*. 2015;8:703–712.
- 220. Boyden PA, Dun W, Barbhaiya C, ter Keurs HEDJ. 2APB- and JTV519(K201)-

sensitive micro Ca2+ waves in arrhythmogenic Purkinje cells that survive in infarcted canine heart. *Heart Rhythm*. 2004;1:218–226.

- 221. Krause T, Gerbershagen MU, Fiege M, Weisshorn R, Wappler F. Dantrolene--a review of its pharmacology, therapeutic use and new developments. *Anaesthesia*. 2004;59:364–373.
- 222. Roewer N, Kuck KH, Nienaber C, Schroeder E, Schulte am Esch J. Electrophysiologic Effects of Intravenous Dantrolene on Dog Hearts. *Anesthesiology*. 1984;61:A254.
- 223. Salata J., Wasserstrom J., Jalife J. Dantrolene Sodium : Effects on Isolated Cardiac Tissues. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1983;243:233–243.
- 224. Meszaros J, Kecskemeti V, Szegi J. Effect of Dantrolene Sodium on the Transmembrane Potentials and Contractility of Guinea Pig Atrial Myocardium. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 1981;74:181–188.
- 225. Salata JJ, Jalife J. Effects of dantrolene sodium on the electrophysiological properties of canine cardiac Purkinje fibers. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 1982;220:157–66.
- 226. Chou C-C, Lee H-L, Chang P-C, Wo H-T, Wen M-S, Yeh S-J. Effects of dantrolene on arrhythmogenicity in isolated regional ischemia-reperfusion rabbit hearts with or without pacing-induced heart failure. *Biomed Res Int*. 2015;2015:532820.
- 227. Penttinen K, Swan H, Vanninen S, Paavola J, Lahtinen AM, Kontula K, Aalto-Setälä K. Antiarrhythmic Effects of Dantrolene in Patients with Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia and Replication of the Responses Using iPSC Models. *PLoS One*. 2015;10:e0125366.
- 228. Zamiri N, Masse S, Ramadeen A, Kusha M, Hu X, Azam MA, Liu J, Lai PFH, Vigmond EJ, Boyle PM, Behradfar E, Al-Hesayen A, Waxman MB, Backx P, Dorian P, Nanthakumar K. Dantrolene Improves Survival After Ventricular Fibrillation by Mitigating Impaired Calcium Handling in Animal Models. *Circulation*. 2014;129:875–885.
- 229. Domeier TL, Roberts CJ, Gibson AK, Hanft LM, McDonald KS, Segal SS. Dantrolene suppresses spontaneous Ca2+ release without altering excitation-contraction coupling in cardiomyocytes of aged mice. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ*

Physiol. 2014;H8181 – H829.

- 230. Mattiazzi A, Argenziano M, Aguilar-Sanchez Y, Mazzocchi G, Escobar AL. Ca(2+) Sparks and Ca(2+) waves are the subcellular events underlying Ca(2+) overload during ischemia and reperfusion in perfused intact hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2015;79:69–78.
- 231. Stoyanovsky D, Murphy T, Anno PR, Kim YM, Salama G. Nitric oxide activates skeletal and cardiac ryanodine receptors. *Cell Calcium*. 1997;21:19–29.
- Xu L, Eu JP, Meissner G, Stamler JS. Activation of the Cardiac Calcium Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) by Poly-S-Nitrosylation. Science (80-). 1998;279:234–237.
- 233. Hahn NE, Meischl C, Wijnker PJM, Rene JP, Fornerod M, Janssen HWRM, Walter J, Rossum AC Van, Niessen HWM, Krijnen AJ. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry Biochemistry Nuclear Pore Complex in Ischemic Cardio- myocytes Colocalizing with Local Reactive Oxygen Species. 2011;471–478.
- 234. Krijnen PAJ. Apoptosis in myocardial ischaemia and infarction. *J Clin Pathol.* 2002;55:801–811.
- 235. Kohl P, Crampin EJ, Quinn TA, Noble D. Systems Biology: An Approach. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2010;88:25–33.

APPENDIX

5/9/2016

RightsLink - Your Account

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This is an Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier"). It consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard, Langford Lane Kidlington Oxford OX5 10B LIK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Peter AR Baumeister
Customer address	6289 Quinpool Road
	Halifax, NS B3L1A4
License number	3845530260826
License date	Apr 10, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Cardiac Electrophysiology Clinics
Licensed content title	Overview of Basic Mechanisms of Cardiac Arrhythmia
Licensed content author	Charles Antzelevitch, Alexander Burashnikov
Licensed content date	March 2011
Licensed content volume number	3
Licensed content issue number	1
Number of pages	23
Start Page	23
End Page	45
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 2.
Title of your thesis/dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Expected completion date	May 2016
Estimated size (number	100

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=adad83d2-560f-40eb-84e6-82c8421ab43a&email=

RightsLink - Your Account

5/9/2016

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier." 4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=adad83d2-560f-40eb-84e6-82c8421ab43a&email=

RightsLink - Your Account

discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types: 15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/iournal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above:

Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peer-reviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage.

Accepted Author Manuscripts: An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editorauthor communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - foo private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
 - after the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal

3/5

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=adad83d2-560f-40eb-84e6-82c8421ab43a&email=

RightsLink - Your Account

article

5/9/2016

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

<u>Subscription Articles</u>: If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version.

Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes. **Gold Open Access Articles:** May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

19. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our <u>open access published policy</u> for more information.

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:

Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated.

The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:

CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0.

CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=adad83d2-560f-40eb-84e6-82c8421ab43a&email=

RightsLink - Your Account

license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</u>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.8

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=adad83d2-560f-40eb-84e6-82c8421ab43a&email=

5/5

Figure A.1 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.1 - Used with permission from: "Overview of Basic Mechanism of Cardiac Arrhythmia" by Antzelevitch and Burashnikov.²⁵

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	3864941067764
License date	May 09, 2016
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Circulation
Licensed Content Title	Effect of acute coronary artery occlusion on local myocardial extracellular K activity in swine.
Licensed Content Author	J L Hill, L S Gettes
Licensed Content Date	Apr 1, 1980
Licensed Content Volume Number	61
Licensed Content Issue Number	4
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Portion	Figures/table/illustration
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Figures/tables/illustrations used	Figure 3.
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Expected completion date	May 2016
Estimated size(pages)	100
Requestor Location	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road
	Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

RightsLink Printable License Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister 0.00 CAD

Total

Terms and Conditions

Terms and conditions Wolters Kluwer Health

- <u>Transfer of License:</u> Wolters Kluwer hereby grants you a non-exclusive license to reproduce this material for this purpose, and for no other use, subject to the conditions herein
- <u>Credit Line</u>: A credit line will be prominently placed, wherever the material is reused and include: the author(s), title of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number and inclusive pages.

Where a journal is being published by a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

- i. <u>for Open access journals</u>: The following statement needs to be added when reprinting the material in Open Access journals only: 'promotional and commercial use of the material in print, digital or mobile device format is prohibited without the permission from the publisher Wolters Kluwer Health. Please contact <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u> for further information
- 3. <u>Exceptions:</u> In case of *Disease Colon Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, The* Green Journal, Critical care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Publications, the American Academy of Neurology the following guideline applies: no drug/ trade name or logo can be included in the same page as the material re-used.
- 4. <u>Translations:</u> When requesting a permission to translate a full text article, Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins request to receive the pdf of the translated document. This disclaimer should be added at all times: Wolters Kluwer Health and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- Warranties The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, or authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer
- Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer and their respective
 officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs,
 proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorised use of the Licensed Material.
- <u>Geographical Scope</u>: Permission granted is valid worldwide in the English language and the languages specified in your original request
- 8. Wolters Kluwer cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork or a "clean copy."
- Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer imprint (Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams & Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg)
- Termination of contract: If you opt not to use the material requested above please notify RightsLink or Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins within 90 days of the original invoice date.
- 11. This permission does not apply to <u>images</u> that are credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer journals. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health journal publications, you will need to obtain permission from the journal referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of image(s) or table(s)
- 12. Third party material: Adaptations are protected by copyright, so if you would like to reuse material that we have adapted from another source, you will need not only our permission, but the permission of the rights holder of the original material. Similarly, if you want to reuse an adaptation of original LWW content that appears in another publishers work, you will need our permission and that of the next publisher. The adaptation should be credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health: Book author, title, year of publication or Journal name, article author, title, reference citation, year of

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

2/4

5/9/2016

publication.

RightsLink Printable License

- Altering or modifying material: Please note that modification of text within figures or full- text article is strictly forbidden.
- 14. Please note that articles in the <u>ahead-of-print stage</u> of publication can be cited and the content may be re-used by including the date of access and the unique DOI number. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic issue. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the Published Ahead-of-Print section have been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as publish ahead-of-print may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Accordingly, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, the editors and authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.
- 15. Duration of the license:
 - i. Permission is granted for a one-time use only within 12 months from the date of this invoice. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editors, revisions, or other derivative works. Once the 12- month term has expired, permission to renew must be submitted in writing.
 - ii. For content reused in another journal or book, in print or electronic format, the license is one-time use and lasts for the 1st edition of a book or for the life of the edition in case of journals.
 - iii. If your Permission Request is for use on a <u>website (which is not a journal or a book)</u>, <u>internet</u>, <u>intranet</u>, <u>or any publicly accessible site</u>, you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months or else renew your permission request.
- 16. <u>Contingent on payment:</u> While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.
- 17. <u>Waived permission fee:</u> If the permission fee for the requested use of our material has been waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Wolters Kluwer materials may attract a fee on another occasion. Please always check with the Wolters Kluwer Permissions Team if in doubt <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u>

For Books only:

18. Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works.

Service Description for Content Services

Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:

• <u>Content Rental</u>: You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

RightsLink Printable License

• <u>Content Purchase</u>: You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to create additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials.

The materials may be accessed and used only by the person who placed the Order or the person on whose behalf the order was placed and only in accordance with the terms included in the particular order.

SPECIAL CASES:

1. For STM Signatories only, as agreed as part of the STM Guidelines

Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply also to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts.

Please click here to view the STM guidelines.

Other Terms and Conditions: v1.13

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

4/4

Figure A.2 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.2 A - Used with permission from: "Effect of Acute Coronary Artery Occlusion on Local Myocardial Extracellular K⁺ Activity in Swine" by Hill and Gettes.⁴²

RightsLink - Your Account

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	3852040199800
License date	Apr 18, 2016
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Circulation Research
Licensed Content Title	Resting membrane potential, extracellular potassium activity, and intracellular sodium activity during acute global ischemia in isolated perfused guinea pig hearts.
Licensed Content Author	A G Kléber
Licensed Content Date	Apr 1, 1983
Licensed Content Volume Number	52
Licensed Content Issue Number	4
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual Account
Portion	Figures/table/illustration
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Figures/tables/illustrations used	Figure 3.
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Expected completion date	May 2016
Estimated size(pages)	100
Requestor Location	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road None None Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road None Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister

RightsLink - Your Account

5/9/2016

Total

0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

Terms and conditions Wolters Kluwer Health

- <u>Transfer of License</u>: Wolters Kluwer hereby grants you a non-exclusive license to reproduce this material for this purpose, and for no other use, subject to the conditions herein
- <u>Credit Line:</u> A credit line will be prominently placed, wherever the material is reused and include: the author(s), title
 of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number and inclusive pages.

Where a journal is being published by a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

- i. <u>for Open access journals</u>: The following statement needs to be added when reprinting the material in Open Access journals only: 'promotional and commercial use of the material in print, digital or mobile device format is prohibited without the permission from the publisher Wolters Kluwer Health. Please contact <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u> for further information
- 3. Exceptions: In case of Disease Colon Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, The Green Journal, Critical care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Publications, the American Academy of Neurology the following guideline applies: no drug/ trade name or logo can be included in the same page as the material re-used.
- 4. <u>Translations:</u> When requesting a permission to translate a full text article, Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins request to receive the pdf of the translated document. This disclaimer should be added at all times: Wolters Kluwer Health and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- <u>Warranties</u> The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, or authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer
- 6. <u>Indemnity:</u> You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs, proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorised use of the Licensed Material.
- <u>Geographical Scope</u>: Permission granted is valid worldwide in the English language and the languages specified in your original request
- 8. Wolters Kluwer cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork or a "clean copy."
- Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer imprint (Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams & Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harval, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg)
- 10. <u>Termination of contract:</u> If you opt not to use the material requested above please notify RightsLink or Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins within 90 days of the original invoice date.
- 11. This permission does not apply to <u>images</u> that are credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer journals. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health journal publications, you will need to obtain permission from the journal referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of image(s) or table(s)
- 12. <u>Third party material:</u> Adaptations are protected by copyright, so if you would like to reuse material that we have adapted from another source, you will need not only our permission, but the permission of the rights holder of the original material. Similarly, if you want to reuse an adaptation of original LWWV content that appears in another publishers work, you will need our permission and that of the next publisher. The adaptation should be credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health: Book author, title, year of publication or Journal name, article author, title, reference citation, year of publication.
- <u>Altering or modifying material</u>: Please note that modification of text within figures or full- text article is strictly forbidden.
- 14. Please note that articles in the <u>ahead-of-print stace</u> of publication can be cited and the content may be re-used by including the date of access and the unique DOI number. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic issue. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the Published Ahead-of-Print section have been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as publish ahead-of-print may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Accordingly, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, the editors and authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.
- 15. Duration of the license:

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=3ae620ff-a215-4186-b556-c166be88c1ef&email=

RightsLink - Your Account

- i. Permission is granted for a one-time use only within 12 months from the date of this invoice. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editors, revisions, or other derivative works. Once the 12- month term has expired, permission to renew must be submitted in writing.
- ii. For content reused in another journal or book, in print or electronic format, the license is one-time use and lasts for the 1st edition of a book or for the life of the edition in case of journals.
- iii. If your Permission Request is for use on a <u>website (which is not a journal or a book)</u>, internet, intranet, or any <u>publicly accessible site</u>, you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months or else renew your permission request.
- 16. <u>Contingent on payment:</u> While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.
- 17. <u>Waived permission fee:</u> If the permission fee for the requested use of our material has been waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Wolters Kluwer materials may attract a fee on another occasion. Please always check with the Wolters Kluwer Permissions Team if in doubt <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u>

For Books only:

 Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works.

Service Description for Content Services

Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:

• <u>Content Rental</u>: You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.

• <u>Content Purchase</u>: You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to create additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials.

The materials may be accessed and used only by the person who placed the Order or the person on whose behalf the order was placed and only in accordance with the terms included in the particular order.

SPECIAL CASES:

1. For STM Signatories only, as agreed as part of the STM Guidelines

Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply also to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts.

Please click here to view the STM guidelines.

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=3ae620ff-a215-4186-b556-c166be88c1ef&email=

RightsLink - Your Account

Other Terms and Conditions: v1.13

Questions? customercare@copyright.com or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/MyAccount/web/jsp/viewprintablelicensefrommyorders.jsp?ref=3ae620ff-a215-4186-b556-c166be88c1ef&email=

Figure A.3 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.2 B - Used with permission from: "Resting Membrane Potential, Extracellular Potassium Activity, and Intracellular Sodium Activity During Acute Global Ischemia in Isolated Perfused Guinea Pig Hearts" by Kléber.⁴³

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

5/9/2016

May 09, 2016

This Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	3846131014538
License date	Apr 11, 2016
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Circulation Research
Licensed Content Title	Quantification of [Ca2]i in perfused hearts. Critical evaluation of the 5F-BAPTA and nuclear magnetic resonance method as applied to the study of ischemia and reperfusion.
Licensed Content Author	E Marban, M Kitakaze, Y Koretsune, D T Yue, V P Chacko, M M Pike
Licensed Content Date	May 1, 1990
Licensed Content Volume Number	66
Licensed Content Issue Number	5
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Portion	Figures/table/illustration
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Figures/tables/illustrations used	Figure 8.
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Expected completion date	May 2016
Estimated size(pages)	100
Requestor Location	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road
	Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road

 $https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF jsp?ref = 35e1e559 \cdot bcd3 \cdot 4869 \cdot 8398 \cdot 1974550c2494$

Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister 0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

Terms and conditions Wolters Kluwer Health

- <u>Transfer of License</u>: Wolters Kluwer hereby grants you a non-exclusive license to reproduce this material for this purpose, and for no other use, subject to the conditions herein
- <u>Credit Line:</u> A credit line will be prominently placed, wherever the material is reused and include: the author(s), title of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number and inclusive pages.

 Where a journal is being published by a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

 i. for Open access journals:

- i. <u>for Open access journals</u>: The following statement needs to be added when reprinting the material in Open Access journals only: 'promotional and commercial use of the material in print, digital or mobile device format is prohibited without the permission from the publisher Wolters Kluwer Health. Please contact healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com for further information
- Exceptions: In case of Disease Colon Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, The Green Journal, Critical care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Publications, the American Academy of Neurology the following guideline applies: no drug/ trade name or logo can be included in the same page as the material re-used.
- 4. <u>Translations</u>: When requesting a permission to translate a full text article, Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins request to receive the pdf of the translated document. This disclaimer should be added at all times: Wolters Kluwer Health and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- <u>Warranties</u> The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, or authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer
- Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer and their respective
 officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs,
 proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorised use of the Licensed Material.
- 7. <u>Geographical Scope</u>: Permission granted is valid worldwide in the English language and the languages specified in your original request
- 8. Wolters Kluwer cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork or a "clean copy."
 9. Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer imprint
- (Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams &Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg)
- Termination of contract: If you opt not to use the material requested above please notify RightsLink or Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins within 90 days of the original invoice date.
- 11. This permission does not apply to <u>images</u> that are credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer journals. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health journal publications, you will need to obtain permission from the journal referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of image(s) or table(s)
- 12. <u>Third party material:</u> Adaptations are protected by copyright, so if you would like to reuse material that we have adapted from another source, you will need not only our permission, but the permission of the rights holder of the original material. Similarly, if you want to reuse an adaptation of original LWW content that appears in another publishers work, you will need our permission and that of the next publisher. The adaptation should be credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health: Book author,

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=35e1e559-bcd3-4869-8398-1974550c2494

2/4

5/9/2016

Tota

RightsLink Printable License

title, year of publication or Journal name, article author, title, reference citation, year of

- publication. 13. <u>Altering or modifying material:</u> Please note that modification of text within figures or full- text article is strictly forbidden.
- 14. Please note that articles in the ahead-of-print stage of publication can be cited and the content may be re-used by including the date of access and the unique DOI number. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic issue. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the Published Aheadof-Print section have been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as publish ahead-ofprint may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Accordingly, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, the editors and authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.

15. Duration of the license:

- i. Permission is granted for a one-time use only within 12 months from the date of this invoice. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editors, revisions, or other derivative works. Once the 12- month term has expired, permission to renew must be submitted in writing.
- ii. For content reused in another journal or book, in print or electronic format, the license is one-time use and lasts for the 1st edition of a book or for the life of the edition in case of journals.
- iii. If your Permission Request is for use on a website (which is not a journal or a book), internet, intranet, or any publicly accessible site, you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months or else renew your permission request.
- 16. Contingent on payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.
- 17. Waived permission fee: If the permission fee for the requested use of our material has been waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Wolters Kluwer materials may attract a fee on another occasion. Please always check with the Wolters Kluwer Permissions Team if in doubt healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com

For Books only:

18. Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works.

Service Description for Content Services

Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:

· Content Rental: You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=35e1e559-bcd3-4869-8398-1974550c2494

RightsLink Printable License

• <u>Content Purchase</u>: You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to create additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials.

The materials may be accessed and used only by the person who placed the Order or the person on whose behalf the order was placed and only in accordance with the terms included in the particular order.

SPECIAL CASES:

1. For STM Signatories only, as agreed as part of the STM Guidelines

Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply also to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts.

Please click here to view the STM guidelines.

Other Terms and Conditions: v1.13

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=35e1e559-bcd3-4869-8398-1974550c2494

4/4

Figure A.4 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.3 - Used with permission from "Quantification of $[\mathrm{Ca}^{2+}]_i$ in Perfused

Hearts" by Marban et al.52

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3846160876462
License date	Apr 11, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Cardiovascular Research
Licensed content title	Electrophysiologic effects of acute myocardial ischemia: a theoretical study of altered cell excitability and action potential duration
Licensed content author	Robin M. Shaw, Yoram Rudy
Licensed content date	1997-08-01
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	None
Title of your work	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Publisher of your work	n/a
Expected publication date	May 2016
Permissions cost	0.00 USD
Value added tax	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REPRODUCTION OF MATERIAL FROM AN OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS JOURNAL

1. Use of the material is restricted to the type of use specified in your order details. 2. This permission covers the use of the material in the English language in the following territory: world. If you have requested additional permission to translate this material, the terms and conditions of this reuse will be set out in clause 12.

3. This permission is limited to the particular use authorized in (1) above and does not allow you to sanction its use elsewhere in any other format other than specified above, nor does it apply to quotations, images, artistic works etc that have been reproduced from other sources which may be part of the material to be used.

4. No alteration, omission or addition is made to the material without our written consent.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=03c8511a-0f8d-4437-a680-681b7cf34a81

Permission must be re-cleared with Oxford University Press if/when you decide to reprint. 5. The following credit line appears wherever the material is used: author, title, journal, year, volume, issue number, pagination, by permission of Oxford University Press or the sponsoring society if the journal is a society journal. Where a journal is being published on behalf of a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line. 6. For the reproduction of a full article from an Oxford University Press journal for whatever purpose, the corresponding author of the material concerned should be informed of the proposed use. Contact details for the corresponding authors of all Oxford University Press journal contact can be found alongside either the abstract or full text of the article concerned, accessible from www.oxfordjournals.org Should there be a problem clearing these rights, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

7. If the credit line or acknowledgement in our publication indicates that any of the figures, images or photos was reproduced, drawn or modified from an earlier source it will be necessary for you to clear this permission with the original publisher as well. If this permission has not been obtained, please note that this material cannot be included in your publication/photocopies.

8. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Oxford University Press or by Copyright Clearance Center (CCC)) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and Oxford University Press reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned or transferred by you to any other person without Oxford University Press's written permission.

10. Oxford University Press reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

11. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Oxford University Press and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employs and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

12. Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.4

5/9/2016

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=03c8511a-0f8d-4437-a680-681b7cf34a81

2/2

Figure A.5 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.4 - Used with permission from: "Electrophysiologic effects of acute

myocardial ischemia: a theoretical study of altered cell excitability and action potential

duration" by Shaw and Rudy.³⁹

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3846180287499
License date	Apr 11, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Cardiovascular Research
Licensed content title	Late ventricular arrhythmias during acute regional ischemia in the isolated blood perfused pig heart Role of electrical cellular coupling
Licensed content author	Joris R de Groot, Francien J.G Wilms-Schopman, Tobias Opthof, Carol A Remme, Ruben Coronel
Licensed content date	2001-05-01
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	None
Title of your work	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Publisher of your work	n/a
Expected publication date	May 2016
Permissions cost	0.00 USD
Value added tax	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD
T 1.0 IV	

Terms and Conditions

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REPRODUCTION OF MATERIAL FROM AN OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS JOURNAL

1. Use of the material is restricted to the type of use specified in your order details. 2. This permission covers the use of the material in the English language in the following territory: world. If you have requested additional permission to translate this material, the terms and conditions of this reuse will be set out in clause 12.

3. This permission is limited to the particular use authorized in (1) above and does not allow you to sanction its use elsewhere in any other format other than specified above, nor does it apply to quotations, images, artistic works etc that have been reproduced from other sources which may be part of the material to be used.

4. No alteration, omission or addition is made to the material without our written consent.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=126787af-574d-43a5-93c4-e884f61a6b40

Permission must be re-cleared with Oxford University Press if/when you decide to reprint. 5. The following credit line appears wherever the material is used: author, title, journal, year, volume, issue number, pagination, by permission of Oxford University Press or the sponsoring society if the journal is a society journal. Where a journal is being published on behalf of a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line. 6. For the reproduction of a full article from an Oxford University Press journal for whatever purpose, the corresponding author of the material concerned should be informed of the proposed use. Contact details for the corresponding authors of all Oxford University Press journal contact can be found alongside either the abstract or full text of the article concerned, accessible from www.oxfordjournals.org Should there be a problem clearing these rights, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

7. If the credit line or acknowledgement in our publication indicates that any of the figures, images or photos was reproduced, drawn or modified from an earlier source it will be necessary for you to clear this permission with the original publisher as well. If this permission has not been obtained, please note that this material cannot be included in your publication/photocopies.

8. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Oxford University Press or by Copyright Clearance Center (CCC)) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and Oxford University Press reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned or transferred by you to any other person without Oxford University Press's written permission.

10. Oxford University Press reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

11. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Oxford University Press and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employs and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

12. Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.4

5/9/2016

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=126787af-574d-43a5-93c4-e884f61a6b40

2/2

Figure A.6 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.5 - Modified with permission from: "Late ventricular arrhythmias

during acute regional ischemia in the isolated blood perfused pig heart: Role of electrical

cellular coupling" by de Groot et al.⁷³

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	3846120310546
License date	Apr 11, 2016
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Circulation Research
Licensed Content Title	Release of endogenous catecholamines in the ischemic myocardium of the rat. Part A: Locally mediated release.
Licensed Content Author	A Schömig, A M Dart, R Dietz, E Mayer, W Kübler
Licensed Content Date	Nov 1, 1984
Licensed Content Volume Number	55
Licensed Content Issue Number	5
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Portion	Figures/table/illustration
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Figures/tables/illustrations used	Figure 1.
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Expected completion date	May 2016
Estimated size(pages)	100
Requestor Location	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road
	Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=93beb3e2-8824-473f-a051-1024404e00b3

RightsLink Printable License Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister 0.00 CAD

Total

5/9/2016

Terms and Conditions

Terms and conditions Wolters Kluwer Health

- <u>Transfer of License:</u> Wolters Kluwer hereby grants you a non-exclusive license to reproduce this material for this purpose, and for no other use, subject to the conditions herein
- <u>Credit Line:</u> A credit line will be prominently placed, wherever the material is reused and include: the author(s), title of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number and inclusive pages.

Where a journal is being published by a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

- i. <u>for Open access journals</u>: The following statement needs to be added when reprinting the material in Open Access journals only: 'promotional and commercial use of the material in print, digital or mobile device format is prohibited without the permission from the publisher Wolters Kluwer Health. Please contact <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u> for further information
- 3. <u>Exceptions:</u> In case of *Disease Colon Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, The Green Journal, Critical care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Publications, the American Academy of Neurology* the following guideline applies: no drug/ trade name or logo can be included in the same page as the material re-used.
- 4. <u>Translations:</u> When requesting a permission to translate a full text article, Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins request to receive the pdf of the translated document. This disclaimer should be added at all times: Wolters Kluwer Health and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- <u>Warranties</u> The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, or authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer
- Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer and their respective
 officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs,
 proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorised use of the Licensed Material.
- <u>Geographical Scope</u>: Permission granted is valid worldwide in the English language and the languages specified in your original request
- 8. Wolters Kluwer cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork or a "clean copy."
- Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer imprint (Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams &Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg)
- Termination of contract: If you opt not to use the material requested above please notify RightsLink or Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins within 90 days of the original invoice date.
- 11. This permission does not apply to <u>images</u> that are credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer journals. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health journal publications, you will need to obtain permission from the journal referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of image(s) or table(s)
- 12. Third party material: Adaptations are protected by copyright, so if you would like to reuse material that we have adapted from another source, you will need not only our permission, but the permission of the rights holder of the original material. Similarly, if you want to reuse an adaptation of original LWW content that appears in another publishers work, you will need our permission and that of the next publisher. The adaptation should be credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health: Book author, title, year of publication or Journal name, article author, title, reference citation, year of

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=93beb3e2-8824-473f-a051-1024404e00b3

publication.

RightsLink Printable License

- Altering or modifying material: Please note that modification of text within figures or full- text article is strictly forbidden.
- 14. Please note that articles in the <u>ahead-of-print stage</u> of publication can be cited and the content may be re-used by including the date of access and the unique DOI number. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic issue. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the Published Ahead-of-Print section have been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as publish ahead-of-print may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Accordingly, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, the editors and authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.
- 15. Duration of the license:
 - i. Permission is granted for a one-time use only within 12 months from the date of this invoice. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editors, revisions, or other derivative works. Once the 12- month term has expired, permission to renew must be submitted in writing.
 - ii. For content reused in another journal or book, in print or electronic format, the license is one-time use and lasts for the 1st edition of a book or for the life of the edition in case of journals.
 - iii. If your Permission Request is for use on a <u>website (which is not a journal or a book)</u>, <u>internet, intranet, or any publicly accessible site</u>, you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months or else renew your permission request.
- 16. <u>Contingent on payment:</u> While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infingement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.
- 17. <u>Waived permission fee:</u> If the permission fee for the requested use of our material has been waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Wolters Kluwer materials may attract a fee on another occasion. Please always check with the Wolters Kluwer Permissions Team if in doubt <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u>

For Books only:

18. Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works.

Service Description for Content Services

Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:

• <u>Content Rental</u>: You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=93beb3e2-8824-473f-a051-1024404e00b3

RightsLink Printable License

• <u>Content Purchase</u>: You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to create additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials.

The materials may be accessed and used only by the person who placed the Order or the person on whose behalf the order was placed and only in accordance with the terms included in the particular order.

SPECIAL CASES:

1. For STM Signatories only, as agreed as part of the STM Guidelines

Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply also to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts.

Please click here to view the STM guidelines.

Other Terms and Conditions: v1.13

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=93beb3e2-8824-473f-a051-1024404e00b3

4/4

Figure A.7 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.6 A - Used with permission from: "Release of endogenous catecholamines in the ischemic myocardium of the rat. Part A: Locally mediated release" by Schomig *et al.*⁸⁸

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

1/4

This Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

	License Number	3846510961606		
	License date	Apr 12, 2016		
	Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.		
	Licensed Content Publication	Circulation		
	Licensed Content Title	Time Course and Mechanism of Myocardial Catecholamine Release During Transient Ischemia In Vivo		
	Licensed Content Author	Thomas W. Lameris, Sandra de Zeeuw, Gooitzen Alberts, Frans Boomsma, Dirk J. Duncker, Pieter D. Verdouw, Arie J. Man in 't Veld, Anton H. van den Meiracker		
	Licensed Content Date	Jun 6, 2000		
	Licensed Content Volume Number	101		
	Licensed Content Issue Number	22		
	Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis		
	Requestor type	Individual		
	Portion	Figures/table/illustration		
	Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1		
	Figures/tables/illustrations used	Figure 1.		
	Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No		
	Title of your thesis / dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia		
	Expected completion date	May 2016		
	Estimated size(pages)	100		
	Requestor Location	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road		
		Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister		
	Billing Type	Invoice		
	Billing Address	Peter AR Baumeister 6289 Quinpool Road		
htt	https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=b19048e6-f680-4784-b199-43dd7b2c1337			

5/9/2016

Halifax, NS B3L1A4 Canada Attn: Peter AR Baumeister 0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

Terms and conditions Wolters Kluwer Health

- <u>Transfer of License</u>: Wolters Kluwer hereby grants you a non-exclusive license to reproduce this material for this purpose, and for no other use, subject to the conditions herein
- <u>Credit Line:</u> A credit line will be prominently placed, wherever the material is reused and include: the author(s), title of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number and inclusive pages.

 Where a journal is being published by a learned society, the details of that society

 must be included in the credit line.

 i. for Open access journals:

The following statement needs to be added when

- i. <u>for Open access journals</u>: The following statement needs to be added when reprinting the material in Open Access journals only: 'promotional and commercial use of the material in print, digital or mobile device format is prohibited without the permission from the publisher Wolters Kluwer Health. Please contact healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com for further information
- Exceptions: In case of Disease Colon Rectum, Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, The Green Journal, Critical care Medicine, Pediatric Critical Care Medicine, the American Heart Publications, the American Academy of Neurology the following guideline applies: no drug/ trade name or logo can be included in the same page as the material re-used.
- 4. <u>Translations</u>: When requesting a permission to translate a full text article, Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins request to receive the pdf of the translated document. This disclaimer should be added at all times: Wolters Kluwer Health and its Societies take no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and are not liable for any errors which may occur.
- <u>Warranties</u> The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, or authors of the material, or to Wolters Kluwer
- Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and hold harmless Wolters Kluwer and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims, costs, proceeding or demands arising out of your unauthorised use of the Licensed Material.
- <u>Geographical Scope</u>: Permission granted is valid worldwide in the English language and the languages specified in your original request
- Wolters Kluwer cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork or a "clean copy."
 Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a Wolters Kluwer imprint
- (Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams & Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Rapid Science, Little Brown & Company, Harper & Row Medical, American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg)
- <u>Termination of contract</u>: If you opt not to use the material requested above please notify RightsLink or Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins within 90 days of the original invoice date.
- 11. This permission does not apply to **images** that are credited to publications other than Wolters Kluwer journals. For images credited to non-Wolters Kluwer Health journal publications, you will need to obtain permission from the journal referenced in the figure or table legend or credit line before making any use of image(s) or table(s)
- 12. <u>Third party material:</u> Adaptations are protected by copyright, so if you would like to reuse material that we have adapted from another source, you will need not only our permission, but the permission of the rights holder of the original material. Similarly, if you want to reuse an adaptation of original LWW content that appears in another publishers work, you will need our permission and that of the next publisher. The adaptation should be

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=b19048e6-f680-4784-b199-43dd7b2c1337

2/4

5/9/2016

Tota
credited as follows: Adapted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health: Book author, title, year of publication or Journal name, article author, title, reference citation, year of publication.

- 13. <u>Altering or modifying material:</u> Please note that modification of text within figures or full- text article is strictly forbidden.
- 14. Please note that articles in the <u>ahead-of-print stage</u> of publication can be cited and the content may be re-used by including the date of access and the unique DOI number. Any final changes in manuscripts will be made at the time of print publication and will be reflected in the final electronic issue. Disclaimer: Articles appearing in the Published Ahead-of-Print section have been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication in the relevant journal and posted online before print publication. Articles appearing as publish ahead-of-print may contain statements, opinions, and information that have errors in facts, figures, or interpretation. Accordingly, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, the editors and authors and their respective employees are not responsible or liable for the use of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or information contained in the articles in this section.
- 15. Duration of the license:
 - i. Permission is granted for a one-time use only within 12 months from the date of this invoice. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editors, revisions, or other derivative works. Once the 12- month term has expired, permission to renew must be submitted in writing.
 - ii. For content reused in another journal or book, in print or electronic format, the license is one-time use and lasts for the 1st edition of a book or for the life of the edition in case of journals.
 - iii. If your Permission Request is for use on a <u>website (which is not a journal or a book)</u>, <u>internet, intranet, or any publicly accessible site</u>, you agree to remove the material from such site after 12 months or else renew your permission request.
- 16. <u>Contingent on payment:</u> While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Just of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.
- 17. <u>Waived permission fee:</u> If the permission fee for the requested use of our material has been waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Wolters Kluwer materials may attract a fee on another occasion. Please always check with the Wolters Kluwer Permissions Team if in doubt <u>healthpermissions@wolterskluwer.com</u>

For Books only:

18. Permission is granted for a one time use only. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works.

Service Description for Content Services

Subject to these terms of use, any terms set forth on the particular order, and payment of the applicable fee, you may make the following uses of the ordered materials:

• <u>Content Rental</u>: You may access and view a single electronic copy of the materials ordered for the time period designated at the time the order is placed. Access to the materials will be provided through a dedicated content viewer or other portal, and access will be discontinued upon expiration of the designated time period. An order for Content Rental does not include any rights to print, download, save, create additional copies, to distribute or to reuse in any way the full text or parts of the materials.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=b19048e6-f680-4784-b199-43dd7b2c1337

5/9/2016

• <u>Content Purchase</u>: You may access and download a single electronic copy of the materials ordered. Copies will be provided by email or by such other means as publisher may make available from time to time. An order for Content Purchase does not include any rights to ereate additional copies or to distribute copies of the materials.

The materials may be accessed and used only by the person who placed the Order or the person on whose behalf the order was placed and only in accordance with the terms included in the particular order.

SPECIAL CASES:

1. For STM Signatories only, as agreed as part of the STM Guidelines

Any permission granted for a particular edition will apply also to subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted illustrations or excerpts.

Please click here to view the STM guidelines.

Other Terms and Conditions: v1.13

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=b19048e6-f680-4784-b199-43dd7b2c1337

4/4

Figure A.8 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.6 B - Used with permission from: "Time Course and Mechanism of Myocardial Catecholamine Release During Transient Ischemia In Vivo" by Lameris *et al.*⁹¹

5/9/2016

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 09, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Peter AR Baumeister ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Peter AR Baumeister
Customer address	6289 Quinpool Road
	Halifax, NS B3L1A4
License number	3846100574236
License date	Apr 11, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Journal of the American College of Cardiology
Licensed content title	Origin of ischemia-induced phase 1b ventricular arrhythmias in pig hearts
Licensed content author	Ruben Coronel, Francien J.G Wilms-Schopman, Joris R deGroot
Licensed content date	2 January 2002
Licensed content volume number	39
Licensed content issue number	1
Number of pages	11
Start Page	166
End Page	176
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	2
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this	No

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=c5d25e25-06e5-418d-bb29-d3b18c2e228a

5/9/2016	RightsLink Printable License
Elsevier article?	
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 1. and Figure 4.
Title of your thesis/dissertation	The Role of Altered Ca2+-Handling in Mechanically-Induced Arrhythmias during Acute Regional Ischemia
Expected completion date	May 2016
Estimated size (number of pages)	100
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 CAD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 CAD / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com). GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.
7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=c5d25e25-06e5-418d-bb29-d3b18c2e228a

5/9/2016

RightsLink Printable License

transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
 No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
 Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types: 15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=c5d25e25-06e5-418d-bb29-d3b18c2e228a

5/9/2016

http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peerreviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage. **Accepted Author Manuscripts:** An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes authorincorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- after the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=c5d25e25-06e5-418d-bb29-d3b18c2e228a

5/9/2016

appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

Subscription Articles: If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes. <u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository. 19. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our open access license policy for more information. **Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:** Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated. The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

5/9/2016

RightsLink Printable License

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license: CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0</u>.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0. CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bv-nc-nd/4.0. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.8

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=c5d25e25-06e5-418d-bb29-d3b18c2e228a

6/6

Figure A.9 Copyright Permissions

Seen in Figure 1.7 - Used with permission from "Origin of Ischemia-Induced Phase 1B

Ventricular Arrhythmias in Pig Hearts" by Coronel et al.¹²